




        MINUTES 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL 

CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 
Pat Bryson Municipal Hall 

201 North Brushy Street ~ Leander, Texas 

Thursday ~ July 7, 2016 at 7:00 PM 

1. Open meeting, Invocation, Pledges of Allegiance
Mayor Fielder opened the meeting at 7:00 pm and welcomed those in attendance
Council Member Shepherd delivered the invocation
Ethan Grinstead with Cedar Park Boy Scout Troop 158 led the Pledges of Allegiance

2. Roll Call
All present except Council Member Navarrette

3. Staff Comments
No staff comments

4. Citizen Comments:  Three (3) minutes allowed per speaker
  Please turn in speaker request form before the meeting begins 
  No citizen comments 

5. Approval of the minutes:  June 16, 2016

6. Dedication and Acceptance of Subdivision Infrastructure Improvements for Borho Phase 8

7. Dedication and Acceptance of Circle Diamond – Offsite Waterline Extension

8. Dedication and Acceptance of Subdivision Infrastructure Improvements for Mason Ranch, Phase 2
Section 2B
Motion made by Council Member Shepherd to approve the consent agenda   Second by Council
Member Stephenson.  Motion passes, all voting “aye”

  Mayor Fielder announced that item #9 has been postponed by the applicant 

9. Public Hearing on Zoning Case 15-TOD-Z-030 and Subdivision Case 15-TOD-CP-009: Consider
rezoning and approval of the Tylerville Commercial Concept Plan and PUD Zoning of 11.221 acres,
more or less, for a tract of land generally located to the southwest of the intersection of San Gabriel
Parkway & US Hwy 183 from PUD, Planned Unit Development to an amended PUD to include the
base zoning districts of GC-3-A, General Commercial, GC-2-A, General Commercial and LC-2-A,
Local Commercial, Leander, Williamson County, Texas
Applicant/Agent: Bill Pohl on behalf of Waterstone Tylerville, LP

           Mayor   – Christopher Fielder   Place 4 – Ron Abruzzese (Mayor Pro Tem) 
  Place 1 – Andrea Navarrette        Place 5 – Jeff Seiler 
  Place 2 – Michelle Stephenson  Place 6 – Troy Hill  
  Place 3 – Shanan Shepherd  City Manager – Kent Cagle 

CONSENT AGENDA: ACTION 

PUBLIC HEARING: ACTION 



 
 
 

 
           Action on Zoning Case 15-TOD-Z-030 and Subdivision Case 15-TOD-CP-009: Rezoning and 

approval of the Tylerville Commercial Concept Plan and PUD Zoning of 11.221 acres, more or less, 
for a tract of land generally located to the southwest of the intersection of San Gabriel Parkway & US 
Hwy 183 from PUD, Planned Unit Development to an amended PUD to include the base zoning 
districts of GC-3-A, General Commercial, GC-2-A, General Commercial and LC-2-A, Local 
Commercial, Leander, Williamson County, Texas  

 
10. Public Hearing on Ordinance Case 16-OR-001: Consider amending sections of the Composite 

Zoning Ordinance, to add definitions, update the use components, to modify setbacks for commercial 
fueling, to update requirements for screening, to update the parking requirements table, to modify 
residential setbacks, to clarify requirements for drainage and detention facilities, to modify outdoor 
lighting requirements, to update the architectural standards, to update the site development standards 

        Tom Yantis, Asst. City Manager explained 
 
        Geoffrey Tahuahua  8140 Exchange Drive, Austin – spoke against retention and drainage 
        amendment  & stucco amendment 
        Nancy Shader 2607 Salemo Pl., Austin –spoke against the stucco amendment 
        Brandon Cooper  3821 Venezia View, Leander – spoke against the stucco amendment 
        Paul Couduro 8620 Burnet Road, Austin – spoke against the retention and drainage  
        amendment 
        Gerry Poe 10800 Pecan Park Blvd., Austin – spoke against the stucco amendment and 
        retention and drainage amendment 
         
        Action on Ordinance Case 16-OR-001: amending sections of the Composite Zoning Ordinance, 
        to add definitions, update the use components, to modify setbacks for commercial fueling, to update  
        requirements for screening, to update the parking requirements table, to modify residential setbacks, to 
        clarify requirements for drainage and detention facilities, to modify outdoor lighting requirements, to update  
        the architectural standards, to update the site development standards 
 
         The section on stucco on the exterior walls has been tabled to a future meeting 
 
         Motion made by Council Member Seiler to approve with P & Z recommendations and with the  
         recommendation from the HBA for the verbiage on stamped concrete and to table the section on  
         stucco on the exterior walls until a future meeting and to remove stucco from Section 14.  Second  
         by Council Member Stephenson. Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 
11.   Public Hearing on Ordinance Case 16-OR-002: consider amending sections of the Subdivision 
        Ordinance, to add definitions, to modify provisions for the protection of riparian corridors, to modify   
        requirements associated with construction plans; to update tree preservation plan requirements, to  
        modify private street standards, and to clarify the park land dedication requirements 
        Tom Yantis, Asst. City Manager explained   
 
         No speakers 
 
        Action on Ordinance Case 16-OR-002: amending sections of the Subdivision Ordinance, to add definitions, 
        to modify provisions for the protection of riparian corridors, to modify requirements associated with  
        construction plans; to update tree preservation plan requirements, to modify private street standards, and  
        to clarify the park land dedication requirements 
 
        Motion made by Council Member Seiler to approve.  Second by Council Member Shepherd. 
        Motion passes, 5 to 1 with Council Member Hill voting against 
 
 
 
 

 



 
   

 
   12.  Consider an Ordinance regarding Donation Drop Boxes 
           Bill Gardner, Fire Chief explained 
 

        Motion made by Council Member Seiler to approve.  Second by Council Member Stephenson. 
        Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

 
   13.  Consider Task Order WAL-1 with Walker Partners Engineering, Inc. for Design, Bidding, and 

Construction Phase Professional Services for Raider Way and E. Woodview Drive 
           Wayne Watts, City Engineer explained 
 

        Motion made by Council Member Shepherd to approve.  Second by Council Member Seiler. 
        Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

 
   14.  Consider amendment to Task Order HWL-1 with H. W. Lochner, Inc. for professional services for 

Bagdad Road North Improvements 
           Wayne Watts, City Engineer explained 
 

        Motion made by Council Member Seiler to approve.  Second by Council Member Stephenson. 
        Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

 
   15.  Consider a variance to allow for construction activities outside of the normal hours of 7am and 9pm 

for Suddenlink Communications on the Old 2243 Project 
           Wayne Watts, City Engineer explained 
 

        Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Abruzzese to approve.  Second by Council Member Hill. 
        Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

 
16.  Consider approval of an amendment to the Sales Tax Rebate Agreement for the Gateway Shopping 

Center between the City of Leander and Hayden Asset I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
        Tom Yantis, Asst. City Manager explained 
 
         Motion made by Mayor Fielder to approve.  Second by Council Member Shepherd. 
         Motion passes, 5 to 1 with Council Member Hill voting against. 
 
17.  Consider Acceptance of a Community Development Block Grant for the construction of a sidewalk on 

the east side of Bagdad Road 
        Tom Yantis, Asst. City Manager explained 
 
        Motion made by Council Member Shepherd to deny.  Second by Council Member Stephenson. 
        Motion passes, all voting “aye” to deny. 
 
18.  Consider Development Agreement Case 15-DA-006: Consider approval of a development agreement 

between the City of Leander, Sixth Street Capital, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, and Devine 
Land Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company for 208 acres more or less, generally 
located at southwest of the intersection of Bagdad Road and the future extension San Gabriel 
Parkway; City of Leander, Williamson County, Texas 

             Tom Yantis, Asst. City Manager explained 
 

       Motion made by Council Member Shepherd to approve.  Second by Council Member Stephenson. 
        Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

 
     19.  Council Member Closing Statements 
            Council Members gave their closing statements 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 

 



 
 
 

 
     20.  Convene into executive session pursuant to Section 551.072 Texas Government Code, related to proposed  
            settlement of eminent domain litigation regarding the purchase and/or value of real property. to wit: a 5.217  
            acre tract owned by Gary and Cathy Gross 
 
            Council convened into executive session at 8:24 pm 
            Council reconvened into open session at 8:32 pm 
 
 

      21.  Reconvene into open session to take action as deemed appropriate in the City Council’s discretion related to 
             proposed settlement of eminent domain litigation regarding the purchase and/or value of real property, to wit:  
             a 5.217 acre tract owned by Gary and Cathy Gross 
 
             No action taken 
 
      22.  Consider a resolution authorizing the City Manager to release funds totaling $840,380 to effectuate final  
             settlement of pending eminent domain litigation to acquire a 5.217 acre tract owned by Gary and Cathy Gross  
             (“Gross”) and also to execute a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions concerning the 5.217  
             acre tract for a deep water intake maintenance site, on terms subject to review and approval by the City  
             Attorney and Special Counsel 
 

      Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Abruzzese to approve.  Second by Council Member Seiler. 
      Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

 
     23.  Adjournment  
            With there being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 8:34 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
     Attest: 
 
 
           __________________________________                      ____________________________________ 
           Christopher Fielder, Mayor                Debbie Haile, TRMC, City Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 



AGENDA ITEM # 6 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Agenda Subject: License Agreement Case 16-LA-007:  Discussion and possible 
action to approve a license agreement between the City of Leander 
and K. L. Enterprises, Inc, a California corporation for 13.718 
acres more or less, generally located to the west of the intersection 
of Bagdad Road and Marsala Circle; City of Leander, Williamson 
County, Texas.  

Background: The License Agreement includes the following key provisions: 
 the installation of an irrigation system;
 the installation of three appropriately sized utility sleeves for the

utility crossing needed for water, wastewater, and control wiring;
and

 the repair, maintenance and replacement of the irrigation system,
and private utility systems within the right-of-way of Marsala
Circle

Origination: Applicant:  CSF Civil Group on behalf of Emmet J Hawkes and 
K.L. Enterprises, Inc 

Financial  
Consideration: None. 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the license agreement. 

Attachments: 1. License Agreement & Exhibits
2. Location Map

Prepared By:  Tom Yantis, AICP  
Assistant City Manager 07/11//2016 



LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 
 
The City of Leander, Texas a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Texas 
situated in Williamson  County, Texas (“the City” or “Licensor”), and the K.L. Enterprises, Inc., a 
California Corporation (“Licensee”) enter into this License Agreement (“Agreement”) on this 
the___ day of  _______    , 2016,  upon the terms and conditions set forth below. 
 
I. PURPOSE OF LICENSE AGREEMENT.  The City grants to Licensee permission to use 

the licensed property for the following purposes only:  
(1) the installation of an irrigation system; (2) the installation of three 
appropriately sized utility sleeves for the utility crossing needed for water, 
wastewater, and control wiring; and (3) the repair, maintenance and replacement 
of the irrigation system, and private utility systems within the right-of-way of 
Marsala Circle shown in Exhibit “A”; hereinafter referred to as the 
“Improvements”.  The locations of the rights-of-way containing the 
Improvements are more particularly shown in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein for all purposes. 

 
The above-described properties, hereinafter referred to as the “licensed property”, are further shown 
in Exhibit “A” attached to this Agreement and incorporated by reference for all purposes. 
 
The City makes this grant solely to the extent of its right, title and interest in the licensed property, 
without any express or implied warranties. 
 
Licensee agrees that: (A) the construction of the Improvements permitted by this Agreement shall 
be done in compliance with all applicable City, County, State and/or Federal laws, ordinances, 
regulations and policies now existing or later adopted; (B) that all construction and installation of 
the Improvements will be completed in a timely manner without delay; (C) the Licensee will 
construct the Improvements according to plans filed with the City.  Any changes in construction 
plans must be approved by the City; and (D) any Improvements located in the City’s right-of-way 
shall be subject to City approval prior to placement and installation.  Any provision herein to the 
contrary notwithstanding, Licensee shall be liable for, and shall indemnify and hold the City 
harmless from all damages, causes of action, and claims arising out of or in connection with 
Licensee's installation, operation, maintenance or removal of the improvements permitted under this 
Agreement. 
 
II.  FEE.  No annual fee shall be due in connection with this Agreement. 
 
III.  THE CITY'S RIGHTS TO LICENSED PROPERTY.  This Agreement is expressly subject 
and subordinate to the present and future right of the City, its successors, assigns, lessees, grantees, 
and Licensees, to construct, install, establish, maintain, use, operate, and renew any public utilities 
facilities, franchised public utilities, rights-of-way, roadways, or streets on, beneath, or above the 
surface of the licensed property. 
 
Said uses of the licensed property by the City are permitted even though such use may substantially 



interfere with or destroy Licensee's use of the licensed property, or the Improvements.  In case of a 
declared emergency, damage to or destruction of Licensee's property shall be at no charge, cost, 
claim, or liability to the City, its agents, contractors, officers, or employees. 
 
Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement to the contrary, the City retains the right to enter 
upon the licensed property, at any time without notice, assuming no obligation to Licensee, to 
remove any of the licensed Improvements or alterations thereof whenever such removal is deemed 
necessary for: (a) exercising the City's rights or duties with respect to the licensed property; (b) 
protecting persons or property; or (c) the public health or safety with respect to the licensed 
property. 
 
IV. INSURANCE.  Licensee shall, at its sole expense, provide a commercial general liability 
insurance policy, written by a company acceptable to the City and licensed to do business in Texas, 
with a combined single limit of not less than $600,000.00, which coverage may be provided in the 
form of a rider and/or endorsement to a previously existing insurance policy.  Such insurance 
coverage shall include the City as an additional-insured.  This insurance coverage shall cover all 
perils arising from the activities of Licensee, its officers, employees, agents, or contractors, relative 
to this Agreement, or otherwise within the public right-of-way and property within the licensed 
property.  Licensee shall be responsible for any deductibles stated in the policy.  A certificate of 
insurance evidencing such coverage shall be delivered to the City Secretary of the City within thirty 
(30) days of the effective date of this Agreement. 
 
Licensee shall not cause any insurance to be canceled nor permit any insurance to lapse.  All 
insurance certificates shall include a clause to the effect that the policy shall not be canceled, 
reduced, restricted or otherwise limited until forty-five (45) days after the City has received written 
notice as evidenced by a return receipt of registered or certified mail. 
 
V.  INDEMNIFICATION.  Licensee shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City and its 
officers, agents and employees against all claims, suits, demands, judgments, expenses, including 
attorney's fees, or other liability for personal injury, death, or damage to any person or property 
which arises from or is in any manner caused by the Licensee's construction or maintenance of the 
Improvements or use of the licensed property.  This indemnification provision, however shall not 
apply to any claims, suits, damage, costs, losses, or expenses arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts of the City; provided that for the purposes of the foregoing, the City's act of entering into 
this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a “negligent or willful act.” 
 
VI. CONDITIONS. 
 
A. Licensee's Responsibilities.  Licensee will be responsible for any damage to or repair of the 
Improvements.  Further, Licensee shall reimburse the City for all costs of replacing or repairing any 
property of the City or of others which was damaged or destroyed as a result of activities under this 
Agreement by, or on behalf of, Licensee. 
 
B. Maintenance.  Licensee shall maintain the licensed property and the Improvements in good 
condition and making any necessary repairs to the Improvements at its expense.   
 



C. Modification of Improvements. Licensee agrees that modification of the Improvements shall 
be at Licensee's expense.  Licensee shall obtain the proper permits prior to any modification of the 
Improvements.  Any such modification shall be at Licensee's sole discretion, except where 
otherwise provided by this Agreement.  This Agreement, until its expiration or revocation, shall run 
as a covenant with the land, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the 
grantees, successors and assigns of Licensee.  Licensee shall cause any immediate successors-in-
interest to have actual notice of this Agreement. 
 
D. Default.  In the event that Licensee fails to maintain the licensed property or otherwise 
comply with the terms or conditions as set forth herein, then the City shall give Licensee written 
notice thereof, by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the address set forth 
below.  Licensee shall have thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice to take action to 
remedy the failure complained of, and, if Licensee does not satisfactorily remedy the same within 
the thirty (30) day period, the City may terminate this Agreement. 
 
Licensee Address      Licensor Address 
 
K. L. Enterprises, Inc.      City of Leander 
Attn: Ken Liem, President     Attention:  City Manager 
26741 Portola Pkwy, IE-696     P.O. Box 319 
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610     Leander, Texas 78641 
        
VII. COMMENCEMENT AND TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall begin with the 
effective date and continue thereafter for so long as Licensee is constructing or maintaining the 
Improvements as set forth herein.  If Licensee abandons construction or maintenance of all or any 
part of the Improvements or licensed property as set forth in this Agreement, then this Agreement, 
shall expire and terminate following thirty (30) days written notice to the Licensee if such 
abandonment has not been remedied by the Licensee within such period.  The City shall thereafter 
have the same complete title to the licensed property so abandoned as though this Agreement had 
never been made and shall have the right to enter the licensed property and terminate the rights of 
Licensee, its successors and assigns hereunder.  All installations of Licensee not removed shall be 
deemed property of the City as of the time abandoned.  
 
VIII.   TERMINATION. 
 
A. Termination by Licensee.  This Agreement may be terminated by Licensee by delivering 
written notice of termination to the City not later than thirty (30) days before the effective date of 
termination.  If Licensee so terminates, then it shall remove all installations, other than the 
Improvements, that it made from the licensed property within the thirty day notice period at its sole 
cost and expense.  Failure to do so shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. 
 
B. Termination by City.  Subject to prior written notification to Licensee or its successor-in-
interest, this Agreement is revocable by the City if: 
 
 1. The licensed Improvements, or a portion of them, interfere with the City's right-of-

way; 



 
 2. Use of the right-of-way area becomes necessary for a public purpose; 
 
 3. The licensed Improvements, or a portion of them, constitute a danger to the public 

which the City deems not to be remediable by alteration or maintenance of such 
Improvements; 

 
 4. Despite thirty (30) days written notice to Licensee, maintenance or alteration 

necessary to alleviate a danger to the public has not been made; or 
 
 5. Licensee fails to comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement including, 

but not limited to any insurance or license fee requirements specified herein. 
 
IX. EMINENT DOMAIN.  If eminent domain is exerted on the licensed property by 
paramount authority, then the City will, to the extent permitted by law, cooperate with Licensee to 
effect the removal of Licensee's affected installations and Improvements thereon, at Licensee's sole 
expense.  Licensee shall be entitled to retain all monies paid by the condemning authority to 
Licensee for Licensee's installations taken, if any. 
 
X. INTERPRETATION.  Although drawn by the City, this Agreement shall, in the event of 
any dispute over its meaning or application, be interpreted fairly and reasonably, and neither more 
strongly for or against either party. 
 
XI. APPLICATION OF LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Texas.  If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates any part of this 
Agreement, then the remaining parts shall be enforced, to the extent possible, consistent with the 
intent of the parties as evidenced by this Agreement. 
 
XII. VENUE.  Venue for all lawsuits concerning this Agreement will be in the Williamson 
County, Texas. 
 
XIII.  COVENANT RUNNING WITH LAND; WAIVER OF DEFAULT.  This Agreement 
and all of the covenants herein shall run with the land; therefore, the conditions set forth herein shall 
inure to and bind each party's successors and assigns.  Either party may waive any default of the 
other at any time, without affecting or impairing any right arising from any subsequent or other 
default. 
 
XIV. ASSIGNMENT.  Licensee shall not assign, sublet or transfer its interest in this  
Agreement without the written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  Subject to the assignee's compliance with the insurance requirements set forth 
herein, if any, Licensee shall furnish to the City a copy of any such assignment or transfer of 
any of Licensee's rights in this Agreement, including the name, address, and contact person of 
the assignee, along with the date of assignment or transfer. 
 
 
ACCEPTED, this the ____ day of _____, 2016. 



 
    
   LICENSOR: CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 
 
  
 By:   
 Name: Kent Cagle  
 Title:   City Manager 
    

LICENSEE: K.L. Enterprises, Inc. 
        
   
 By:  
 Name: Ken Liem 
 Title: President 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON § 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on this the _____ day of __________, 2016, by Kent 
Cagle, City Manager for the City of Leander, Texas, on behalf of the City. 
 
  
      
 Notary Public - State of Texas 
 
 
  



A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the 
individual who signed the document to which 
this certificate is attached, and not the 
truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that 
document. 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA                                    ) 
COUNTY OF ) 

 
 

On ______________________________before me, _____________________________ 
                                                                                  (insert name and title of the officer) 
personally appeared Ken Liem _____________________________________________, 
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose 
name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that 
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by 
his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of 
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that 
the foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

 
 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
 
Signature   (Seal)  
 

 
 

 





NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

BAGDAD
CEMETERY

BAGDADMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWSSEC 4

BLEDSOE
PARK

VISTA RIDGE,PH 1
VISTA RIDGE,PH 4 VILLAS ATVISTA RIDGE

VISTARIDGE,PH 2A

4D
3C

5C

3A

2A
2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A2A
2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

W SOUTH ST

S BAGDAD RD

VISTA RIDGE DR

ENCINO DR

N BAGDAD RD

LEE DR

BE
LL

O 
DR

NOGALES LN

TERRACE DR

MARSALA CIR

MUNICIPAL DR

AMARONE DR

GR
EE

NE
R 

DR

PINOT NOIR ST

GAVIOTA LN

SENDERO LN

BONITA CT

SA
NG

IO
VE

SE
 S

T

MA
ND

AN
A 

ST

SHAMITAS CT

CE
RE

ZO
 D

R

PEREGRINE WAY

CERRITO CV

CANDLELIGHT DR

CINDY LN

LOMA CEDRO BND

RA
NC

HO
 V

ER
DE

 D
R

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

± 0 200

Feet

16-LA-007
License Agreement

Attachment #2
Location Exhibit
Carneros Village

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits



AGENDA ITEM # 7 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Council Agenda Subject:  Consider Dedication and Acceptance of Subdivision 
Infrastructure Improvements for Stewart Crossing, Section 1  

Background:  The subdivision infrastructure improvements required for Stewart Crossing, 
Section 1 have been installed, inspected, and found to be satisfactorily completed.  All 
documentation required for acceptance of the subdivision has been received, including record 
drawings, statement of substantial completion prepared by a Professional Engineer licensed 
in the State of Texas, copies of all inspection reports and certified test results, electronic files 
of the improvements and final plat, affidavit of all bills paid, and a two-year term 
Maintenance Bond. The Maintenance Bond will commence its two year term upon City 
Council acceptance, as anticipated, on July 21, 2016, which will provide warranty and 
maintenance coverage for the infrastructure improvements through July 21, 2018.  The 
Engineering Department will perform a formal inspection of the improvements 
approximately 30 days prior to the expiration of the Maintenance Bond to assure that any 
defects in materials, workmanship, or maintenance are corrected prior to expiration of the 
bond. 

Origination:   Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 

Financial Consideration: N/A 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends City Council’s formal acceptance of the subdivision 
infrastructure improvements for Stewart Crossing, Section 1. 

Attachments:  Location Map, Engineer’s Concurrence Letter, ADA Inspection, Maintenance 
Bond, and Affidavits of All Bills Paid 

Prepared by:  Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 































AGENDA ITEM # 8 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Agenda Subject: Zoning Case 16-Z-006:  Consider action on the rezoning of 50.615 
acres more or less out of the C. Ybarbo Survey, No. 420 and the 
C.C. Chafin Survey No. 78, generally located to the west of the 
intersection of Crystal Falls Pkwy and Lakeline Blvd, more 
specifically to the west of the Fairways at Crystal Falls, Section 5 
Subdivision; TCAD ID 796313. Currently, the property is zoned 
SFS-2-B (Single-Family Suburban).  The applicant is proposing to 
zone the property to PUD (Planned Unit Development) with a base 
zoning district of MF-2-A (Multi-Family), Leander, Travis County, 
Texas. 

Background: This request is the second step in the rezoning process.  

Origination: Applicant: Mike Siefert on behalf of Lookout Partners, LP. 

Financial  
Consideration: None 

Recommendation: See Planning Analysis. The Planning & Zoning Commission 
unanimously recommended to deny the request at the June 9, 2016 
meeting.  The Commission requested that the applicant works with 
staff to address the following issues.  The applicant wishes to delay 
the second reading of the ordinance for 90 days. 
1. Prohibit lighting from the interior of the project
2. Increase the minimum building size to 1,800 square feet
3. Propose an alternative to the masonry wall along Crystal

Falls Pkwy such as berms, landscaping, and wrought iron.

Attachments: 1. Planning Analysis
2. Current Zoning Map
3. Future Land Use Map
4. Notification Map
5. Proposed Zoning Map
6. Aerial Map
7. PUD Notes and Conceptual Site Layout & Land Use Plan



 8.   Letter of Intent 
 9. Approved Preliminary Plat 
 10. Proposed Changes from Applicant 
 11.    Ordinance  
 12. Minutes-Planning & Zoning Commission June 09, 2016  
 
Prepared By:   Tom Yantis, AICP 
 Assistant City Manager 07/11/2016 



Attachment # 1                 

 
P L A N N I N G A N A L Y S I S  

 
ZONING CASE 16-Z-006 

 
FAIRWAYS, SECTION 6 PUD 

 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Owner: Lookout Partners, LP. 
 
Current Zoning: SFS-2-B (Single-Family Suburban)  
  
Proposed Zoning: PUD (Planned Unit Development) with a base zoning district of MF-2-A 

(Multi-Family)   
  
Size and Location: The property is generally located to the west of the intersection of Crystal 

Falls Pkwy and Lakeline Blvd, more specifically to the west of the 
Fairways at Crystal Falls, Section 5 Subdivision and is approximately 
50.615 acres in size. 

 
Staff Contact:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP   
 Senior Planner      
   
ABUTTING ZONING AND LAND USE: 
 
The table below lists the abutting zoning and land uses. 
 

 ZONING LAND USE 

NORTH SFR-2-B Established Single-Family Neighborhood (Grand Mesa) 

EAST SFR-2-B 
SFS-2-B 

Golf Course 
Established Single-Family Neighborhood (Fairways) 

SOUTH SFR-2-B Golf Course 

WEST SFR-2-B Established Single-Family Neighborhood (Grand Mesa) 
        

  

1 
 



Attachment # 1                 

COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE INTENT STATEMENTS 
 

USE COMPONENTS:   
PUD – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT: 

The purpose and intent of the Planned Unit Development (PUD) district is to design unified 
standards for development in order to facilitate flexible, customized zoning and subdivision 
standards which encourage imaginative and innovative designs for the development of 
property within the City.  The intent of this zoning request is to provide for the design of a 
development which permits condo regime single-family development.  The intent of this 
zoning district is to cohesively regulate the development to assure compatibility with 
adjacent single-family residences, neighborhoods, and commercial properties within the 
region. 

  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN STATEMENTS: 
 

The following Comprehensive Plan statements may be relevant to this case: 
 Create strong neighborhoods with a variety of housing choices. 
 Encourage a range of housing types at a variety of price points. 
 The Neighborhood Residential land use category is intended to accommodate a variety of 

housing types. The density and mix of housing types is dependent on a number of 
suitability factors including environmental constraints (such as steep topography and 
floodplain), the availability of sewer infrastructure, proximity to neighborhood and 
community centers, existing and planned parks and recreation sites, schools, and the road 
network. 
 

 
 

ANALYSIS: 
 

The applicant is requesting the PUD (Planned Unit Development) district in order to allow for 
the development of a condominium regime single-family project.  The surrounding properties 
include established single-family neighborhoods and the Crystal Falls golf course.   
 
A PUD district can be an appropriate district in this situation because it offers the applicant the 
opportunity to design a zoning district that will provide for a condominium regime single-family 
project while limiting the overall density and providing higher design standards.     
 
The applicant is proposing the MF-2-B (Multi-Family) base zoning district to accommodate the 
proposed development.  The proposal includes a total of 98 detached single-family units.  The 
current zoning district would permit single-family lots with a minimum lot width of 70 feet for 
interior lots and 80 feet for corner lots.  There is an approved preliminary plat on file with the 
City that includes 98 lots for this project.  The change in zoning would not increase the density 
of the units at this location.   
 
  

2 
 



Attachment # 1                 

This application includes the following higher standards and waivers. 
 

HIGHER STANDARDS WAIVERS 
COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE 
85% Masonry for all structures - 
High Quality Roofing Materials - 
Density Limitation Condominium/Cluster Style Development 

 
The current concept plan includes a variance to the sidewalk and street lighting requirements.  If 
they developed under the current zoning district, these items would not be required. 
 
This property is located in the Neighborhood Residential land use category as identified in the 
Comprehensive Plan. The Neighborhood Residential category seeks to accommodate a variety of 
housing types based on several suitability factors including availability and future availability of 
water and wastewater infrastructure, topography, floodplain, the proximity of the property to 
Neighborhood and Community Centers, and existing or planned parks and schools.  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the proposed Fairways, Section 6 PUD as requested.  This change 
in zoning will allow for more flexibility in the location of the homes and aid in the preservation 
of the trees on the property.  The density of the project will remain the same and the architectural 
component will increase from Type B to Type A. 

  
The requested zoning district meets the intent statements of the Composite Zoning Ordinance 
and the goals of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 

3 
 



! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! !

! !

! !

! !

! !! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! !

! !

! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !
! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! !

! !

! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !
! !

! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !
! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! !

! !
! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

MASON CREEK.SEC 2

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 5

BLUFFS
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 1

CRYSTAL FALLS
GOLF COURSE

HIGHLANDS
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 2

HIGHLANDS
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 1

FAIRWAYS
AT CRYSTAL FALLSSEC 1

WHITESTONE
ESCAPROCK AT CRYSTALFALLS, SEC 1

WINKLEY
ES

BOULDERS AT
CRYSTAL FALLS,PH V

FAIRWAYS
AT CRYSTAL FALLSSEC 2

BLUFFS
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 1

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 2

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 4

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 3

MASON RANCH, PH 1

MASON RANCH, PH 2

PALOS VERDES

CRYSTAL FALLS PKWY

DRVW

MIRA VISTA

FIR
ST VIEW

AM
BU

SH
 CA

NY
ON

SPYGLA
SS HILL

LONG BOW DR

PASA TIEMPO

LEGEND TRL

LA
JIT

AS

GOOD NIGHT TRL

POW WOW

N LAKELINE BLVD

TIMARRON

LA CANTERA

MIRADOR

QUICK FORT

BUFFALO THUNDER

PAWNEE

ARROYO GRANDE

VENTANA CANYON

CA
ME

LB
AC

K

PEORIA DR

LEGEND HILL DR

LA
 COSTA

HOMECOMING

RUSTY SPUR

HIGH LONESOME

RANCHO MIRAGE
LEADERS LN

BUFFALO SPEEDWAY
YUMA TRL

BIG HORN

WOLF DANCER

BURR PKWY

NAKOTA CT

CITRINE CV

SIGNATURE LN

JACKPOT RUN

WINNERS CT

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

±
0 200

Feet

ZONING CASE 16-Z-006  Attachment #2 Current Zoning Map - Fairways PUD

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC

SFL
SFT
SFU/MH
TF
MF

LO
LC
GC
HC
HI 

! ! ! !
! ! ! !
! ! ! !PUD - Commercial

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

PUD - Mixed Use

! ! ! !
! ! ! !
! ! ! !

PUD - Multi-Family

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !PUD - Townhomes

! ! ! !
! ! ! !PUD - Single-Family

This map has been produced by the City of Leander for 
informational purposes only. No warranty is made by the City 
regarding completeness or accuracy, please refer to the official 
ordinance for zoning verification. This data should not be 
construed as a legal description or survey instrument. No 
responsibility is assumed for damages or other liabilities due to 
the accuracy, availability, completeness, use or misuse of the 
information herein provided.



PALOS VERDES

DRVW

CRYSTAL FALLS PKWY

MIRA VISTA

FIR
ST

 V
IE

W

SPYGLASS HILL

LA
JIT

AS

AM
BU

SH
 CA

NY
ON

LONG BOW DR

GOOD NIGHT TRL

PASA TIEMPO

LEGEND TRL

EL CIELO

HIGH LONESOME

N LAKELINE BLVD

OSAGE DR

CHAMPIONS CORNER DR

POW WOW

TIMARRON

LA CANTERA

LONG LASSO PASS

MIRADOR

HOMECOMING

SPEAKING ROCK

QUICK FORT

BU
FF

AL
O 

GA
P

TRIBAL WAY

SHUMARD BLUFF DR

MISS
IO

N H
ILL

S

BUFFALO THUNDER

PAWNEE

ARROYO GRANDE

VENTANA CANYON

CA
ME

LB
AC

K

PEORIA DR

LEGEND HILL DR

LA
 COSTA

RAIN SONG DR

RUSTY SPUR

RANCHO MIRAGE

LOOKOUT KNOLL DR

LEADERS LN

BOLD SUNDOWN DR

RIO SECO

BIG HORN

WOLF DANCER

BURR PKWY

CO
RO

NA
DO

NAKOTA CT

CITRINE CV

JACKPOT RUN

PALO ALTO

OSAGE DR

EL CIELO

N LAKELINE BLVD

OSAGE DR

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

±
0 200
Feet

ZONING CASE 16-Z-006  Attachment #3 Future Land Use Map - Fairways PUD

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits
Open Space
Mixed Use Corridor

Commercial Corridor
Neighborhood Center 
Community Center
Activity Center

Transit Supportive Mixed Use
Station Area Mixed Use
Old Town Mixed Use
Employment Mixed Use
Industrial District
Neighborhood Residential

This map has been produced by the City of Leander for 
informational purposes only. No warranty is made by the City 
regarding completeness or accuracy, please refer to the official 
ordinance for zoning verification. This data should not be 
construed as a legal description or survey instrument. No 
responsibility is assumed for damages or other liabilities due to 
the accuracy, availability, completeness, use or misuse of the 
information herein provided.



PALOS VERDES

CRYSTAL FA
LLS PKWY

LEGEND TRL

SPYGLASS HILL

PASA TIEMPO

AMBUSH CANYON
MIRADOR

LA CANTERA TIM
AR

RO
N

GOOD NIGHT TRL

HARVEST DANCE DR

VENTANA CANYON

SQUAW VALLEYRANCHO MIRAGE

BOLD SUNDOWN DR

PE
OR

IA
 D

R

CANTIN
A S

KY D
R

NAKOTA CT

353644

796313

859554

353622

557126

818895

844741

861793

513856

513858

513902

513918

513892513901

513855

513857

513926

812206

513908

513964

513893

513910

513915

513917

513909

513895

513997

513916

513921
513922

513919

514007

513905

513907

513912

513937

711614

513920

513898

513924

513899

513900

513906

711611

819694

513925

513944

513914

711612

513923

514006

513879

513938

513911

513894

711610

846866

514005557129513940

711607

513943

711606

514009

513913

711608

534529

513969

711609

513968

514008

513967

837447

534528

837450

513996

513953

513956
513972

513939

534531

514012

513897
513896

711613

850510

513878

711597

798188

711629

514010

711630

711598

711631

513877

514011

711628

711605

711599

513970

711604

513935
513934

711639

711634

513928

711636

513929

711603

711633

513933

534554

711626

513930

736061

513936
711625

711621

711637

534543

711632

711600

513932
513931

513952

711627

736062

711622

513951

711638

513958

711635

534555

513959

513957
711623

513890

711624

513880

513960

513927

513891

513876

534551

513889 513875

534552

513949

534524

534532

513950

513948

534535
534550

513874

513973

513971

736070

513955

534549

513961513945

534536

861763

513954

534525

534537

711601

736063

736069

711602

534548
534547

534539

534540

736065

534538
534542

534530

513963

736064

534553

513962

534541

831258

534534

831015

513974

513976

534546

818883

831052

353692

818933

818882

831066

513860

818881

818932

831021

534556

534533
818910

831327

513888

831064

818877
818876

818878

831045

831049

831067

736045

513904

831084

818880

831048

818909

818903

831019

798201

513965

818879

831065

831047

818941

831046

818904

831038

831050
831051

831068

831075
831063

831058
831022

818931

831020

831044

818875

831032

845841

818907

818899
818911818898

831054

818908

818930

711685

831062

831326

831059

818900

818940

818897

818871

818906

798202

818874

818912

831074

818902

831085

818913

818934

818884

831088

798208

798148

818938
818920

818937

818896

831039 831036

798183

818921

831056

818905

861770

798180

818942

798207

798164

831040 831086

711684

861764

818939
798161

831083

831069

850501
850503850502

818914

845833

831073

831080
831076

850500

861765

831072
831070

850486

798205798206

845834

861766

798210

831234

798151

711683

798197

861768
861767

818917

798190

850482

831233

818943

850489

845832

798154

798196

818944

850490

818946

798189

798155 818945

850491

798191

711682

798192

845829

831231

711680

850498

798185

711681

850492

850497

798186

513978

831087

850496

711679

513881

847099

±
Subject_Prop_Buffer
Subject Property
City Limits
TCAD Parcels 0 500250

Feet

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

ZONING CASE 16-Z-006
Attachment #4
Notification Map
Fairways Sec 6 Zoning Change

This map has been produced by the City of Leander for 
informational purposes only. No warranty is made by the City 
regarding completeness or accuracy, please refer to the official 
ordinance for zoning verification. This data should not be 
construed as a legal description or survey instrument. No 
responsibility is assumed for damages or other liabilities due to 
the accuracy, availability, completeness, use or misuse of the 
information herein provided.



! ! !

! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! !! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! !

! !

! !

! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! !

! !

! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !

! ! !! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! !

! ! !
! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! !

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 5

BLUFFS
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 1

CRYSTAL FALLS
GOLF COURSE

FAIRWAYS
AT CRYSTAL FALLSSEC 1

WHITESTONE
ESCAPROCK AT CRYSTALFALLS, SEC 1

FAIRWAYS
AT CRYSTAL FALLSSEC 2

BLUFFS
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 1

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 4

GRAND MESA
AT CRYSTAL FALLS,

SEC 3

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

CRYSTAL FALLS PKWY

PALOS VERDES

AM
BU

SH
 C

AN
YO

N

LEGEND TRL

SPYGLA
SS HILL

LONG BOW DR

PASA TIEMPO

MIRADOR

PEORIA DR

LA CANTERA

VENTANA CANYON

SQUAW
 VALLEY

RANCHO MIRAGE

GOOD NIGHT TRL

TIM
ARRON

LA
 COST

A

CA
NT

IN
A S

KY
 D

R

FIRST VIEW

CITRINE CV

JACKPOT RUN

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

±
0 200

Feet

ZONING CASE 16-Z-006  Attachment #5 Proposed Zoning Map - Fairways PUD

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC

SFL
SFT
SFU/MH
TF
MF

LO
LC
GC
HC
HI 

! ! ! !
! ! ! !
! ! ! !PUD - Commercial

! ! ! !

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

PUD - Mixed Use

! ! ! !
! ! ! !
! ! ! !

PUD - Multi-Family

! ! ! !
! ! ! !

! ! ! !PUD - Townhomes

! ! ! !
! ! ! !PUD - Single-Family

This map has been produced by the City of Leander for 
informational purposes only. No warranty is made by the City 
regarding completeness or accuracy, please refer to the official 
ordinance for zoning verification. This data should not be 
construed as a legal description or survey instrument. No 
responsibility is assumed for damages or other liabilities due to 
the accuracy, availability, completeness, use or misuse of the 
information herein provided.

PROPOSED PUD



CRYSTAL FA
LLS PKWY

PALOS VERDES

AM
BU

SH
 C

AN
YO

N

LEGEND TRL

LA CANTERASPYGLASS HILL

LONG BOW DR

TIMARRON

PAS
A T

IEMPO

MIS
SIO

N H
ILL

S

PEORIA DR

LA 
COSTA

VENTANA CANYON

MIRA VISTA

BOLD SUNDOWN DR

NAKOTA CT

JACKPOT RUN

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

Ë0 200

Feet

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits

ZONING CASE 16-Z-006 Attachment #6
Aerial Exhibit - Approximate Boundaries
Fairways PUD

This map has been produced by the City of Leander for 
informational purposes only. No warranty is made by the City 
regarding completeness or accuracy, please refer to the official 
ordinance for zoning verification. This data should not be 
construed as a legal description or survey instrument. No 
responsibility is assumed for damages or other liabilities due to 
the accuracy, availability, completeness, use or misuse of the 
information herein provided.



Fairways, Section 6 PUD  1 

EXHIBIT A 
FAIRWAYS SECTION 6- PUD  

 
A. Purpose and Intent 

1. The Fairways Section 6 PUD is composed of approximately 50.615 acres, as shown in 
Exhibit C. The development of this property is a detached condominium regime single-
family community.  

 
B. Applicability and Base Zoning 

1. All aspects regarding the development of this PUD shall comply with the City of Leander 
Composite Zoning Ordinance, except as established in this exhibit, titled Exhibit A. 

2. For the purpose of establishing development standards for the PUD, base zoning of MF-2-B 
(Multi-Family) has been selected from the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance.   
 

C. Conceptual Site Layout & Land Use Plan 
1. A Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan has been attached to this PUD, Exhibit B, to 

illustrate the design intent for the property.  The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
is intended to serve as a guide to illustrate the general community vision and design concepts 
and is not intended to serve as a final document.  
 

D. Allowable Use 
1. The use will be detached single-family dwellings.  The maximum dwelling count shall be 98. 

 
E. Development Design Standards 

1. Building envelopes shall comply with the following.  These dimensions do not include patios 
(covered or uncovered) or decks. 
a. Maximum – 100’ wide X 90’ deep 
b. Minimum – 50’ wide X 50’ deep 

2. Development Standards: 
 MF-2-A 

DETACHED DWELLINGS 

Front Setback 
(minimum from back of curb) 18 ft. Min 

Side Setback (minimum between 
dwelling units ) 10 ft. Min ** 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum from back of curb) 10 ft. Min 

Rear Setback (minimum) 20 ft. Min* 

Perimeter Setback 15 ft. Min 

Building Separation (minimum) 10 ft. Min ** 

Building Setback from Golf Course 35 ft. Min 

Building Height 35 ft Max 
*This setback is defined as the condition when the rears of two units are immediately adjacent. 
**Eave overhang is not included in calculations for minimum building separation.  A minimum of seven 
feet clear zone between building roof lines will be provided.  Patios, decks and similar improvements shall 
have a minimum separate of 10 feet from all adjacent buildings. 



Fairways, Section 6 PUD  2 

 
F. Drive Design 

1. Refer to Exhibit B for detailed cross section of vehicular access easement.  
2. The minimum centerline radius for private drives is 100-feet. Minimum cul-de-sac drive 

surface radius is 50-feet.  
3. The access drive alignment, building pads and island locations may vary to minimize 

disturbance to significant trees and natural topographic features. Private drives will have a 
23-foot wide pavement width with 18-inch ribbon curbs or a 23-foot wide pavement width 
with 24-inch curb and gutter (which includes mountable curb or stand up curb).  

4. This project will be gated. 
5. A path for a golf cart connection shall be provided from this development to the Golf Course 

clubhouse.  This path is required to be a minimum of 10-feet and constructed of concrete. 
 

G. Architectural & Parking Requirements 
1. All residential homes within this project shall comply with the applicable standards of the 

Type B Architectural Component and the Architectural Standards for single-family districts 
as listed in Article VII and Article VIII of the Composite Zoning Ordinance unless modified 
herein.  Drives shall constitute streets with regard to this application of the ordinance. 
a. Each dwelling shall have a minimum of 1,500 square feet of living area and a maximum 

of 6,000 square feet. 
b. All dwellings shall be detached. 
c. Garage Standard: This project shall comply with Article VIII, Section 5, (j) of the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
d. All roofing materials shall be tile, standing seam metal, or slate.  Laminated, dimensional 

shingles are prohibited. 
e. All structures shall be comprised of eighty-five (85%) percent masonry. 
f. The renderings and elevations provided as Exhibit D are conceptual in nature. Once 

building plans are developed for this product the homes built shall substantially conform 
to the overall architectural style of Exhibit D. 

2. Parking 
a. A minimum of two garage-enclosed parking spaces and two additional off-street parking 

spaces (the garage driveway may be counted toward the provision of off-street parking if 
it is a minimum of 18’ long) shall be provided per unit. 
 

H. Fencing, Sidewalks, & Lighting 
1. If fencing is proposed, it shall be comprised of wrought iron, decorative tubular metal, or 

masonry. 
2. Sidewalks are required to be installed on one side of internal drives. 
3. Lighting is not required in the interior of this project, but is permitted.  A street light shall be 

provided at the intersection of the drive and the street. 
 

I. Landscaping 
1. This project shall comply with Article VI of the Composite Zoning Ordinance.   

a. The tree preservation/protection requirements associated with commercial and/or multi-
family projects shall apply.   

b. The landscape requirements associated with single-family projects shall apply. 









rstover
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 8

















EXHIBIT A 
FAIRWAYS SECTION 6- PUD 

A. Purpose and Intent 
1. The Fairways Section 6 PUD is composed of approximately 50.615 acres, as shown

in Exhibit C. The development of this property is a detached condominium regime single-
family community.  

B. Applicability and Base Zoning 
1. All aspects regarding the development of this PUD shall comply with the City of Leander

Composite Zoning Ordinance, except as established in this exhibit, titled Exhibit A. 
2. For the purpose of establishing development standards for the PUD, base zoning of MF-2-B

(Multi-Family) has been selected from the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance.  

C. Conceptual Site Layout & Land Use Plan 
1. A Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan has been attached to this PUD, Exhibit B, to

illustrate the design intent for the property.  The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
is intended to serve as a guide to illustrate the general community vision and design concepts 
and is not intended to serve as a final document.  

D. Allowable Use 
1. The use will be detached single-family dwellings.  The maximum dwelling count shall be 85.

E. Development Design Standards 
1. Building envelopes shall comply with the following.  These dimensions do not include patios

(covered or uncovered) or decks. 
a. Maximum – 100’ wide X 90’ deep
b. Minimum – 50’ wide X 50’ deep

2. Development Standards:
MF-2-A 

DETACHED DWELLINGS 
Front Setback 
(minimum from back of curb) 18 ft. Min 

Side Setback (minimum between 
dwelling units ) 10 ft. Min ** 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum from back of curb) 10 ft. Min 

Rear Setback (minimum) 20 ft. Min* 

Perimeter Setback 15 ft. Min 

Building Separation (minimum) 10 ft. Min ** 

Building Setback from Golf Course 35 ft. Min 

Building Height 35 ft Max 
*This setback is defined as the condition when the rears of two units are immediately adjacent.
**Eave overhang is not included in calculations for minimum building separation.  A minimum of seven 
feet clear zone between building roof lines will be provided.  Patios, decks and similar improvements shall 
have a minimum separate of 10 feet from all adjacent buildings. 

Fairways, Section 6 PUD 1 



F. Drive Design 
1. Refer to Exhibit B for detailed cross section of vehicular access easement.
2. The minimum centerline radius for private drives is 100-feet. Minimum cul-de-sac drive

surface radius is 50-feet.
3. The access drive alignment, building pads and island locations may vary to minimize

disturbance to significant trees and natural topographic features. Private drives will have a
23-foot wide pavement width with 18-inch ribbon curbs or a 23-foot wide pavement width
with 24-inch curb and gutter (which includes mountable curb or stand up curb).

4. This project will be gated.
5. A path for a golf cart connection shall be provided from this development to the Golf Course

clubhouse.  This path is required to be a minimum of 10-feet and constructed of concrete.

G. Architectural & Parking Requirements 
1. All residential homes within this project shall comply with the applicable standards of the

Type B Architectural Component and the Architectural Standards for single-family districts
as listed in Article VII and Article VIII of the Composite Zoning Ordinance unless modified
herein.  Drives shall constitute streets with regard to this application of the ordinance.
a. Each dwelling shall have a minimum of 1,750 square feet of living area and a maximum

of 6,000 square feet.
b. All dwellings shall be detached.
c. Garage Standard: This project shall comply with Article VIII, Section 5, (j) of the

Composite Zoning Ordinance.
d. All roofing materials shall be tile, standing seam metal, or slate.  Laminated, dimensional

shingles are prohibited.
e. All structures shall be comprised of eighty-five (85%) percent masonry.
f. The renderings and elevations provided as Exhibit D are conceptual in nature. Once

building plans are developed for this product the homes built shall substantially conform
to the overall architectural style of Exhibit D.

2. Parking
a. A minimum of two garage-enclosed parking spaces and two additional off-street parking

spaces (the garage driveway may be counted toward the provision of off-street parking if
it is a minimum of 18’ long) shall be provided per unit.

H. Fencing, Sidewalks, & Lighting 
1. If fencing is proposed, it shall be comprised of wrought iron, decorative tubular metal, or

masonry.
2. Sidewalks are required to be installed on one side of internal drives.
3. Lighting is not permitted in the interior of this project.  A street light shall be provided at the

intersection of the drive and the street. The street light design shall match the street light
design used throughout the Highlands at Crystal Falls.

I. Landscaping 

1. The landscaping and wall plan provided as Exhibit E are conceptual in nature. Once final
landscape plans are developed for this section walls and landscape shall substantially
conform to the overall intent and style shown in Exhibit E. No other walls or landscaping
shall be required along Crystal Falls Parkway other than those shown in Exhibit E. The
landscaping/wall/berm is shown in the Crystal Falls Parkway right of way. Prior to
acceptance of the subdivision improvements there shall be a license agreement between the

Fairways, Section 6 PUD 2 



City of Leander and Crystal Falls HOA to address the maintenance of these proposed 
improvements in the Crystal Falls Parkway ROW.  

2. This project shall comply with Article VI of the Composite Zoning Ordinance.
a. The tree preservation/protection requirements associated with commercial and/or multi-

family projects shall apply.
b. The landscape requirements associated with single-family projects shall apply.

Fairways, Section 6 PUD 3 



Date: June 27, 2016
Scale: 1" = 200'

SHEET FILE: B:\160067-GRHA\Cadfiles\PLANNING\Crystal Falls Pkwy Landscape.dwg

LEANDER, TEXAS

THE FAIRWAYS AT CRYSTAL FALLS

CRYSTAL FALLS PARKWAY
LANDSCAPE

CRYSTAL FALLS PARKWAY LOOKING SOUTH EAST - EXISTING CONDITION

PROPOSED CRYSTAL FALLS PARKWAY LANDSCAPE TREATMENT
COMBINATION BERMS, HALF WALLS, WROUGHT IRON, LANDSCAPING AND 6' STONE WALL

WROUGHT IRON FENCE

HALF WALL

3'-5' BERM

Base mapping compiled from best available information. All map data
should be considered as preliminary, in need of verification, and
subject to change. This land plan is conceptual in nature and does not
represent any regulatory approval. Plan is subject to change.

SEC Planning, LLC

t 512.246.7003

www.secplanning.com info@secplanning.com

Land Planning Landscape Architecture Community Branding

AUSTIN, TEXAS

+ +

+



FM
FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

Date: June 27, 2016
Scale: 1" = 200'

NORTH

SHEET FILE: B:\160067-GRHA\Cadfiles\PLANNING\Crystal Falls Pkwy Landscape.dwg

LEANDER, TEXAS

THE FAIRWAYS AT CRYSTAL FALLS

CRYSTAL FALLS PARKWAY
LANDSCAPE

KEY

STONE WALL

WROUGHT IRON FENCE

HALF WALL

NORTH PLAN DETAIL

OVERALL PLAN

Base mapping compiled from best available information. All map data
should be considered as preliminary, in need of verification, and
subject to change. This land plan is conceptual in nature and does not
represent any regulatory approval. Plan is subject to change.

8004000 200

SEC Planning, LLC

t 512.246.7003

www.secplanning.com info@secplanning.com

Land Planning Landscape Architecture Community Branding

AUSTIN, TEXAS

+ +

+



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

ORDINANCE NO # 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS, AMENDING THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE BY REZONING A PARCEL OF LAND FROM 
SFS-2-B (SINGLE-FAMILY SUBURBAN) TO PUD (PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT); MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; AND PROVIDING 
FOR RELATED MATTERS.  

Whereas, the owner of the property described herein after (the "Property") has requested 
that the Property be rezoned;  

Whereas, after giving at least ten days written notice to the owners of land within two 
hundred feet of the Property, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the 
proposed rezoning and forwarded its recommendation on the rezoning to the City Council; 

Whereas, after publishing notice of the public hearing at least fifteen days prior to the date 
of such hearing, the City Council at a public hearing has reviewed the request and the circumstances 
of the Property and finds that a substantial change in circumstances of the Property, sufficient to 
warrant a change in the zoning of the Property, has transpired; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 

Section 1.  Findings.  The foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are hereby 
adopted by the City Council and made a part hereof for all purposes as findings of fact. 

Section 2.  Amendment of Zoning Ordinance.  Ordinance No. 05-018, as amended, the City of 
Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance (the "Zoning Ordinance" or "Code"), is hereby modified and 
amended by rezoning the Property as set forth in Section 3. 

Section 3. Applicability. This ordinance applies to the following parcel of land, which is herein 
referred to as the “Property:”  That certain parcel of land being 50.615 acres, more or less, located in 
Leander, Travis County, Texas, being more particularly described in Exhibit “C”, generally located 
to the west of the intersection of Crystal Falls Pkwy and Lakeline Blvd; legally described as 
50.615 acres more or less out of the C. Ybarbo Survey, No. 420 and the C. C. Chafin Survey No. , 
more particularly described in Instrument Number 5874404 Official Public Records of Travis 
County, Texas, and identified by tax identification number 796313.  

Section 4.  Property Rezoned.  The Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended by changing the zoning 
district for the Property from SFS-2-B (Single-Family Suburban) to PUD (Planned Unit 
Development) known as the Fairways Section 6 PUD.  The PUD shall be developed and 
occupied in accordance with this Ordinance, the PUD plan attached as Exhibits “A”, “B”, “C”, 
and “D” which are hereby adopted and incorporated herein for all purposes, and the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance to the extent not amended by this Ordinance.  In the event of a conflict 
between the Composite Zoning Ordinance and the requirements for the Property set forth in this 
Ordinance, this Ordinance shall control.   



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

Section 5. Recording Zoning Change. The City Council directs the City Secretary to record this 
zoning classification on the City’s official zoning map with the official notation as prescribed by 
the City’s zoning ordinance. 

Section 6.  Severability.  Should any section or part of this ordinance be held unconstitutional, 
illegal, or invalid, or the application to any person or circumstance for any reasons thereof 
ineffective or inapplicable, such unconstitutionality, illegality, invalidity, or ineffectiveness of such 
section or part shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate the remaining portion or portions thereof; 
but as to such remaining portion or portions, the same shall be and remain in full force and effect 
and to this end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable. 

Section 7.  Open Meetings.  That it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 
which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapt. 551, 
Loc. Gov't. Code. 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading this the 16th day of June, 2016. 
FINALLY PASSED AND APPROVED on this the 7th day of July, 2016. 

THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 

__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor  Debbie Haile, City Secretary 



Fairways, Section 6 PUD 1 

EXHIBIT A 
FAIRWAYS SECTION 6- PUD  

A. Purpose and Intent 
1. The Fairways Section 6 PUD is composed of approximately 50.615 acres, as shown in

Exhibit C. The development of this property is a detached condominium regime single-
family community.  

B. Applicability and Base Zoning 
1. All aspects regarding the development of this PUD shall comply with the City of Leander

Composite Zoning Ordinance, except as established in this exhibit, titled Exhibit A. 
2. For the purpose of establishing development standards for the PUD, base zoning of MF-2-B

(Multi-Family) has been selected from the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance.   

C. Conceptual Site Layout & Land Use Plan 
1. A Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan has been attached to this PUD, Exhibit B, to

illustrate the design intent for the property.  The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
is intended to serve as a guide to illustrate the general community vision and design concepts 
and is not intended to serve as a final document.  

D. Allowable Use 
1. The use will be detached single-family dwellings.  The maximum dwelling count shall be 98.

E. Development Design Standards 
1. Building envelopes shall comply with the following.  These dimensions do not include patios

(covered or uncovered) or decks. 
a. Maximum – 100’ wide X 90’ deep
b. Minimum – 50’ wide X 50’ deep

2. Development Standards:
MF-2-A 

DETACHED DWELLINGS 

Front Setback 
(minimum from back of curb) 18 ft. Min 

Side Setback (minimum between 
dwelling units ) 10 ft. Min ** 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum from back of curb) 10 ft. Min 

Rear Setback (minimum) 20 ft. Min* 

Perimeter Setback 15 ft. Min 

Building Separation (minimum) 10 ft. Min ** 

Building Setback from Golf Course 35 ft. Min 

Building Height 35 ft Max 
*This setback is defined as the condition when the rears of two units are immediately adjacent.
**Eave overhang is not included in calculations for minimum building separation.  A minimum of seven 
feet clear zone between building roof lines will be provided.  Patios, decks and similar improvements shall 
have a minimum separate of 10 feet from all adjacent buildings. 



Fairways, Section 6 PUD 2 

F. Drive Design 
1. Refer to Exhibit B for detailed cross section of vehicular access easement.
2. The minimum centerline radius for private drives is 100-feet. Minimum cul-de-sac drive

surface radius is 50-feet.
3. The access drive alignment, building pads and island locations may vary to minimize

disturbance to significant trees and natural topographic features. Private drives will have a
23-foot wide pavement width with 18-inch ribbon curbs or a 23-foot wide pavement width
with 24-inch curb and gutter (which includes mountable curb or stand up curb).

4. This project will be gated.
5. A path for a golf cart connection shall be provided from this development to the Golf Course

clubhouse.  This path is required to be a minimum of 10-feet and constructed of concrete.

G. Architectural & Parking Requirements 
1. All residential homes within this project shall comply with the applicable standards of the

Type B Architectural Component and the Architectural Standards for single-family districts
as listed in Article VII and Article VIII of the Composite Zoning Ordinance unless modified
herein.  Drives shall constitute streets with regard to this application of the ordinance.
a. Each dwelling shall have a minimum of 1,500 square feet of living area and a maximum

of 6,000 square feet.
b. All dwellings shall be detached.
c. Garage Standard: This project shall comply with Article VIII, Section 5, (j) of the

Composite Zoning Ordinance.
d. All roofing materials shall be tile, standing seam metal, or slate.  Laminated, dimensional

shingles are prohibited.
e. All structures shall be comprised of eighty-five (85%) percent masonry.
f. The renderings and elevations provided as Exhibit D are conceptual in nature. Once

building plans are developed for this product the homes built shall substantially conform
to the overall architectural style of Exhibit D.

2. Parking
a. A minimum of two garage-enclosed parking spaces and two additional off-street parking

spaces (the garage driveway may be counted toward the provision of off-street parking if
it is a minimum of 18’ long) shall be provided per unit.

H. Fencing, Sidewalks, & Lighting 
1. If fencing is proposed, it shall be comprised of wrought iron, decorative tubular metal, or

masonry.
2. Sidewalks are required to be installed on one side of internal drives.
3. Lighting is not required in the interior of this project, but is permitted.  A street light shall be

provided at the intersection of the drive and the street.

I. Landscaping 
1. This project shall comply with Article VI of the Composite Zoning Ordinance.

a. The tree preservation/protection requirements associated with commercial and/or multi-
family projects shall apply.

b. The landscape requirements associated with single-family projects shall apply.













AGENDA ITEM # 9 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Agenda Subject:  An ordinance adopting amendments to the City’s animal control 

regulations and amending licensing and permit fees 

Background:  The City’s animal control regulations were reviewed and the proposed 

amendments: (1) clarify the regulations; (2) add definitions; (3) amend certain provisions 

to refer to state law so that the ordinance does not have to be amended when state law 

changes; (4) address who may enforce the ordinance and how it may be enforced; (5) add 

references to the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter where appropriate; and (6) 

amend licensing and permitting fees.  Specific regulations that were amended include: 

(a) vaccination and licensing requirements; (b) regulation of animals running at large; (c) 

regulation of nuisance animals; (d) beekeeping; (e) keeping of chickens; (f) keeping of 

livestock; (g) trapping restrictions and requirements; (h) requirements for pens, coops, 

hutches, and other enclosures; (i) cruel treatment of animals; (j) dangerous dog 

regulations; (k) impoundment rules; (l) quarantine and rabies requirements; and (m) 

regulations for multi-pet owners. 

Origination:   Greg Minton, Chief of Police 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval of the proposed ordinances. 

Attachments:    Proposed Ordinance adopting Amended Control Regulations 

Prepared by:  Animal Services Supervisor Edna Stambaugh 















































































































































































































































































Exhibit A 

Sec. 2.01.001     Definitions 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

Abuse. To mistreat through intent to abuse or reckless neglect of any animal in a manner that 
causes or is likely to cause stress or physical injury or as otherwise stated in this chapter. 

Animal. Any living creature, both domestic and wild, except humans. The term "animal' includes 
fowl, livestock, and reptiles.   

Animal services division, animal services authority, or animal services officer. The animal 
services division of the city’s police department, its animal services officers and/or peace 
officers. 

Animal Shelter. A facility that may be temporarily contracted or designated by the chief of police 
for animal impoundment under the provisions of this chapter.  

Animal welfare group. An association or nonprofit corporation who has as one of its purposes 
the providing for the welfare and/or protection of animals of any kind. 

Authority. The local rabies control authority as defined in this section. 

Brand. A mark made on the skin of any animal which indicates the ownership of the animal, 
typically used with livestock. 

Cat. The male and the female of any domesticated or feral member of the feline species of 
animals. 

Chief of police. The chief of police or the chief of police’s designee responsible for the 
administration of this act. 

Circus. A commercial variety show featuring animal acts for the public at a fee or a part of a 
charity. 

Commercial animal enterprise. Shall include but not be limited to enterprises such as kennels, pet 
shops, riding stables, animal auctions, performing animal exhibitions, animal training services, 
grooming shops, petting zoos, aviaries or any similar entrepreneurial relationship regarding 
animals. 

Confinement period: as defined in Texas Administrative Code, Title 25, section 169.30. 



Cruelly treated. Includes tortured, seriously overworked, unreasonably abandoned, unreasonably 
deprived of necessary food, care, or shelter, cruelly confined, or caused to fight with another 
animal.  

Dangerous wild animal. Shall have the same meaning as defined in chapter 822, Texas Health 
and Safety Code, subchapter E. 

Distance between structures. Where a minimum setback or distance between any enclosure for 
an animal from a residence is required, shall mean the most direct line distance between the two 
structures, unless otherwise provided. 

Dog. The male and the female of any domesticated member of the canine species of animal. 

Domestic animal. Any non-livestock animal as defined in the Penal Code. 

Estray. Has the same meaning as defined in chapter 142, Texas Agriculture Code, defining estray 
as stray livestock, stray exotic livestock, and stray exotic fowl. 

Exotic species. Any animal or reptile, fish, or bird, born or whose natural habitat is considered to 
be outside the continental United States, including nonvenomous reptiles and fish. 

Fish. Any of the cold-blooded animals that extract oxygen from water through the use of gills. 

Fowl. Includes all birds, e.g., chickens, turkeys, pheasants, quail, guineas, geese, ducks, peafowl 
and other domestic feathered creatures and nondomestic feathered creatures, regardless of age or 
sex. 

Governmental entity. An agency or political subdivision of the state or an agency or department 
of the federal government. 

Habitual offender.  An owner who has received two or more final convictions of this chapter or 
the owner of an animal who has been the subject of impoundment in the animal shelter three or 
more times during a 12-month period or any combination of convictions and impoundment 
totaling three incidents. 

Harbor. To possess while in the act of keeping and caring for an animal, or of providing a 
premises to which the animal returns for food, shelter or care for a period of three days or longer.  

Household: home, residence, apartment or dwelling including yard around where animals could 
be kept 

Kennel Facility. An establishment designed or used for the selling, breeding, or overnight 
boarding of animals where more than three dogs and two cats or three cats and two dogs or a 
combination of five other animals are to be boarded, sold, or bred. 



Kennel. Enclosure that  provides sufficient space to allow each animal to make normal postural 
adjustments without touching the top of the enclosure, including turning freely, standing easily, 
sitting, stretching, moving its head, lying in a comfortable position with limbs extended, and 
moving and assuming a comfortable posture for feeding, drinking, urinating, and defecating 

Livestock. Includes, regardless of age, sex or breed, horses and all equine species, including 
mules, donkeys and jackasses; cows and all bovine species; sheep and all ovine species; llamas; 
goats and all caprine species; and pigs and all swine species. 

Local rabies control authority. The animal services supervisor or designee 

Microchip. A device designed to store data or information relating to animals and is carried 
subcutaneously by that animal and such data or information is collectable by electronic means. 

Multi-pet owner. A person who keeps or harbors five or more cats or dogs, including feral cats, 
or dogs or any combination of five cats and dogs. Puppies and kittens under four months of age 
shall not be counted for purposes of this definition. 

Neutered. Any animal, male or female, rendered incapable of breeding or being bred, i.e., 
castration in the male and spaying or ovariectomy in the female. 

Owner. Any person or persons, association, or entity, including any member of owner’s 
immediate family, employee, or agent, having the right of property, care, custody, or control of 
an animal, who possesses, harbors, or maintains an animal, or who knowingly permits an animal 
to remain on or about any premises occupied by such person or persons, firm, association, or 
corporation for a period of three (3) days or more. 

Performing animal. Any spectacle, display, act or event in which animals perform. 

Person. An individual human, partnership, copartnership, firm, company, limited liability 
partnership or other partnership or other such company, joint venture, joint stock company, trust, 
estate, governmental entity, association or corporation or any other legal entity, or their legal 
representatives, agents or assigns. The masculine gender shall include the feminine; the singular 
shall include the plural where indicated by the context. 

Poison. A substance having an inherent harmful property which renders it, when taken into the 
system, capable of destroying animal life. 

Policy or policies. The policies and procedures adopted consistent with this chapter and 
applicable to the animal services division of the city’s police department. 

Premises. A definite portion of a legal lot of real estate or land, together with any appurtenances 
or buildings. 

Prohibited animal. Any animal prohibited by state or federal law and including any individual 
species and/or subspecies of the following animals: antelope, lions, tigers, ocelots, bobcats, lynx, 



cougars, leopards, cheetahs, jaguars, hyenas, bears, lesser pandas, ferrets born in natural habitats, 
binturong, ostriches, emus, elephants, apes or such other nondomestic species of animal not 
common to this area. 

Proper enclosure. A house or a building, or, in the case of a fence or structure/pen, the fence or 
structure/pen must be at least four feet in height. The structure/pen must also have minimum 
dimensions of five feet by ten feet. The fence or structure/pen must form an enclosure suitable to 
prevent entry of young children and must be locked and secured such that an animal cannot 
climb, dig, jump or otherwise escape of its own volition. The enclosure shall be securely locked 
at all times and have secured sides to prevent a dangerous animal or registered dangerous dog 
from escaping from the enclosure. The structure/pen shall provide protection from the elements 
for the animal. The animal services officer may require a fence higher than four feet or require a 
secure top and/or a secure bottom to the structure/pen if the need is demonstrated. Invisible 
fences or similar technology shall not constitute “proper enclosure.” 

Quarantine. As defined in HSC 826.002. 

Quarantine period. Time as described in Texas Administrative Code, Title 25, Rule 169.27.  

Rabies vaccination. Means currently vaccinated. Vaccinated and satisfying all the following 
criteria. (A) The animal must have been vaccinated against rabies with a vaccine licensed by the 
United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) for that species at or after the minimum age 
requirement and using the recommended route of administration for the vaccine. (B) At least 30 
days have elapsed since the initial vaccination. (C) The time elapsed since the most recent 
vaccination has not exceeded the recommended interval for booster vaccination as established by 
the manufacturer.  

Registered dangerous dog. Any dog registered with the city in compliance with chapter 822, 
Texas Health and Safety Code, 822.043, and with the sections of this chapter addressing 
dangerous dogs. 

Residence. Any place of human habitation at any time, day or night, including, but not limited to, 
any single- or multi-family dwelling, church, school, convalescent center or nursing home. 

Restrained. Any animal secured by a leash, rope or chain of some sort or confined through 
fencing or otherwise enclosed within the property limits of its owner, meaning there must be a 
physical barrier. Substitution of an electronic device is not permitted. 

Running at large (non-livestock at large). 

(A)     Any dog, which is not restrained by means of a leash, chain, other physical apparatus of 
sufficient strength and length to control the actions of such animal while off- premises. 

(B)     Any cat which is creating a nuisance off the owner’s property. 

At large means that either livestock and non-livestock is: 



(1) On the premises of the owner and is not tied, staked, or restrained securely within an 
enclosure or fence capable of fully and totally securing the animal; or 

(2) Off the premises of the owner, and is not on a leash under the immediate control of a person 
physically capable of restraining the animal or is not restrained securely within an enclosure or 
fence capable of fully and totally securing the animal. 

(3)  Exception, any animal within a vehicle in a manner that would prevent that animal’s escape 
or contact with other persons or animals shall not be deemed “at large.” 

"Serious bodily injury" means an injury characterized by severe bite wounds or severe ripping 
and tearing of muscle that would cause a reasonably prudent person to seek treatment from a 
medical professional and would require hospitalization without regard to whether the person 
actually sought medical treatment. Per HSC 822. 

Stray animal (including estray). Any animal, of which there is no identifiable owner or harborer, 
which is found to be at large within the corporate limits of the city. 

Tag. A vaccination tag attached to a collar as required by this chapter, or some other permanent 
identifying device attached to a collar or to an animal. 

Tattoo. A permanent mark which is made on the skin of an animal by puncturing the skin and 
inserting indelible color, and which is used to show ownership. 

Veterinarian. Any person duly licensed to practice veterinary medicine by the state board of 
veterinary examiners, or who is exempt from such licensing. 

Wild animal or wildlife. Any nondomestic creature (mammal, amphibian, reptile or fowl) which 
is of a species which is wild by nature, which can normally be found in a wild state, and which is 
not naturally tame or gentle, or which, because of its size, vicious nature and other 
characteristics, constitutes a danger to human life or property, including all animals identified 
herein as prohibited. 

Zoological park or zoo. Any facility, other than a pet shop or kennel, displaying or exhibiting 
one or more species of animals, operated by a person or under the auspices of a governmental 
entity. 

  Sec. 2.01.002     Purpose 

It is the intent and purpose of this chapter to provide a safe and healthy environment within the 
city for both animals and people. While a person may own and keep animals within the city, the 
conduct of those animals and the conditions that the animals are kept in should be safe and 
healthy and should not infringe on the surrounding homes and their inhabitants.  



  Sec. 2.01.003     Enforcement 

(a)     Enforcement officers. The provisions of this chapter may be enforced by animal services 
officers, police officers, and such other persons as are designated by the city. Nothing herein is 
intended to or shall preempt any statutory duty or authority of any federal, state, or local entity or 
official charged with animal control, estray control or impoundment, or other animal-related 
matters. 

(b)     Interference with enforcement. It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with, 
obstruct, resist or oppose any animal services officer or other person authorized to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter while such person is apprehending an animal or performing any other 
duties or investigation. It shall be unlawful to take or attempt to take any animal from any animal 
services officer or from any vehicle used by the officer to transport any animal or to take or 
attempt to take any animal from the animal shelter or other kennel or confinement area used to 
impound an animal. 

(c)     Citations and warnings. In all instances of a violation of any provision of this chapter, 
whether the animal is impounded or not, the owner or keeper of such animal may be cited by an 
officer who has the authority to enforce this chapter for any violation of this chapter. The animal 
services division may also by policy establish a conditional written warning procedure relating to 
registrations, displaying of tags, and general “at large” violations. The receipt of such written 
warnings does not preclude the animal services division from citing the recipient if the 
conditions of the written warning are not met in a timely fashion. 

(d) In the enforcement of this chapter, any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this 
chapter shall have the authority to immediately tranquilize, capture, restrain, and/or destroy any 
animal to protect themselves, a third person, or another animal from attack or threat of imminent 
injury, to prevent an animal from enduring further unreasonable pain or suffering as a result of 
disease or injury, or when the animal services officer deems such animal a threat to the public 
health, safety, or welfare. Any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this chapter shall 
have the right to pursue onto private property and apprehend an at-large animal considered a 
nuisance without first requesting permission from the owner of the private property or without 
obtaining a search warrant. 

(e)     Culpability. Unless specifically provided in this chapter, an offense under this chapter shall 
not require a culpable mental state. It is the intent of this section to impose strict liability for 
violation of the requirements of this chapter. 

(f)     Administrative policies and operational procedures. To aid in the administration of this 
chapter, the animal services division shall, by policy-making authority of the chief of police, 
adopt administrative policies and operational procedures consistent with the purpose and intent 
of this chapter. 



(g)     Investigation of feral cats.  Animal services officers, or police officers as deemed 
necessary, may investigate complaints, nuisance allegations, or unsanitary conditions and/or 
perform general inspections regarding the treatment of animals where feral cat are being kept in 
excess the multi-animal level allowed by this ordinance. 

(h)     Duties of feral cat organizations. It shall be the policy of the city that feral cat 
organizations intending to release feral cats within the city furnish in writing to the animal 
services unit of the police department the number of feral cats released after processing. 
Likewise, organizations shall immediately report to the animal services unit any evidence of 
communicable disease outbreak that may affect the non-feral cat or other animal populations 
within the city. 

  Sec. 2.01.004     Powers and duties of citizens 

Any person who finds an animal which he does not own on property that he owns or exercises 
control over or on public property may take control of said animal if it is running at large (as 
provided in section 2.03.002) and may deliver the animal to an animal services officer, the 
animal shelter, or an animal emergency medical facility. If the animal is not delivered to an 
animal services officer, the animal shelter, or an animal emergency medical facility, the person 
must report that he had taken control of the animal to an animal services officer or the animal 
shelter within seventy-two (72) hours. If animal is wearing a tag of any kind or has a tattoo, 
brand, or other identifying mark, that information shall be included in the report to the animal 
services officer or animal shelter. 

  Sec. 2.01.005     Penalties; false reports or statements 

(a)     Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this chapter, or shall fail to comply 
therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the city limits shall be deemed guilty 
of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to exceed the sum of five hundred dollars 
($500.00). A person who is deemed guilty of violating section 2.05.002(d) of this chapter shall 
be liable for a fine no less than two hundred dollars ($200.00) or more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00). A person who is deemed guilty of violating section 2.05.003(e) of this chapter shall 
be liable for a fine no less than one hundred dollars ($100.00) or more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00). Each day the violation exists shall constitute a separate offense. Such penalty shall be 
in addition to all the other remedies provided herein. 

(b)     A person commits an offense if, with intent to deceive, he knowingly makes a false report 
or statement, either verbal or written, that is material to an investigation of an alleged violation of 
this chapter to an animal services officer or other person authorized to enforce the provisions of 
this chapter. 



(c)     A person commits an offense if he reports to a person authorized to enforce the provisions 
of this chapter an offense or incident within that person’s concern knowing that the offense or 
incident did not occur. 

  Sec. 2.01.006     Prima facie evidence of responsibility for violation 

In any prosecution charging a violation of this chapter governing the abuse, neglect or ownership 
of an animal or failure to license an animal as herein required, proof that the particular property 
described in the complaint was the premises upon which the animal resided, was harbored or 
maintained and a violation of any section of this chapter occurred involving said animal, together 
with proof that the defendant named in the complaint was, at the time of such complaint or at the 
time when the animal was in violation of this chapter, the registered owner of such animal or the 
person with legal rights to reside on said property, shall constitute in evidence a prima facie 
presumption that the registered owner of such animal or the person with legal rights to reside on 
said property was the owner of the animal and the person who failed to comply with this chapter.  

  Sec. 2.01.007   Abatement of nuisances or other prohibited conditions, Enforcement; 
penalty 

(a)     Primary enforcement of the provisions of this chapter are vested in the animal services 
officers; however, these provisions may also be enforced by peace officers, code enforcement 
officers, and such other persons as are designated by the city. Any and all references to animal 
services and/or animal services officer herein shall contemplate and include each of the 
aforementioned individuals. 

 (b)     Unless otherwise stated herein, the provisions of this chapter are enforceable against an 
owner and/or their animal as set forth herein. Owner(s) of animal(s) alleged to be in violation of 
this chapter are responsible for such violations and subject to the penalty provisions of this 
chapter and this code, as amended. 

(c)     It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with, obstruct, resist or oppose any 
enforcement of the provisions of this chapter by an animal services officer. 

(d)     In the enforcement of this chapter, any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this 
chapter shall have the authority to immediately tranquilize, capture, restrain, and/or destroy any 
animal to protect themselves, a third person, or another animal from attack or threat of imminent 
injury, to prevent an animal from enduring further unreasonable pain or suffering as a result of 
disease or injury, or when the animal services officer deems such animal a threat to the public 
health, safety, or welfare. 

(e)     Any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this chapter shall have the right to 
pursue onto private property and apprehend an at-large animal considered a nuisance without 



first requesting permission from the owner of the private property or without obtaining a search 
warrant. 

(f)     Unless otherwise provided by state law, any violation of this chapter may be charged as a 
class C misdemeanor; and upon conviction, an owner shall be fined as provided for in the 
general penalty provision in section 1.01.009 of this code, as amended. For those violations that 
are of a continuous nature, a separate offense shall be deemed committed upon each day during 
or on which a violation occurs or continues and such fine may be levied for each day that a 
violation exists. 

(g)     If an owner has been previously convicted of an offense under this chapter and the owner 
is subsequently convicted of an offense under the same provision of this chapter, the owner may 
be subject to an enhanced fine as set by the municipal court. 

  Sec. 2.01.008     Compliance with other ordinances 

The keeping of any animal in accordance with the provisions of this chapter shall not be 
construed to authorize the keeping of the same in violation of the zoning ordinance or any other 
ordinance of the city. 

  Sec. 2.01.009     Fees 

The fee schedule as provided for in appendix A of this code shall apply to all animals within the 
city limits. It shall not be construed that the city be required to bear the costs of any animal that 
has an owner. The owner shall reimburse the city for any actual expenses and shall be 
responsible for all fees set forth in appendix A of this code. The city may recover all fees, costs 
and damages incurred as a result of the animal as restitution in a criminal proceeding under the 
provisions of this chapter or the state statutes in addition to a fine being charged. In extraordinary 
circumstances, certain fees related to redemption of impounded animals may be administratively 
waived for owners with supervisory approval, or pay agreements reached between owners and 
the animal services supervisor(s). Such administrative actions shall be guided by animal service's 
adopted policies and procedures. 

  Sec. 2.01.010     Animals held on complaint 

If a complaint has been filed in municipal court of the city against the owner of an impounded 
animal for a violation of this article, the animal may be held on the order of the municipal judge, 
who may also direct the owner to pay any penalties for violation of this article in addition to all 
impoundment fees. Surrender of an animal by the owner thereof to the animal services officer 



does not relieve or render the owner immune from the decision of the court nor from the fees and 
fines which may result from a violation of this article. 

  Sec. 2.01.011     Removing animal from confinement; interference with impoundment 

(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or allow to escape from any place of 
confinement, any dog or cat which has been confined or ordered to be confined by the city, 
without the consent of the animal services division. 

(b)     It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally enter upon the property of 
another person for which the person is not given specific permission to enter for the purpose of 
releasing a confined, chained or tethered animal. 

(c)     It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere or attempt to interfere with the animal 
services officer or to interfere or attempt to interfere with any person acting for the city in the 
taking up and impounding of animals in the city. 

  Sec. 2.01.012     Tampering with traps or equipment set out by animal services officer 

No person shall remove, alter, damage or otherwise tamper with a trap or equipment belonging 
to or set out by the animal services officer. 

 ARTICLE 2.02 ANIMAL SHELTER ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

  Sec. 2.02.001     State law requirement for animal shelter advisory committee 

At any future date if the city creates a city run animal shelter within the city limits, in compliance 
with chapter 823 of the Health and Safety Code an animal shelter advisory committee will be 
created in compliance to the law. 

  Sec. 2.03.001     Animal identification 

(a)     Required; exemptions. Except as provided herein, all animals within the city shall be 
marked by some type of identifying license, tag, band, tattoo or brand by which the animal’s 
owner can be identified. Animals exempted from this requirement are mice, rats, rabbits, 
guineas, hamsters, gerbils, ferrets, fowl and snakes. 



(b)     Feral cats. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution for identification requirements herein 
for cats if it is shown that the cat is feral and properly ear tipped to indicate participation in a 
trap, neuter and release program, and its having been vaccinated against rabies in accordance 
with law. The city’s animal services unit shall have access to vaccination certificates when 
deemed necessary by the unit. 

  Sec. 2.03.002     Running at large 

(a)     Responsible party. It shall be unlawful for any person who owns, keeps, harbors or 
otherwise has control over any animal within the city to allow or permit such animal to run or be 
at large within the city. 

(b)     Cats. The prohibition against an animal running at large shall not apply to a domestic cat 
which has been vaccinated as required by this chapter and which is wearing the required 
vaccination tags or feral cat that has been ear tipped by a feral cat organization. The prohibition 
shall apply to all other cats. 

(c)     Restraint required. An animal shall be considered to be at large if it is not under the control 
of its owner by either a leash, chain, cord or other suitable material attached to a collar or 
harness, or not restrained on the property of the owner by a leash, chain, cord or fence. An 
animal shall be considered not restrained if the property owner is utilizing solely an invisible 
fence or similar technology. An animal inside a vehicle parked in a public place or in the open 
bed of a moving or parked vehicle in a public place shall be considered to be at large unless it is 
restrained in such a manner that it cannot exit the vehicle of its own volition. 

(d)     Snakes. It shall be unlawful for any person to have a snake in any park or other public 
place unless it is within some type of cage, pen or enclosure. 

(e)     Impoundment, citation. The animal services officer for the city may impound any animal 
observed to be at large, whether the animal is on public or private property, subject to the 
applicable provisions of the law. If the animal services officer observes an animal on property 
which is owned by a person other than the owner of the animal, and observes the animal return to 
property of its owner, the animal services officer may impound the animal or issue a citation for 
the animal running at large. In the event the animal is on private property or property of the 
animal’s owner, the animal services officer, his/her agent, or a peace officer may enter the 
property, other than a private dwelling, for the purpose of impoundment or issuance of a citation, 
or both, subject to the applicable provisions of this chapter and law. 

(f)     Prima facie evidence of responsibility for violation. Proof that an animal was found at large 
in violation of this section, together with proof that the defendant was the owner of such animal 
at the time, shall constitute prima facie evidence that the defendant allowed or permitted the 
animal to be at large. 

State law references–Restraint, impoundment and disposition of dogs and cats, Health and Safety 
Code, sec. 826; estrays, Agriculture Code, Ch. 142. 



 Sec. 2.03.003     Confinement of unspayed female dogs and cats during estrus 

(a)     Secured enclosure required. Any unspayed female dog or cat in the state of estrus (heat) 
shall be confined during such period of time in a house, building or secure enclosure, and the 
area of enclosure shall be so constructed that no other dog or cat may gain access to the confined 
animals or to allow the enclosed animal to escape, except for controlled breeding permitted by 
the owner of the female. 

(b)     Chaining or tethering. Additionally, the female dog or cat shall not be chained or tethered, 
except in a secured enclosure, and if chained or tethered within a secured enclosure, the female 
dog or cat may not be chained or tethered in a manner that prevents her from defending herself or 
from avoiding a male. 

(c)     Removal order. Owners who do not comply shall be ordered to immediately remove the 
animal in heat to a veterinary hospital. Failure to comply with the removal order of the animal 
services officer shall be a violation of this chapter and the dog or cat will then be impounded as 
prescribed herein. All expenses incurred as a result of this confinement shall be paid by the 
owner. 

  Sec. 2.03.004     Animal defecation on public property or property of another 

(a)     Prohibited. It is unlawful for the owner or person in control of an animal to intentionally, 
knowingly, recklessly or with criminal negligence allow or permit such animal to defecate on 
any public property or improved private property other than that of the owner of the animal. That 
the animal was at large at the time it defecated on any property shall constitute prima facie 
evidence that the owner or person in control of the animal allowed or permitted the animal to so 
act. 

(b)     Exception. It is an exception to the application of this section that the owner or person in 
control of the animal immediately removed and cleaned up such animal’s feces from public or 
private property. 

 Sec. 2.03.005     Keeping prohibited animal or wild animal 

(a)     No person shall possess, keep or have care, custody or control of a prohibited animal, wild 
animal or wildlife within the city except as provided herein. 

(b)     All persons shall be prohibited from selling, giving, transferring or importing into the city 
any wild animal. 



(c)     This section shall not apply to approved zoological parks or circuses. Nor shall this section 
apply to primary and secondary schools, colleges and universities, zoological parks owned or 
operated by a governmental entity or any animal assisting physically handicapped persons. 

(d)     It shall be a defense to prosecution under this section that the animal being kept was an 
infant or injured animal which was not capable of surviving on its own and that such animal was 
kept for three days or less, or for such reasonable time as was necessary before giving the animal 
to a licensed wildlife rehabilitator. 

  Sec. 2.03.006     Nuisance animals 

(a)   Any animal within the city that unreasonably disturbs, annoys, or alarms persons of ordinary 
sensibility, endangers the public health, safety, or welfare, or substantially interferes with the 
rights of citizens to quiet enjoyment of life or property, including but not limited to: 

(1)     Any animal that chases motor vehicles in a public right-of-way; 

(2)     Any animal, whether or not on the property of its owner and without reasonable 
provocation, that approaches and hisses, barks, or growls at a person in an angry, threatening, 
and ill-tempered manner and causes that person to have an immediate reasonable fear of bodily 
injury, that bites, snaps at, or attacks a person or otherwise interferes with the freedom of 
movement of persons in a public right-of-way, or that attacks and seriously injures or kills 
another animal that was properly confined, restrained, or under the physical control of its owner 
as required by this chapter; 

 (3)     Any animal that is found at-large three (3) or  more times; or any dog in a park or public 
recreation area, unless the dog is controlled by a leash or similar physical restraint or within a 
designated off-leash area within a city park facility, in compliance with posted rules at such city 
park facility and/or off-leash area; 

(4)     Any animal that damages any property other than that of its owner; 

(5)     Any animal that defecates on any common thoroughfare, street, sidewalk, passageway, 
road bypass, play area, park or any place where people congregate or walk upon any public 
property whatsoever, or upon any private property without the permission of the private property 
owner, if the owner of such an animal that soils, defiles, or defecates on any of the above areas 
fails to immediately remove the pet feces and droppings and place them in a designated waste 
receptacle or other suitable waste container; 

(6)     An animal that makes disturbing noises, including but not limited to, continued and 
repeated howling, barking, whining, meowing, crowing, or other utterances in an excessive, 
continuous or unreasonable fashion or at unreasonable hours, causing annoyance, disturbance, or 
discomfort to, or disrupting the quiet enjoyment of neighbors or others in close proximity to the 
premises where the animal is kept or harbored; 



(7)     Any animal that causes unsanitary conditions in enclosures or surroundings where the 
animal is kept or harbored, or that causes noxious or offensive odors which would be 
unreasonably annoying or discomforting to neighbors or others in close proximity to the 
premises where the animal is kept or harbored; 

(8)     Any female animal in heat (estrus) that is not confined so as to prevent attraction or contact 
with animals other than the owner’s, unless for the purpose of planned breeding in compliance 
with all local, state, and federal laws; 

(9)     Any dog in violation of posted rules governing a city park facility and/or off-leash area;  

(10)   Any dangerous wild animal, as defined by section 822, Texas Health & Safety Code or 

(11) Any animal that is a threat to public health safety or welfare by virtue of the number of 
animals. It shall be unlawful for an animal to be or create a public nuisance within the city. 

(b) The owner of a public nuisance animal shall be culpable for any violations of this section. 

(c) Complaints of public nuisance animals 

(1)     Whenever any person shall complain to the animal services officer of an alleged public 
nuisance animal, an animal services officer shall promptly investigate the complaint and notify 
the owner of the animal that a complaint has been received." 

(2)     If the animal services officer does not observe a violation of this article, then the animal 
services officer shall promptly provide to the complaining person a nuisance animal complaint 
form. 

(3)     If the animal services officer observes a violation of this article, or receives from the 
complaining person a signed and completed nuisance animal complaint form, then a citation 
shall be issued to the owner of the alleged public nuisance animal, and, if deemed by the animal 
services officer to be necessary in order to abate an imminent risk to public health, safety, or 
welfare, the animal services officer may impound the alleged public nuisance animal pursuant to 
sections regarding impoundment of this chapter without regard to whether the animal is at-large. 

(d)    Completion and submission of nuisance animal complaint form 

(1)     The nuisance animal complaint form is to be completed voluntarily, truthfully, and 
accurately by the complaining person, signed, and then submitted to the animal services officer, 
police department, or municipal court. 

(2)     By submitting a nuisance animal complaint form, the complaining person agrees to testify 
as the complaining witness if the matter should proceed to trial in municipal court." 

(e)     It shall be unlawful for the owner or harborer of an animal determined a nuisance under 
this section to permit continued or future nuisance behavior or condition(s). Nothing herein 



precludes the city from seeking other remedies if owners fail to comply with the remedial 
requirements stated. 

  Sec. 2.03.007     Keeping bees 

No person shall construct, place or maintain any beehive within 500 feet of any residence other 
than that of the owner except with the consent of the occupants of all such residences. A tract or 
parcel of land where the bees are kept or enclosed must be three acres or more in size. 

  Sec. 2.03.008     Pens or coops for animals other than livestock 

(a)     All chickens and rabbits shall be kept within a coop or hutch. A fenced yard shall not 
qualify as a pen or coop. 

(i) If the animals kept are chickens they must be limited to no more than 10. A rooster is 
prohibited from a backyard coop on a property of less than 3 acres. 

(b)     Any person keeping or harboring any animal, other than livestock, shall locate any pen, 
coop, hutch or other housing at least 50 feet from any residence, excluding the residence of the 
person keeping or harboring the animals. Other ordinances covering nuisances shall still apply  

  Sec. 2.03.009     Staking or pasturing livestock on public land or property of another 
person 

(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person owning or having care, custody or control over any 
livestock, except the horses used by the city police department, to: 

(1)     Cause or permit any livestock to be pastured, herded, staked or tied in any street, lane, 
alley, park or other public place; 

(2)     Tie, stake or pasture or permit the tying, staking or pasturing of any animal upon any 
private property within the city without the consent of the owner or occupant of such property, or 
in such a way as to permit any livestock to trespass upon any street or other public place or upon 
any private property. 

  Sec. 2.03.010     Storage of feed 



All feed provided for animals, other than hay, shall be kept in an enclosed building or container 
except when being used to feed an animal.  

  Sec. 2.03.011     Keeping livestock or fowl; keeping hogs prohibited 

(a)     Keeping hogs prohibited. The keeping of hogs is prohibited if lot size is not 3 acres or 
more. 

(b)     Keeping near city water supply well. 

(1)     It is unlawful and constitutes an offense for any person, whether for himself or as the agent 
or servant of another or others, to keep or to participate in keeping any horse, cattle, sheep, goat, 
other livestock and/or fowl in any pen or lot used to confine any such multiple animal operation 
within 500 feet of any water supply wells from which the city obtains its principal water supply 
as specified in the official Texas Administrative Code published under authority of the secretary 
of state, title 31, Natural Resources and Conservation [title 30, Environmental Quality], section 
290.41(c)(1)(C), (D), (F). 

(2)     “Keeping” means the care and control of the livestock or fowl in question for a period of 
longer than five days. 

 (c) It shall be unlawful for any person to keep livestock within the corporate limits of the city 
unless the livestock is being kept in accordance with the following restrictions:  

(1) The overall lot must be three or more acres in size and the livestock shall be kept on a parcel 
of land that is at least one acre in size. 

(2) There shall be no more than one unit (as defined below) of livestock for the first acre of land. 
There shall be no more than one additional unit of livestock for each additional one-half acre of 
land in the same parcel. For the purpose of this section, units of livestock shall be defined as 
follows:  

(i) The following types of livestock shall be counted as one head equals one unit: horse, stallion, 
mare, gelding, filly, colt, mule, hinny, jack, jenny, llama, and all species of cattle;  

(ii) The following types of livestock shall be counted as one head equals one-half of a unit: all 
species of swine; and  

(iii) The following types of livestock shall be counted as one head equals one-fifth of a unit: 
sheep, goat, and fowl.  

(3) No livestock shall be permitted to graze, forage, or otherwise roam within 50 feet of any 
business or commercial establishment, dwelling, residence, or structure used for human 
occupancy (other than the livestock owner's dwelling or residence). Hogs or any type of swine 



are further restricted to 200 feet of any business or commercial establishment, dwelling, 
residence, or structure used for human occupancy (other than the livestock owner's dwelling or 
residence). Roosters must be kept in a coop and are further restricted to 200 feet of any business 
or commercial establishment, dwelling, residence, or structure used for human occupancy (other 
than the livestock owner's dwelling or residence).  

(4) Barns, stables, corrals, sheds, pens or other similar structure where livestock may be housed, 
fed, or confined, or where food for livestock is stored shall not be located within 200 feet of any 
residence, business or commercial establishment or office (other than the livestock owner's 
residence, business or commercial establishment or office), grocery store, school building, 
church, hospital, nursing home, or restaurant or other food service establishment. 

(5) Livestock shall be enclosed with adequate fences or barriers that will prevent such livestock 
from damaging shrubbery or other property situated on adjacent property. Such fences or barriers 
shall be sufficient to prevent the livestock from escaping the enclosure. 

(6) The owner keeping any livestock shall keep all yards, barns, pens, stables, sheds or other 
enclosures in which such animals are confined in such a manner so as not to give off odors 
offensive to persons of ordinary sensibilities in the immediate vicinity, or to breed or attract flies, 
mosquitoes or other noxious insects or rodents, or in any manner to endanger the public health, 
safety, or welfare, or to create a public nuisance. All yards, barns, pens, stables, sheds or other 
enclosures in which livestock is confined shall be of a size to allow said animals sufficient space 
to move freely and not endanger the health, safety, or welfare of the animal or animals.  

(7) Subsections (1) through (4) of this section shall not apply to a licensed veterinarian at the 
veterinarian's place of business, a riding stable/school or academy, or a sanctioned 4-H or FFA 
livestock project.  

(d)     Exceptions to distance restrictions. The following properties are exempt from the distance 
restrictions and livestock prohibitions of this article. Any distance restrictions or livestock 
prohibitions set forth in other ordinances of the city shall continue to apply. 

(1)     Property zoned as Rural/Agricultural District (R/A-1) according to the zoning ordinance of 
the city; or 

(2)     Property properly zoned and used for veterinary hospitals, permitted kennels that are used 
solely for the care and boarding animals, or existing shipping pens utilized for temporary holding 
before shipment or sale of animals. 

  Sec. 2.03.012     Disposal of dead animals and fowl 

In compliance with Texas Administrative Code, Title 4, Part2, Chapter 59; It is unlawful for any 
person in the city to cause to be placed or place or allow to remain in or near his premises or the 



premises of any other person, or in any of the streets or other public roadways, any dead animal, 
either wild or domesticated, or any dead fowl, either wild or domesticated. 

  ARTICLE 2.04 ANIMAL PROTECTION* 

  Sec. 2.04.001     Animals in motor vehicles 

(a)     Leaving animal in standing or parking vehicle. It shall be unlawful for any person to leave 
any animal in any standing or parked vehicle in such a way as to intentionally, knowingly, 
recklessly, or with criminal negligence endanger the animal’s health, safety or welfare. An 
animal services officer or police officer is authorized to use reasonable force to remove the 
animal from the vehicle whenever it appears that the animal’s health, safety or welfare is or will 
be endangered if the owner of the vehicle cannot be located after reasonable attempts. The 
animal shall be taken to the animal shelter or to a veterinarian if the animal is in distress. A 
written notice bearing the name of the officer removing the animal, a telephone number where he 
can be contacted and the location where the animal may be claimed by the owner shall be 
attached to the vehicle. Any person violating this section shall bear the full cost and expense 
incurred by the city in the care, medical treatment, impoundment cost and disposal of the animal, 
including the removal from a vehicle, in addition to any criminal penalty that may be imposed 
under this section. 

(b)     Vehicle involved in accident or other incident. Instances where occupants of motor 
vehicles are involved in a traffic accident or other vehicle-related incidents which result in 
animals being left uncontrolled or unattended, animal services or police officers of the city are 
authorized to take welfare custody of such unattended animals. In the interest of the health, 
safety or welfare of such animals, officers are authorized to transport such animals to the 
regional shelter, a veterinarian, a humane shelter, or an animal emergency clinic. Information 
shall be provided to the animal’s owner as to the animal’s disposition. Animal owners shall bear 
the full cost and expense incurred by the city in the care, medical treatment, impoundment costs 
or other associated costs. 

  Sec. 2.04.002     Duties of person striking animal with motor vehicle 

(a)     Any person who, as the operator of a motor vehicle within the city, strikes any animal shall 
report the accident to the police department within a reasonable time if the animal stricken is on 
or near the roadway so that it constitutes a potential traffic hazard. It shall be an affirmative 
defense to any violation under this section that the incident occurred while the operator was 
responding to an emergency and that the incident was reported as soon as possible. 

(b)     Any person who, as the operator of a motor vehicle, strikes a domestic animal shall 
immediately report such injury or death to the animal’s owner; in the event the owner cannot be 



ascertained and located, such operator shall at once report the accident to the appropriate law 
enforcement agency or the local humane society. 

  Sec. 2.04.003     Unlawful restraint of Dog. 

Restrictions on unlawful restraint found in HSC Sec. 821. 

  Sec. 2.04.004     Selling dyed animals 

It shall be unlawful for any person to sell or offer for sale, raffle, offer or give as a prize, 
premium or an advertising device or cause to be displayed in any store, shop, carnival or other 
public place an animal or fowl of any kind that has been dyed or otherwise colored artificially.  

  Sec. 2.04.005     Giving animal as prize or inducement 

(a)     No person shall give away any live animal, reptile, fowl, livestock or wildlife as a prize for 
or as an inducement to enter any contest, game or other competition; or as an inducement to enter 
a place of amusement; or as an incentive to enter into any business agreement whereby the offer 
is for the purpose of attracting trade. This prohibition shall apply to carnivals, fairs and circuses. 

(b)     The prohibition contained in this section shall not apply to fish or to animals given as 
prizes at a rodeo contest or livestock show or as part of an FFA, 4-H or similar project. 

  Sec. 2.04.006     Trapping, hunting, shooting or killing animals 

(a)     Trapping restrictions and requirements. It shall be unlawful to set, trigger, activate or 
otherwise use, or cause to be set, triggered, activated or used, any steel-jawed leg-hold trap. 
Except for authorized licensed trappers, trapping of animals at high risk for rabies is prohibited. 
These animals include raccoon, fox, coyote and skunk. Traps classified as “live traps,” used by 
citizens for the capture of feral cats must be done in conjunction with animal services, a feral cat 
organization for spay/neuter and vaccination or an authorized humane shelter. Citizen's setting 
such traps are responsible for taking the animal in to the organization providing the feral cat 
service. 

Consistent with the provisions herein, animal services is authorized to utilize humane “live traps” 
and may conduct trapping operations or provide or authorize such devices’ use to property 



owners as may be needed throughout the city for rabies control and investigation. Citizens 
should not remove or tamper with any trap set by animal services for this purpose. This 
subsection is not intended to prohibit the prudent use of traps on one’s own property to control 
rodents. 

(b)     Hunting or killing prohibited. It shall be unlawful for any person to hunt, shoot, 
intentionally injure or kill any wild bird, animal, mammal or reptile within the corporate limits of 
the city. It shall be unlawful for any person to hunt, shoot or kill, within the city, any domestic 
bird, animal, mammal, reptile or pet that is not owned by such person. Except this subsection 
shall not be construed or interpreted to prohibit the destruction of venomous snakes or to prohibit 
the police officers from utilizing certain firearms in emergency field conditions where such 
actions are provided for by law or policy. 

(c)     Shooting domestic animal. It shall be unlawful for any person to shoot a domestic animal 
within the corporate limits of the city. It shall be a defense to prosecution that the domestic 
animal shot was a vicious animal and presenting an immediate threat to personal or public safety. 
Except this subsection shall not be construed or interpreted to prohibit police officers from 
utilizing certain firearms in emergency field conditions where such actions are provided for by 
law or policy. 

  Sec. 2.04.007     Molesting animals 

It shall be unlawful for any person to in any manner tease, annoy, disturb, molest or irritate an 
animal that is confined to the owner’s premises. 

  Sec. 2.04.008     Pens, coops, hutches, and enclosures; requirements 

(a)     The owners of any animal shall maintain and keep all pens, coops, kennels, fenced areas 
and enclosures of any kind in a sanitary condition. This shall include the following: 

(1)     All animal wastes shall be disposed of promptly and all pens and enclosures shall be 
cleaned as needed to prevent odors and not draw insects or other vermin or create a nuisance. 

(2)     The premises upon which animals are kept shall be clean and free from noxious and 
unpleasant odors. 

(3)     Some standard spray or other chemicals shall be used at reasonable intervals to keep the 
premises free of flies, mosquitoes, ticks, fleas and other vectors. 

(b)     Cages, coops, hutches, pens or enclosures used to confine animals shall be of sufficient 
size and material to securely contain and maintain all of the animals within such pen, coop, 
hutch, or enclosure comfortably and in good health. 



(c) Coops and hutches must be enclosed to prevent the animal or fowl from escaping. 

  Sec. 2.04.009     Negligent care 

(a)     It is unlawful for any person to fail, refuse or neglect to provide any animal in his charge or 
custody, as owner or otherwise, with proper food, water, shade, adequate shelter, veterinary care 
when needed to prevent suffering, grooming when lack thereof would adversely affect the health 
of the animal, and with humane care and treatment. 

(b)     To provide “adequate shelter” for a dog or cat kept outdoors, a person must provide a 
shelter accessible to the dog or cat meeting the following standards: 

(1)     The shelter must provide protection from the weather, i.e., sun, wind, precipitation (in 
whatever form), or other inclement weather conditions. 

(2)     If there are no artificial heat sources, the structure shall be small enough to allow the dog 
or cat to warm the interior of the structure and maintain its body heat, but large enough to permit 
normal postural adjustments, or standing. 

(3)     Plastic air shipping containers and/or pet carriers shall not be used as outdoor shelters. 

(c)     A written warning of violation requiring that the condition be corrected within a specified 
time period shall be issued to a person before any notice to appear at the municipal court may be 
issued or before a complaint may be filed with the municipal court. 

  Sec. 2.04.010     Animal in state of pain or suffering 

(a)     If any animal without a license tag or other identifying marker is found in a state of pain 
and suffering or becomes so during confinement, the animal services unit may dispose of the 
animal in any humane manner without complying with the three-day (72-hour) waiting period as 
set out herein. 

(b)     If the owner or keeper of an animal found in a state of pain or suffering refuses to assume 
responsibility to care for the animal, the animal services officer may dispose of the animal in a 
humane manner. 

  Sec. 2.04.011     Sale of animals in public place 

(a)     Not in lieu of or withstanding any permit requirements imposed herein, if an animal is 
offered for sale in a public place within the city, the person offering the animal for sale, the 



owner of the animal, the manager of the property which is the public place on which the offer is 
being made, and the owner of the property which is the public place on which the offer is being 
made shall be responsible for ensuring that the animal protections of this article are complied 
with in regard to the animal offered for sale in a public place during the time the animal is in the 
public place. 

(b)     The term “public place” as used herein shall mean any place to which the public or a 
substantial group of the public has access. It shall include, but is not limited to, shops, stores and 
flea markets. 

(c)     If an animal offered for sale in a public place is kept within a cage or pen of any type, such 
cage or pen shall comply with the following requirements: 

(1)     The cage or pen must be large enough for the animal to stand on all of its legs and hold its 
head in a natural position and not be in a crouched position. The cage or pen must also have 
enough room for the animal to turn around or move without stepping on another animal, animal 
feces or food or water provided for the animal. 

(2)     The cage or pen must either have room for water and food or have water and food situated 
so that the animal has access to it through the cage. 

(3)     The cage or pen must be situated so that air may circulate through it, so that any animal 
kept within the cage or pen is not exposed to extreme heat. During cold or inclement weather, 
cages or pens should be situated so that animals contained therein may stay warm and stay dry. 

  Sec. 2.04.012     Using property for purpose of conducting animal fights; 

Possession of fighting equipment with intent that the equipment be used to train a dog for dog 
fighting or in furtherance of dog fighting or intentionally or knowingly acting in violation of the 
State law reference, Dog fighting, Penal Code, sec. 42.10. 

  Sec. 2.04.013     Cruelly treated animals. 

No person shall abandon, beat, cruelly  treat, torment, torture, mentally abuse, overload, 
overwork, poison, trip, use as a lure, fail to unreasonably provide necessary  food, water, care, or 
shelter, or otherwise abuse an animal or cause, instigate or permit any dogfight, cockfight, 
bullfight or other combat between animals or between animals and humans.  

State law references–Cruelty to Livestock Animals, Penal Code, sec. 42.09; Cruelty to Non-
Livestock,  Penal Code, sec. 42.092; dog fighting, Penal Code, sec. 42.10. 



  Sec. 2.04.014     Slaughtering of animals 

Animals may be slaughtered for human or animal consumption within the city, provided it is 
done at a location that is shielded from sensory perception of the general public, and provided it 
is done in a manner designed to cause the animal’s death as quickly as possible without needless 
suffering.  

  Sec. 2.04.017     Health hazards or offensive odors 

Any person who shall harbor or keep animals on his/her premises, or in or about premises under 
his/her control, and who allows such premises to become a hazard to the general health and 
welfare of the community, or who shall allow such premises to give off obnoxious or offensive 
odors due to the activity or presence of such animals, shall be guilty of a class C misdemeanor. 

  Sec. 2.05.001     Purpose and intent 

Follow Health and Safety Code, chapter 822 regarding dangerous dogs. 

  Sec. 2.05.002     Dangerous dogs 

(a)    See sections Health and Safety code section 822.001 for definitions of animal control 
authority, serious bodily injury, dangerous dog and secure. 

 (b) See Health and Safety Code sections 822.002 regarding seizure of a dog causing death or 
serious bodily injury to a person. 

(c) See Health and Safety Code sections 822.003 regarding a hearing 

  Sec. 2.05.003     Potentially dangerous animals 

Any prohibitions against potentially dangerous animals are found in Health and Safety code 
section 822. 

  Sec. 2.05.005     Exhibitions of certain animals prohibited 



Any prohibitions on exhibitions of certain animals are found in Health and Safety code section 
822. 

  Sec. 2.05.006     Prohibited animals generally 

Any prohibitions on possession of certain animals are found in Health and Safety code section 
822. 

  Sec. 2.05.008     Permit and certificates of registration for circus and zoo operations 

Regulation of circus and zoo operation will be compliance with Texas Administrative Code 169, 
subchapter B. 

  Sec. 2.05.009     Violations; civil penalty 

Violations and handling of violations will be compliance with Texas Administrative Code 169, 
subchapter B. 

  Sec. 2.05.077     Registration; requirements for owner 

In compliance with HSC 822, dangerous dog owners must comply with all requirements and the 
dangerous dog must be registered. The owner must register the dog with animal services and pay 
the fees as required by state law not later than 30 days after the owner is notified that the dog is 
dangerous. The registration shall not be transferable and shall expire one year from date of 
issuance. The animal services officer shall provide to the owner of the registered dangerous dog 
a tag, which must be placed on the dog’s collar and worn at all times. The owner must also 
comply with the following to register the dog: 

 (a)     Post a sign on his/her premises warning that there is a dangerous dog on the property. This 
sign shall be visible and capable of being read from the public street or highway. In addition, the 
owner shall conspicuously display a sign with a symbol warning, understandable by small 
children, of the presence of a dangerous dog; and the enclosure shall be locked with a key or 
combination type lock to ensure small children cannot enter the enclosure.  

(b)     Further identification may be required and designated by the order of the city. 

 (c)     Prior to selling or moving the registered dangerous dog either inside or outside the city 
limits, the owner must notify the animal services officer of his/her intentions. In the event the 



dog is moved permanently outside the city limits, the owner must comply with the state law in 
notifying the animal services unit in control of the area into which the dog has been moved. 

(d) Dogs that have been previously declared dangerous by another city, county, state, or entity 
will not be allowed to reside within the city limits of Leander.  

  ARTICLE 2.06 IMPOUNDMENT* 

  Division 1. Generally 

  Sec. 2.06.001     Authorized; fees 

(a)     Animals owned or harbored in violation of this chapter or laws of the state or those 
safekeeping or humane situations provided in this chapter shall be taken into custody by an 
animal services officer or other designated official and may be impounded under this article. 

(b)     Owners of impounded pets are required to pay all fees related to the impoundment as set 
by the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter. 

  Sec. 2.06.002     Tampering with animal shelter or impoundment vehicle 

It shall be unlawful for any person in the city without proper authority to break into, open, pull 
down any enclosure belonging to or used by the city to impound or temporarily keep animals. It 
shall also be unlawful for any person to turn out or release, or cause to be turned out or released, 
or aid or abet the turning out or release of any animal from an impoundment vehicle or from any 
enclosure used by the city for the impoundment of animals.  

  Sec. 2.06.003     Redemption of impounded animal 

(a)     Generally. Except as may be provided elsewhere in this article, the owner of any animal 
impounded in accordance with this article may reclaim, during shelter hours open to the public, 
such animal upon showing satisfactory proof of ownership and paying all impoundment fees and 
any other expenses incurred by the city or its agent in keeping the animal or attempting to locate 
the owner of the animal. If the owner does not pay such fees, or some alternate fee satisfaction as 
provided for in section 2.01.009 of this chapter, the animal may be sold or otherwise disposed of 
by the city or its agent. 

(b)     Spaying or neutering of dogs and cats. If a dog or cat has been impounded at the regional 
shelter, a fee will be imposed per Williamson County Regional Shelter rules. The cost to spay or 



neuter the dog or cat shall be paid by the owner, along with the impoundment fees, to the animal 
shelter.  

 

 

  Sec. 2.06.004     Disposition of impounded animals 

(a)     Dogs and cats with no identification. All dogs and cats impounded by the animal services 
officer, or brought to the animal shelter by a person other than the harborer or owner of that 
animal, shall be held for a minimum of 72 hours, during which time period the owner may 
present proof of ownership at the shelter. After paying all applicable fees, that owner may 
reclaim the dog/cat. In the event that the dog/cat is not claimed after 72 hours in the shelter, the 
dog/cat shall become the property of the shelter. 

(b)     Dogs and cats with identification. Unless earlier claimed by the owner, all dogs and cats 
impounded by the animal services officer, or brought to the animal shelter by a person other than 
the harborer or owner of that animal, that are wearing traceable identification, or where an owner 
is known, shall be held in the shelter for a minimum time period set by the Williamson County 
Regional Animal Shelter from the time the animal enters the facility, during which time the 
animal services officer will notify the owner, when known, of the impoundment. Unless the 
owner has notified the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter in compliance with shelter 
policy of his/her intentions to claim the dog/cat after that date, listing a date by which time that 
owner will reclaim the dog/cat and satisfy all applicable fees, and this arrangement has been 
approved by the shelter staff, the animal shall become the shelter’s property after the minimum 
amount of time. 

(c)     Animals surrendered by owner/harborer. All animals surrendered by the owner/harborer to 
the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter in compliance with shelter policy and fees shall 
become the property of the shelter immediately upon completion of the owner/harborer surrender 
form. 

(d)     Animals other than dogs, cats, or estrays. All animals other than dogs, cats, or estrays that 
are impounded by the animal services officer, or brought to the animal shelter by a person other 
than the owner/harborer, shall become the property of the shelter unless such ownership is 
prohibited by state or federal law. 

(e)     Unclaimed animals. Any animal that cannot be adopted or transferred to a proper and 
appropriate agency shall be euthanized in compliance with Williamson County Regional Animal 
Shelter policy and administered in compliance with policy and the laws of the state after 
expiration of any period for the owner to claim the animal. All animals listed as endangered or 
protected shall be transferred to the proper authority at the earliest possible date. 

 



  Sec. 2.06.005     Adoption of impounded animals 

(a)     All animals which are adopted from the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter shall 
be surgically altered to prevent reproduction in that animal, in compliance with shelter policy.  

 

 

  Secs. 2.06.006–2.06.030     Reserved 

 

  Division 2. Livestock and Fowl* 

  Sec. 2.06.031     Allowing livestock, fowl or pigeons to be at large 

Owners of livestock and fowl must be in compliance with Agriculture Code section 142 
regarding estrays. 

 

  ARTICLE 2.07 LICENSING AND RABIES CONTROL 

  Division 1. Generally 

  Sec. 2.07.001     Enforcement 

For the purposes of discharging the duties imposed by this article and to enforce its provisions, 
any peace officer or animal services officer is empowered to enter upon any premises upon 
which an animal is kept or harbored and to demand the exhibition by the owner of such animal of 
the license for such animal in accordance with the provisions of this article, to include random 
city-wide canvassing and checks for compliance with this article. The owner of any animal is 
required to produce the license and vaccination information for each animal in his ownership 
upon demand by an animal services officer or peace officer. 

 

  Sec. 2.07.002     Counterfeiting or destroying vaccination tag, certificate or license 

(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally or knowingly counterfeit a rabies 
vaccination tag or certificate or a license. 

(b)     It shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally or knowingly destroy a rabies 
vaccination tag or certificate. 



 

  Secs. 2.07.003–2.07.030     Reserved 

 

  Division 2. Licensing* 

  Sec. 2.07.031     License required; issuance; tag or other identification 

(a) Modified registration. Registration with city is not required for animals that are microchipped 
and spayed or neutered. All animals four months of age or older which are kept, harbored or 
maintained within the corporate limits of the city shall be microchipped.  To be eligible for this 
modified registration, the owner's name, current address and current phone number must be on 
file with the microchip manufacturer. The manufacturer will maintain information about the pet 
including the breed, color, name, and sex of the animal. Dangerous dogs are not eligible for 
modified registration. 

(b) Tags. No tag and no registration fee are required for a neutered or spayed animal with a 
microchip. Owners desiring a registration tag instead of a microchip, must present current rabies 
vaccination documentation and must renew the registration every year. Owners of dangerous 
dogs requiring registration, must apply for a tag. Upon payment of the license fee, where 
applicable, the city shall issue to the owner a license certificate and metal tag having stamped 
thereon the number corresponding with the number of the certificate. Such tag shall at all times 
be securely attached to a collar or harness around the neck of the animal. In case a tag is lost, a 
duplicate will be issued by the animal services officer or his agent upon presentation of the 
receipt showing the payment of license fee for the current 12 month registration. Tags shall not 
be transferable from one animal to another, and no refunds shall be made. 

(c)     Livestock. All livestock shall be tagged or tattooed and the tag or tattoo will be the 
identification tag required to be worn and will be shown on the license. 

 

  Sec. 2.07.032     Revocation of registration 

(a) The chief of police may revoke any registration after a hearing where an affirmative finding 
on any one or more of the following facts issues: 

(1)     That impoundment of the animal by the city more than two times during a 12 month period 
has occurred; 

(2)     That more than two final convictions of a person for violating this article when such 
convictions relate to the animal being considered for revocation of its license certificate have 
been entered into the official court docket; or 



(3)     Any combination of subsections (a)(1) and (a)(2) of this section totaling three incidents. 

(b)     Notice of revocation hearing setting the hearing date no sooner than 10 days from the 
service or certified mailing shall be served in person to the owner or such notice deemed served 
when made by certified letter, return receipt requested and addressed to the last known mailing 
address of the animal’s owner and deposited in the U.S. mail. 

(c) Upon revoking the registration of any animal, the animal services officer shall notify the 
owner of the animal of such action in writing. Written notification shall be deemed made when 
[made by] a certified letter, return receipt requested, addressed to the last known mailing address 
of the animal’s owner and deposited in the U.S. mail. 

(d) Upon the expiration of ten days after written notification of revocation is deposited in the 
U.S. mail, as provided above, no animal which has had its registration revoked shall be kept, 
maintained or harbored within the city limits, and each 24-hour period shall constitute a separate 
violation. 

(e) Upon revocation of a registration, the owner of the animal with the revoked registration shall 
notify the animal services officer of the location to which the animal is being removed. 

(f)     Appeals of revocation hearing findings must be filed with the city manager within ten days 
of receiving notice of the action. Such notices shall be written without want of form but must 
include the statement “Notice of Appeal of Decision of the Chief of Police in Revocation 
Hearing,” containing a statement of the reason(s) for the appeal, and signed by the animal owner 
making the appeal. The city manager or designee shall hear the appeal. At the hearing, the formal 
rules of evidence do not apply. The hearing officer shall make his/her decision on the basis of a 
preponderance of the evidence presented. The hearing officer may affirm, reverse, or modify the 
action of the chief; however, a decision must be rendered within 60 days after the appeal. The 
decision of the hearing officer is final. 

 

  Secs. 2.07.033–2.07.060     Reserved 

 

  Division 3. Rabies Control* 

  Sec. 2.07.061     Vaccination required 

Vaccination of dogs and cats required per HSC section 826, subchapter C. 

 

  Sec. 2.07.063     Failure to vaccinate animal; dismissal of offense upon proof of vaccination 



The failure of a dog or cat to wear a vaccination tag on a collar shall be prima facie evidence of 
the failure to vaccinate the animal as required by this article. To prove that a dog or cat was 
vaccinated at the time of the offense, the owner of the dog or cat must present a copy of the 
vaccination certificate issued by the veterinarian that shows the date the vaccination was 
administered. The offense shall be dismissed upon verification that the animal alleged in the 
offense was vaccinated on the date of the offense with the payment of an administrative fee as 
set forth in the fee schedule in appendix A of this code.  

 

  Sec. 2.07.064     Reporting requirements 

(a)     It shall be the duty of all animal owners, veterinarians, physicians or any other person to 
report to the animal services officer all cases of rabies with which he comes in contact or to 
which his attention has been directed. This report shall be made immediately upon diagnosis or 
suspicion of a case of rabies. 

(b)     Any person having knowledge of an animal bite or scratch to an individual or to another 
animal by an animal which the person suspects is rabid shall report that incident to the animal 
services officer within 24 hours. 

(c)     Every physician or other medical practitioner who treats a person or persons for any animal 
bite/scratch that occurred within the city shall within 12 hours report such treatment to the 
animal services officer giving the name, age, sex and precise location of the bitten/scratched 
person or persons and such other information as the officer or agency may require. 

(d)     Any veterinarian who clinically diagnoses rabies or any person who suspects rabies in a 
dog, cat or other domestic or wild animal shall immediately report the incident to the animal 
services officer stating precisely where such animal may be found. 

(e)     If a known suspected rabid animal bites or scratches a domestic animal, such incident shall 
also be reported immediately to the animal services officer. 

 

  Sec. 2.07.065     Contents of reports 

When an individual is placed under a duty to report an incident in which an animal has bitten or 
scratched some person or some animal or to report an animal known or suspected to be rabid, 
that report to the animal services officer shall include, if the person making the report knows, the 
following information: 

(1)     The location where the bite or scratch occurred. 

(2)     The location where the animal which committed the act or which is known or suspected to 
have rabies or have been exposed to rabies can be located. 



(3)     The name and address of any person who was bitten or scratched. 

(4)     The name and address of the person who owns, keeps, harbors or has control over the 
premises where the animal committing the act normally can be found. 

(5)     The names and addresses of the persons who own, keep or harbor [or have control over the 
premises where] any other animal exposed to rabies can be found. 

 

  Sec. 2.07.066     Animal bites and scratches; quarantine of animal 

(a)     Report of victim. Any person who is bitten or scratched by an animal shall report that fact 
to the animal services officer within 24 hours. If the person bitten or scratched is a minor under 
the age of 17, the parent or guardian of such minor, if he has knowledge of the incident, shall 
report that fact to the animal services officer within 24 hours. 

(b)     Report of animal owner. A person who owns, keeps, harbors or allows an animal to remain 
on premises under his control and who has knowledge of a bite shall report to the animal services 
officer within 24 hours any incident where such animal bit or scratched any person. 

(c)     Quarantine. The animal committing the act shall be submitted into quarantine by the owner 
of the animal. If the owner cannot be located, animal services may impound and submit the 
animal into quarantine at the contracted shelter or humanely euthanize and submit the animal for 
rabies testing.  When the local rabies control authority goes to the premises where the animal that 
bit or scratched any person is being kept, the animal services officer may take immediate custody 
of the animal. Where suitable arrangements are made, the local rabies control authority may 
permit the animal to be transferred from the location of the incident to approved quarantine 
facility for the remainder of the quarantine period. This duty to submit the animal to quarantine 
shall apply to any person who owns, keeps, harbors, has possession of or allows an animal to 
remain on premises under his control. If convicted of violating this section, a minimum fine as 
set forth in the general penalty provision in section 1.01.009 of this code shall be imposed by the 
municipal court. 

(d)     Observation of animal. Any owned dog or cat having bitten or scratched a person shall be 
observed for a period of ten days (240 hours) from the date and time of the bite. The procedure 
and place of observation shall be designated by the investigating officer or responsible agency in 
compliance with state law. If the dog or cat is not confined on the owner’s premises for owner’s 
quarantine, confinement shall be by impoundment in the animal shelter, or at a veterinary 
hospital of the owner’s choice. Such confinement shall be at the owner’s expense. 

(e)     Strays. Stray dogs and cats, or those animals whose owners cannot be located, may be 
confined in the animal shelter or may be destroyed and the brain of such animal immediately 
submitted to a qualified laboratory for rabies examination at the victim’s expense. 



(f)     Temporary surrender of animal. The owner of any dog or cat that has been reported to have 
inflicted a bite or broken skin on any person shall on demand produce the dog or cat for 
quarantine, as prescribed in this article. 

(h)     Wild, exotic or dangerous animals. Any wild, exotic or dangerous animal that is 
considered high risk by state law or regulation and which has bitten or scratched a person shall 
be caught and humanely killed and the brain submitted for rabies examination. Those wild 
animals which are classified as low risk animals shall be handled as dictated by state law. 

(i) Quarantine at residence. An animal owner who quarantines the animal at their residence with 
the animal services officer’s permission under the following conditions: 

(1)     The animal must have a current rabies vaccination, must not have been running at large at 
the time of the scratch or bite, and be registered with animal services;  

(2)     The animal must be inside an enclosed structure, i.e., a house or garage, and must remain 
there for ten days (240 hours); 

(3)     The animal must be kept away from other animals and people including those in the 
immediate household; only minimal contact with caretaker allowed during home quarantine. 

(4)     The animal may not be removed from the corporate city limits while under quarantine 
unless approved by animal services. 

(5)     The owner shall notify the animal services officer immediately if the animal becomes sick 
or displays any behavioral changes; 

(6)     The owner shall not subject the animal to any medical procedure without first notifying the 
animal services officer. This includes any vaccinations; 

(7)     The animal must be examined by the local rabies control authority or designee by the first 
day of home quarantine and released by a final examination by a licensed veterinarian. Upon 
final examination, the veterinarian may declare the animal to be free of the rabies virus.  The 
owner shall be responsible for all associated costs and when required produce proof of such 
veterinarian examinations;  

(8)     Owners who are deemed habitual offenders, as defined herein, shall not be allowed home 
quarantine; 

(9)     The owner must allow animal services, with reasonable notice, to view and confirm the 
health of the animal during the rabies quarantine period. 

 

Sec. 2.07.067     Release of quarantined animal 



(a)     When an animal is required to be placed in quarantine, the animal shall be submitted for 
quarantine at an approved facility. The owner will be responsible for all fees and cost associated 
with quarantine. Only with the prior approval of the local rabies control authority may the animal 
be held in quarantine at any other location. 

(b)     Any animal quarantined shall be held for a period of ten days (240 hours)  from the date 
and time of the exposure.  The animal shall not be released from quarantine until such release has 
been approved by the local rabies control authority. 

(c)     Upon release of an animal from quarantine, if the ownership of the animal is known, such 
owner shall be responsible for all associated fees and costs of quarantine and contact the 
quarantine facility for release of said animal. If the ownership of the animal is unknown, the 
animal may be disposed of as provided in this article without waiting for an additional 72 hours. 

 

  Sec. 2.07.068     Submission of head for rabies diagnosis 

(a)     If the animal biting or scratching a person is a wild animal, the animal shall be humanely 
destroyed in such a manner that the brain is not mutilated. The head shall then be submitted to a 
laboratory certified by the department of state health services for rabies diagnosis. 

(b)     If an animal being quarantined becomes ill, it may be humanely destroyed in such a 
manner that the head is not mutilated. The head shall then be submitted to a laboratory certified 
by the department of state health services for rabies diagnosis. The head of each animal dying 
while in quarantine shall also be submitted for rabies diagnosis. 

 

  ARTICLE 2.08 COMMERCIAL ANIMAL ENTERPRISES AND MULTIPLE ANIMAL 
OWNERSHIP 

  Sec. 2.08.001     Permit required 

Commercial activity:     (a) Permits shall be required for all commercial animal enterprises. 
Commercial animal enterprises shall include but not be limited to enterprises such as kennel 
facility, pet shops, riding stables, animal auctions, performing animal exhibitions, animal training 
services, grooming shops, petting zoos, aviaries or any similar entrepreneurial relationships 
regarding animals. 

 

  Sec. 2.08.002     Term of permit; fee; denial; correction of conditions; appeals 

(a)     Term of permit; fee. Permits shall be valid for one year from date of issuance. The permit 
fee shall be as provided for in the fee schedule found in appendix A of this code. 



(b)     Denial of permit. The animal services officer, upon an inspection finding inconsistent with 
the permit inspection requirements of this article, may deny the issuance of such permit and 
prescribe corrections for the applicant to meet the requirements of this article. Applicants shall 
be given a reasonable amount of time to make such corrections and submit to a reinspection for 
compliance. Applicants contesting original denial or subsequent reinspection denial shall have a 
right to appeal. Appeal of such denial of permit shall be in writing to the chief of police within 
10 days from the receipt of the denial notification. If no written appeal is received within the 
prescribed period, the denial is final. In instances of a timely appeal, the chief of police shall 
conduct a hearing to determine the validity of the denial. At such hearings, the formal rules of 
evidence do not apply, and the chief shall make determinations based on a preponderance of 
evidence presented. The chief shall render a decision within 30 days from receipt of the appeal 
and the decision of the chief shall be subject to appeal to the city manager, in writing, within 5 
days of the ruling being delivered. The city manager may elect to hear the appeal by review or a 
de novo informal preponderance of evidence hearing. The city manager’s decision is final. 

(c)     Inspections; correction of conditions. [If] The animal services officer, as a part of random 
inspections of permitted facilities or upon complaint of noncompliance, finds inconsistencies in 
permitted facilities adequately maintaining the requirements set out in section 2.08.003 of this 
article, the officer may prescribe corrections for compliance. Such corrections shall be made in a 
reasonable time by the permit holder followed by a reinspection for compliance. Any permitted 
facility refusing corrections or failing after reinspection shall be temporarily suspended, pending 
a hearing to consider revocation of permit. Such a hearing shall be conducted by the chief of 
police within 10 days of the suspension. Proper notice of such a hearing shall be sent, in person 
or via certified mail (return receipt requested), to the permit holder. The formal rules of evidence 
do not apply to such hearings and the chief shall make decisions based on a preponderance of 
evidence presented. The chief may order an inspection/reinspection by a different officer, [or] 
make a personal inspection/reinspection of the permitted premises in addition to other evidence 
that may be heard. The chief’s decision will be rendered within 10 days of the hearing and the 
chief may: 

(1)     Uphold the suspension and formally revoke the permit; or 

(2)     Vacate the suspension and reinstate the permit to valid status. 

A default judgment may be entered if the permit holder fails to appear for the hearing after 
receiving proper notice. A permit holder subject to permit revocation may appeal the chief’s 
ruling to the city manager, in writing, within 5 days of the ruling being delivered. The city 
manager may elect to hear the appeal by review or a de novo informal preponderance of 
evidence hearing. The city manager’s decision is final. 

 

  Sec. 2.08.003     Facility requirements 

Upon inspection of the premises by the animal services officer, the permit shall be issued if the 
following conditions are met: 



(1)     The facility must be adequate for the number and type of animals to be kept: 

(A)     The facility must be of sufficient size as to allow animals to move about freely. This shall 
apply to each animal kept. The size of facility shall be in proportion to the size of the individual 
animal’s height and weight. 

(B)     Adequate food and water must be provided so that each and all animals kept shall be 
maintained in good health and free of malnutrition and/or dehydration. 

(C)     The premises shall be kept in a sanitary condition and reasonably free of animal waste, 
parasites, insects and flies that could be harmful to the animal’s health and/or to the health of the 
general public. 

(2)     The animals and the facility must be kept free of odor or stench which is offensive to a 
person of ordinary sensibilities. 

(3)     The animals must be maintained in a manner which does not pose a danger to the health of 
the animals themselves or to adjacent animals. 

(4)     The animals must not cause noise which is offensive or disturbing to a person of ordinary 
sensibilities on adjoining, adjacent or neighboring premises. 

(5)     The applicant or holder of the permit shall not have been issued citations for violation of 
this article on two separate occasions, or animals covered by or to be covered by the permit have 
not been impounded on two separate occasions. 

(6)     The chief of police shall adopt standard operational procedures for the animal services unit 
consistent with this article in providing guidelines and standards for the inspection of such 
facilities for permitting and for the periodic monitoring of such facilities. Such permitted 
facilities may be randomly inspected for compliance with the basic requirements stated herein at 
any reasonable time for a commercial animal enterprise permitted facility. Refusal to allow such 
inspections shall be grounds for permit revocation. 

 

  Sec. 2.08.004     Revocation of permit 

Any commercial animal enterprise permit may be revoked if the owner’s facility is found to be in 
violation of this article, any zoning law, health law or any other applicable ordinance of the city 
or of the state, or the facility is maintained in such a manner as to be detrimental to the health, 
safety or peace of mind of persons residing in the immediate vicinity. 

 

  Sec. 2.08.005     Multi-pet Owner 



(a)   No household shall maintain, harbor or care for more than five total dogs and cats. 

(b) Exceptions; a household may have seven total dogs and cats if all are registered with the city, 
spayed or neutered and kept in separate kennels. A household assisting in fostering animals for 
the Williamson County Regional Shelter or similar problem may have more animals if the 
household has a letter on official letterhead or other official documentation from the shelter 
stating that they are fostering animals. If it is on an ongoing basis, the approximately number of 
animals at any given time they would foster; if it is on an individual basis, the approximate time 
and number of animals fostered.  Such a household should produce this to animal services upon 
request. 



Recommended ordinance revision 
Sec. 2.01.001     Definitions 
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
Abuse. To mistreat through intent to abuse or reckless neglect of any animal in a manner that 
causes or is likely to cause stress or physical injury or as otherwise stated in this chapter. 
Animal. Any living creature, both domestic and wild, except humans. The term "animal' 
includes fowl, livestock, and reptiles.   
Animal services division, animal services authority, or animal services officer. The animal 
services division of the city’s police department, its animal services officers and/or peace 
officers. 
Animal Shelter. A facility that may be temporarily contracted or designated by the chief of 
police for animal impoundment under the provisions of this chapter.  
Animal welfare group. An association or nonprofit corporation who has as one of its purposes 
the providing for the welfare and/or protection of animals of any kind. 
Authority. The local rabies control authority as defined in this section. 
Brand. A mark made on the skin of any animal which indicates the ownership of the animal, 
typically used with livestock. 
Cat. The male and the female of any domesticated or feral member of the feline species of 
animals. 
Chief of police. The chief of police or the chief of police’s designee responsible for the 
administration of this act. 
Circus. A commercial variety show featuring animal acts for the public at a fee or a part of a 
charity. 

Commercial animal enterprise. Shall include but not be limited to enterprises such as kennels, 
pet shops, riding stables, animal auctions, performing animal exhibitions, animal training 
services, grooming shops, petting zoos, aviaries or any similar entrepreneurial relationship 
regarding animals. 
Confinement period: as defined in Texas Administrative Code, Title 25, section 169.30. 
Cruelly treated. Includes tortured, seriously overworked, unreasonably abandoned, 
unreasonably deprived of necessary food, care, or shelter, cruelly confined, or caused to fight 
with another animal.  
Dangerous wild animal. Shall have the same meaning as defined in chapter 822, Texas Health 
and Safety Code, subchapter E. 
Distance between structures. Where a minimum setback or distance between any enclosure for 
an animal from a residence is required, shall mean the most direct line distance between the 
two structures, unless otherwise provided. 
Dog. The male and the female of any domesticated member of the canine species of animal. 
Domestic animal. Any non-livestock animal as defined in the Penal Code. 
Estray. Has the same meaning as defined in chapter 142, Texas Agriculture Code, defining 
estray as stray livestock, stray exotic livestock, and stray exotic fowl. 



Exotic species. Any animal or reptile, fish, or bird, born or whose natural habitat is considered 
to be outside the continental United States, including nonvenomous reptiles and fish. 
Fish. Any of the cold-blooded animals that extract oxygen from water through the use of gills. 
Fowl. Includes all birds, e.g., chickens, turkeys, pheasants, quail, guineas, geese, ducks, 
peafowl and other domestic feathered creatures and nondomestic feathered creatures, 
regardless of age or sex. 
Governmental entity. An agency or political subdivision of the state or an agency or 
department of the federal government. 

Habitual offender.  An owner who has received two or more final convictions of this chapter or 
the owner of an animal who has been the subject of impoundment in the animal shelter three or 
more times during a 12-month period or any combination of convictions and impoundment 
totaling three incidents. 
Harbor. To possess while in the act of keeping and caring for an animal, or of providing a 
premises to which the animal returns for food, shelter or care for a period of three days or 
longer.  
Household: home, residence, apartment or dwelling including yard around where animals 
could be kept 
Kennel Facility. An establishment designed or used for the selling, breeding, or overnight 
boarding of animals where more than three dogs and two cats or three cats and two dogs or a 
combination of five other animals are to be boarded, sold, or bred. 

Kennel. Enclosure that  provides sufficient space to allow each animal to make normal postural 
adjustments without touching the top of the enclosure, including turning freely, standing easily, 
sitting, stretching, moving its head, lying in a comfortable position with limbs extended, and 
moving and assuming a comfortable posture for feeding, drinking, urinating, and defecating 
Livestock. Includes, regardless of age, sex or breed, horses and all equine species, including 
mules, donkeys and jackasses; cows and all bovine species; sheep and all ovine species; 
llamas; goats and all caprine species; and pigs and all swine species. 
Local rabies control authority. The animal services supervisor or designee 
Microchip. A device designed to store data or information relating to animals and is carried 
subcutaneously by that animal and such data or information is collectable by electronic means. 
Multi-pet owner. A person who keeps or harbors five or more cats or dogs, including feral cats, 
or dogs or any combination of five cats and dogs. Puppies and kittens under four months of age 
shall not be counted for purposes of this definition. 
Neutered. Any animal, male or female, rendered incapable of breeding or being bred, i.e., 
castration in the male and spaying or ovariectomy in the female. 

Owner. Any person or persons, association, or entity, including any member of owner’s 
immediate family, employee, or agent, having the right of property, care, custody, or control of 
an animal, who possesses, harbors, or maintains an animal, or who knowingly permits an 
animal to remain on or about any premises occupied by such person or persons, firm, 
association, or corporation for a period of three (3) days or more. 



Performing animal. Any spectacle, display, act or event in which animals perform. 

Person. An individual human, partnership, copartnership, firm, company, limited liability 
partnership or other partnership or other such company, joint venture, joint stock company, 
trust, estate, governmental entity, association or corporation or any other legal entity, or their 
legal representatives, agents or assigns. The masculine gender shall include the feminine; the 
singular shall include the plural where indicated by the context. 
Poison. A substance having an inherent harmful property which renders it, when taken into the 
system, capable of destroying animal life. 
Policy or policies. The policies and procedures adopted consistent with this chapter and 
applicable to the animal services division of the city’s police department. 
Premises. A definite portion of a legal lot of real estate or land, together with any 
appurtenances or buildings. 

Prohibited animal. Any animal prohibited by state or federal law and including any individual 
species and/or subspecies of the following animals: antelope, lions, tigers, ocelots, bobcats, 
lynx, cougars, leopards, cheetahs, jaguars, hyenas, bears, lesser pandas, ferrets born in natural 
habitats, binturong, ostriches, emus, elephants, apes or such other nondomestic species of 
animal not common to this area. 

Proper enclosure. A house or a building, or, in the case of a fence or structure/pen, the fence or 
structure/pen must be at least four feet in height. The structure/pen must also have minimum 
dimensions of five feet by ten feet. The fence or structure/pen must form an enclosure suitable 
to prevent entry of young children and must be locked and secured such that an animal cannot 
climb, dig, jump or otherwise escape of its own volition. The enclosure shall be securely 
locked at all times and have secured sides to prevent a dangerous animal or registered 
dangerous dog from escaping from the enclosure. The structure/pen shall provide protection 
from the elements for the animal. The animal services officer may require a fence higher than 
four feet or require a secure top and/or a secure bottom to the structure/pen if the need is 
demonstrated. Invisible fences or similar technology shall not constitute “proper enclosure.” 
Quarantine. As defined in HSC 826.002. 
Quarantine period. Time as described in  Texas Administrative Code, Title 25, Rule 169.27.  

Rabies vaccination. Means currently vaccinated. Vaccinated and satisfying all the following 
criteria. (A) The animal must have been vaccinated against rabies with a vaccine licensed by 
the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) for that species at or after the minimum 
age requirement and using the recommended route of administration for the vaccine. (B) At 
least 30 days have elapsed since the initial vaccination. (C) The time elapsed since the most 
recent vaccination has not exceeded the recommended interval for booster vaccination as 
established by the manufacturer.  

Registered dangerous dog. Any dog registered with the city in compliance with chapter 822, 
Texas Health and Safety Code, 822.043, and with the sections of this chapter addressing 
dangerous dogs. 
Residence. Any place of human habitation at any time, day or night, including, but not limited 
to, any single- or multi-family dwelling, church, school, convalescent center or nursing home. 



Restrained. Any animal secured by a leash, rope or chain of some sort or confined through 
fencing or otherwise enclosed within the property limits of its owner, meaning there must be a 
physical barrier. Substitution of an electronic device is not permitted. 
Running at large (non-livestock at large). 
(A)     Any dog, which is not restrained by means of a leash, chain, other physical apparatus of 
sufficient strength and length to control the actions of such animal while off- premises. 
(B)     Any cat which is creating a nuisance off the owner’s property. 
At large means that either livestock and non-livestock is: 

(1) On the premises of the owner and is not tied, staked, or restrained securely within an 
enclosure or fence capable of fully and totally securing the animal; or 
(2) Off the premises of the owner, and is not on a leash under the immediate control of a 
person physically capable of restraining the animal or is not restrained securely within an 
enclosure or fence capable of fully and totally securing the animal. 
(3)  Exception, any animal within a vehicle in a manner that would prevent that animal’s 
escape or contact with other persons or animals shall not be deemed “at large.” 
"Serious bodily injury" means an injury characterized by severe bite wounds or severe ripping and 
tearing of muscle that would cause a reasonably prudent person to seek treatment from a medical 
professional and would require hospitalization without regard to whether the person actually sought 
medical treatment. Per HSC 822. 

Stray animal (including estray). Any animal, of which there is no identifiable owner or 
harborer, which is found to be at large within the corporate limits of the city. 
Tag. A vaccination tag attached to a collar as required by this chapter, or some other permanent 
identifying device attached to a collar or to an animal. 
Tattoo. A permanent mark which is made on the skin of an animal by puncturing the skin and 
inserting indelible color, and which is used to show ownership. 
Veterinarian. Any person duly licensed to practice veterinary medicine by the state board of 
veterinary examiners, or who is exempt from such licensing. 

Wild animal or wildlife. Any nondomestic creature (mammal, amphibian, reptile or fowl) 
which is of a species which is wild by nature, which can normally be found in a wild state, and 
which is not naturally tame or gentle, or which, because of its size, vicious nature and other 
characteristics, constitutes a danger to human life or property, including all animals identified 
herein as prohibited. 
Zoological park or zoo. Any facility, other than a pet shop or kennel, displaying or exhibiting 
one or more species of animals, operated by a person or under the auspices of a governmental 
entity. 
  Sec. 2.01.002     Purpose 

It is the intent and purpose of this chapter to provide a safe and healthy environment within the 
city for both animals and people. While a person may own and keep animals within the city, 
the conduct of those animals and the conditions that the animals are kept in should be safe and 
healthy and should not infringe on the surrounding homes and their inhabitants.  
  Sec. 2.01.003     Enforcement 



(a)     Enforcement officers. The provisions of this chapter may be enforced by animal services 
officers, police officers, and such other persons as are designated by the city. Nothing herein is 
intended to or shall preempt any statutory duty or authority of any federal, state, or local entity 
or official charged with animal control, estray control or impoundment, or other animal-related 
matters. 

(b)     Interference with enforcement. It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with, 
obstruct, resist or oppose any animal services officer or other person authorized to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter while such person is apprehending an animal or performing any other 
duties or investigation. It shall be unlawful to take or attempt to take any animal from any 
animal services officer or from any vehicle used by the officer to transport any animal or to 
take or attempt to take any animal from the animal shelter or other kennel or confinement area 
used to impound an animal. 

(c)     Citations and warnings. In all instances of a violation of any provision of this chapter, 
whether the animal is impounded or not, the owner or keeper of such animal may be cited by 
an officer who has the authority to enforce this chapter for any violation of this chapter. The 
animal services division may also by policy establish a conditional written warning procedure 
relating to registrations, displaying of tags, and general “at large” violations. The receipt of 
such written warnings does not preclude the animal services division from citing the recipient 
if the conditions of the written warning are not met in a timely fashion. 

(d) In the enforcement of this chapter, any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this 
chapter shall have the authority to immediately tranquilize, capture, restrain, and/or destroy 
any animal to protect themselves, a third person, or another animal from attack or threat of 
imminent injury, to prevent an animal from enduring further unreasonable pain or suffering as 
a result of disease or injury, or when the animal services officer deems such animal a threat to 
the public health, safety, or welfare. Any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this 
chapter shall have the right to pursue onto private property and apprehend an at-large animal 
considered a nuisance without first requesting permission from the owner of the private 
property or without obtaining a search warrant. 
(e)     Culpability. Unless specifically provided in this chapter, an offense under this chapter 
shall not require a culpable mental state. It is the intent of this section to impose strict liability 
for violation of the requirements of this chapter. 

(f)     Administrative policies and operational procedures. To aid in the administration of this 
chapter, the animal services division shall, by policy-making authority of the chief of police, 
adopt administrative policies and operational procedures consistent with the purpose and intent 
of this chapter. 

(g)     Investigation of feral cats.  Animal services officers, or police officers as deemed 
necessary, may investigate complaints, nuisance allegations, or unsanitary conditions and/or 
perform general inspections regarding the treatment of animals where feral cat are being kept 
in excess the multi-animal level allowed by this ordinance. 



(h)     Duties of feral cat organizations. It shall be the policy of the city that feral cat 
organizations intending to release feral cats within the city furnish in writing to the animal 
services unit of the police department the number of feral cats released after processing. 
Likewise, organizations shall immediately report to the animal services unit any evidence of 
communicable disease outbreak that may affect the non-feral cat or other animal populations 
within the city. 
  Sec. 2.01.004     Powers and duties of citizens 

Any person who finds an animal which he does not own on property that he owns or exercises 
control over or on public property may take control of said animal if it is running at large (as 
provided in section 2.03.002) and may deliver the animal to an animal services officer, the 
animal shelter, or an animal emergency medical facility. If the animal is not delivered to an 
animal services officer, the animal shelter, or an animal emergency medical facility, the person 
must report that he had taken control of the animal to an animal services officer or the animal 
shelter within seventy-two (72) hours. If animal is wearing a tag of any kind or has a tattoo, 
brand, or other identifying mark, that information shall be included in the report to the animal 
services officer or animal shelter.  
  Sec. 2.01.005     Penalties; false reports or statements 

(a)     Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this chapter, or shall fail to comply 
therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the city limits shall be deemed guilty 
of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to exceed the sum of five hundred dollars 
($500.00). A person who is deemed guilty of violating section 2.05.002(d) of this chapter shall 
be liable for a fine no less than two hundred dollars ($200.00) or more than five hundred 
dollars ($500.00). A person who is deemed guilty of violating section 2.05.003(e) of this 
chapter shall be liable for a fine no less than one hundred dollars ($100.00) or more than five 
hundred dollars ($500.00). Each day the violation exists shall constitute a separate offense. 
Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other remedies provided herein. 

(b)     A person commits an offense if, with intent to deceive, he knowingly makes a false 
report or statement, either verbal or written, that is material to an investigation of an alleged 
violation of this chapter to an animal services officer or other person authorized to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter. 
(c)     A person commits an offense if he reports to a person authorized to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter an offense or incident within that person’s concern knowing that the 
offense or incident did not occur. 
  Sec. 2.01.006     Prima facie evidence of responsibility for violation 



In any prosecution charging a violation of this chapter governing the abuse, neglect or 
ownership of an animal or failure to license an animal as herein required, proof that the 
particular property described in the complaint was the premises upon which the animal resided, 
was harbored or maintained and a violation of any section of this chapter occurred involving 
said animal, together with proof that the defendant named in the complaint was, at the time of 
such complaint or at the time when the animal was in violation of this chapter, the registered 
owner of such animal or the person with legal rights to reside on said property, shall constitute 
in evidence a prima facie presumption that the registered owner of such animal or the person 
with legal rights to reside on said property was the owner of the animal and the person who 
failed to comply with this chapter.  
  Sec. 2.01.007      Abatement of nuisances or other prohibited conditions, Enforcement; 
penalty 

(a)     Primary enforcement of the provisions of this chapter are vested in the animal services 
officers; however, these provisions may also be enforced by peace officers, code enforcement 
officers, and such other persons as are designated by the city. Any and all references to animal 
services and/or animal services officer herein shall contemplate and include each of the 
aforementioned individuals. 

(b)     Unless otherwise stated herein, the provisions of this chapter are enforceable against an 
owner and/or their animal as set forth herein. Owner(s) of animal(s) alleged to be in violation 
of this chapter are responsible for such violations and subject to the penalty provisions of this 
chapter and this code, as amended. 
(c)     It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with, obstruct, resist or oppose any 
enforcement of the provisions of this chapter by an animal services officer. 

(d)     In the enforcement of this chapter, any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this 
chapter shall have the authority to immediately tranquilize, capture, restrain, and/or destroy 
any animal to protect themselves, a third person, or another animal from attack or threat of 
imminent injury, to prevent an animal from enduring further unreasonable pain or suffering as 
a result of disease or injury, or when the animal services officer deems such animal a threat to 
the public health, safety, or welfare. 

(e)     Any person authorized to enforce the provisions of this chapter shall have the right to 
pursue onto private property and apprehend an at-large animal considered a nuisance without 
first requesting permission from the owner of the private property or without obtaining a search 
warrant. 

(f)     Unless otherwise provided by state law, any violation of this chapter may be charged as a 
class C misdemeanor; and upon conviction, an owner shall be fined as provided for in the 
general penalty provision in section 1.01.009 of this code, as amended. For those violations 
that are of a continuous nature, a separate offense shall be deemed committed upon each day 
during or on which a violation occurs or continues and such fine may be levied for each day 
that a violation exists. 



(g)     If an owner has been previously convicted of an offense under this chapter and the owner 
is subsequently convicted of an offense under the same provision of this chapter, the owner 
may be subject to an enhanced fine as set by the municipal court. 
  Sec. 2.01.008     Compliance with other ordinances 
The keeping of any animal in accordance with the provisions of this chapter shall not be 
construed to authorize the keeping of the same in violation of the zoning ordinance or any 
other ordinance of the city.  
  Sec. 2.01.009     Fees 

The fee schedule as provided for in appendix A of this code shall apply to all animals within 
the city limits. It shall not be construed that the city be required to bear the costs of any animal 
that has an owner. The owner shall reimburse the city for any actual expenses and shall be 
responsible for all fees set forth in appendix A of this code. The city may recover all fees, costs 
and damages incurred as a result of the animal as restitution in a criminal proceeding under the 
provisions of this chapter or the state statutes in addition to a fine being charged. In 
extraordinary circumstances, certain fees related to redemption of impounded animals may be 
administratively waived for owners with supervisory approval, or pay agreements reached 
between owners and the animal services supervisor(s). Such administrative actions shall be 
guided by animal service's adopted policies and procedures. 
  Sec. 2.01.010     Animals held on complaint 

If a complaint has been filed in municipal court of the city against the owner of an impounded 
animal for a violation of this article, the animal may be held on the order of the municipal 
judge, who may also direct the owner to pay any penalties for violation of this article in 
addition to all impoundment fees. Surrender of an animal by the owner thereof to the animal 
services officer does not relieve or render the owner immune from the decision of the court nor 
from the fees and fines which may result from a violation of this article. 
  Sec. 2.01.011     Removing animal from confinement; interference with impoundment 
(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or allow to escape from any place of 
confinement, any dog or cat which has been confined or ordered to be confined by the city, 
without the consent of the animal services division. 
(b)     It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally enter upon the property 
of another person for which the person is not given specific permission to enter for the purpose 
of releasing a confined, chained or tethered animal. 
(c)     It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere or attempt to interfere with the animal 
services officer or to interfere or attempt to interfere with any person acting for the city in the 
taking up and impounding of animals in the city. 
  Sec. 2.01.012     Tampering with traps or equipment set out by animal services officer 
No person shall remove, alter, damage or otherwise tamper with a trap or equipment belonging 
to or set out by the animal services officer. 
  ARTICLE 2.02 ANIMAL SHELTER ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
  Sec. 2.02.001     State law requirement for animal shelter advisory committee 



At any future date if the city creates a city run animal shelter within the city limits, in 
compliance with chapter 823 of the Health and Safety Code an animal shelter advisory 
committee will be created in compliance to the law. 
  Sec. 2.03.001     Animal identification 

(a)     Required; exemptions. Except as provided herein, all animals within the city shall be 
marked by some type of identifying license, tag, band, tattoo or brand by which the animal’s 
owner can be identified. Animals exempted from this requirement are mice, rats, rabbits, 
guineas, hamsters, gerbils, ferrets, fowl and snakes. 

(b)     Feral cats. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution for identification requirements 
herein for cats if it is shown that the cat is feral and properly ear tipped to indicate participation 
in a trap, neuter and release program, and its having been vaccinated against rabies in 
accordance with law. The city’s animal services unit shall have access to vaccination 
certificates when deemed necessary by the unit. 
  Sec. 2.03.002     Running at large 
(a)     Responsible party. It shall be unlawful for any person who owns, keeps, harbors or 
otherwise has control over any animal within the city to allow or permit such animal to run or 
be at large within the city. 

(b)     Cats. The prohibition against an animal running at large shall not apply to a domestic cat 
which has been vaccinated as required by this chapter and which is wearing the required 
vaccination tags or feral cat that has been ear tipped by a feral cat organization. The prohibition 
shall apply to all other cats. 

(c)     Restraint required. An animal shall be considered to be at large if it is not under the 
control of its owner by either a leash, chain, cord or other suitable material attached to a collar 
or harness, or not restrained on the property of the owner by a leash, chain, cord or fence. An 
animal shall be considered not restrained if the property owner is utilizing solely an invisible 
fence or similar technology. An animal inside a vehicle parked in a public place or in the open 
bed of a moving or parked vehicle in a public place shall be considered to be at large unless it 
is restrained in such a manner that it cannot exit the vehicle of its own volition. 
(d)     Snakes. It shall be unlawful for any person to have a snake in any park or other public 
place unless it is within some type of cage, pen or enclosure. 

(e)     Impoundment, citation. The animal services officer for the city may impound any animal 
observed to be at large, whether the animal is on public or private property, subject to the 
applicable provisions of the law. If the animal services officer observes an animal on property 
which is owned by a person other than the owner of the animal, and observes the animal return 
to property of its owner, the animal services officer may impound the animal or issue a citation 
for the animal running at large. In the event the animal is on private property or property of the 
animal’s owner, the animal services officer, his/her agent, or a peace officer may enter the 
property, other than a private dwelling, for the purpose of impoundment or issuance of a 
citation, or both, subject to the applicable provisions of this chapter and law. 



(f)     Prima facie evidence of responsibility for violation. Proof that an animal was found at 
large in violation of this section, together with proof that the defendant was the owner of such 
animal at the time, shall constitute prima facie evidence that the defendant allowed or 
permitted the animal to be at large. 
State law references–Restraint, impoundment and disposition of dogs and cats, Health and 
Safety Code, sec. 826; estrays, Agriculture Code, Ch. 142. 
  Sec. 2.03.003     Confinement of unspayed female dogs and cats during estrus 

(a)     Secured enclosure required. Any unspayed female dog or cat in the state of estrus (heat) 
shall be confined during such period of time in a house, building or secure enclosure, and the 
area of enclosure shall be so constructed that no other dog or cat may gain access to the 
confined animals or to allow the enclosed animal to escape, except for controlled breeding 
permitted by the owner of the female. 

(b)     Chaining or tethering. Additionally, the female dog or cat shall not be chained or 
tethered, except in a secured enclosure, and if chained or tethered within a secured enclosure, 
the female dog or cat may not be chained or tethered in a manner that prevents her from 
defending herself or from avoiding a male. 

(c)     Removal order. Owners who do not comply shall be ordered to immediately remove the 
animal in heat to a veterinary hospital. Failure to comply with the removal order of the animal 
services officer shall be a violation of this chapter and the dog or cat will then be impounded as 
prescribed herein. All expenses incurred as a result of this confinement shall be paid by the 
owner. 
  Sec. 2.03.004     Animal defecation on public property or property of another 

(a)     Prohibited. It is unlawful for the owner or person in control of an animal to intentionally, 
knowingly, recklessly or with criminal negligence allow or permit such animal to defecate on 
any public property or improved private property other than that of the owner of the animal. 
That the animal was at large at the time it defecated on any property shall constitute prima 
facie evidence that the owner or person in control of the animal allowed or permitted the 
animal to so act. 
(b)     Exception. It is an exception to the application of this section that the owner or person in 
control of the animal immediately removed and cleaned up such animal’s feces from public or 
private property. 
  Sec. 2.03.005     Keeping prohibited animal or wild animal 
(a)     No person shall possess, keep or have care, custody or control of a prohibited animal, 
wild animal or wildlife within the city except as provided herein. 
(b)     All persons shall be prohibited from selling, giving, transferring or importing into the 
city any wild animal. 

(c)     This section shall not apply to approved zoological parks or circuses. Nor shall this 
section apply to primary and secondary schools, colleges and universities, zoological parks 
owned or operated by a governmental entity or any animal assisting physically handicapped 
persons. 



(d)     It shall be a defense to prosecution under this section that the animal being kept was an 
infant or injured animal which was not capable of surviving on its own and that such animal 
was kept for three days or less, or for such reasonable time as was necessary before giving the 
animal to a licensed wildlife rehabilitator. 
  Sec. 2.03.006     Nuisance animals 
(a)   Any animal within the city that unreasonably disturbs, annoys, or alarms persons of 
ordinary sensibility, endangers the public health, safety, or welfare, or substantially interferes 
with the rights of citizens to quiet enjoyment of life or property, including but not limited to: 
(1)     Any animal that chases motor vehicles in a public right-of-way; 

(2)     Any animal, whether or not on the property of its owner and without reasonable 
provocation, that approaches and hisses, barks, or growls at a person in an angry, threatening, 
and ill-tempered manner and causes that person to have an immediate reasonable fear of bodily 
injury, that bites, snaps at, or attacks a person or otherwise interferes with the freedom of 
movement of persons in a public right-of-way, or that attacks and seriously injures or kills 
another animal that was properly confined, restrained, or under the physical control of its 
owner as required by this chapter; 

 (3)     Any animal that is found at-large three (3) or  more times; or any dog in a park or public 
recreation area, unless the dog is controlled by a leash or similar physical restraint or within a 
designated off-leash area within a city park facility, in compliance with posted rules at such 
city park facility and/or off-leash area; 
(4)     Any animal that damages any property other than that of its owner; 

(5)     Any animal that defecates on any common thoroughfare, street, sidewalk, passageway, 
road bypass, play area, park or any place where people congregate or walk upon any public 
property whatsoever, or upon any private property without the permission of the private 
property owner, if the owner of such an animal that soils, defiles, or defecates on any of the 
above areas fails to immediately remove the pet feces and droppings and place them in a 
designated waste receptacle or other suitable waste container; 

(6)     An animal that makes disturbing noises, including but not limited to, continued and 
repeated howling, barking, whining, meowing, crowing, or other utterances in an excessive, 
continuous or unreasonable fashion or at unreasonable hours, causing annoyance, disturbance, 
or discomfort to, or disrupting the quiet enjoyment of neighbors or others in close proximity to 
the premises where the animal is kept or harbored; 

(7)     Any animal that causes unsanitary conditions in enclosures or surroundings where the 
animal is kept or harbored, or that causes noxious or offensive odors which would be 
unreasonably annoying or discomforting to neighbors or others in close proximity to the 
premises where the animal is kept or harbored; 
(8)     Any female animal in heat (estrus) that is not confined so as to prevent attraction or 
contact with animals other than the owner’s, unless for the purpose of planned breeding in 
compliance with all local, state, and federal laws; 



(9)     Any dog in violation of posted rules governing a city park facility and/or off-leash area;  
(10)   Any dangerous wild animal, as defined by section 822, Texas Health & Safety Code or 
(11) Any animal that is a threat to public health safety or welfare by virtue of the number of 
animals. It shall be unlawful for an animal to be or create a public nuisance within the city. 

(b) The owner of a public nuisance animal shall be culpable for any violations of this section.  
(c) Complaints of public nuisance animals 
(1)     Whenever any person shall complain to the animal services officer of an alleged public 
nuisance animal, an animal services officer shall promptly investigate the complaint and notify 
the owner of the animal that a complaint has been received. 
(2)     If the animal services officer does not observe a violation of this article, then the animal 
services officer shall promptly provide to the complaining person a nuisance animal complaint 
form. 

(3)     If the animal services officer observes a violation of this article, or receives from the 
complaining person a signed and completed nuisance animal complaint form, then a citation 
shall be issued to the owner of the alleged public nuisance animal, and, if deemed by the 
animal services officer to be necessary in order to abate an imminent risk to public health, 
safety, or welfare, the animal services officer may impound the alleged public nuisance animal 
pursuant to sections regarding impoundment of this chapter without regard to whether the 
animal is at-large. 

(d)    Completion and submission of nuisance animal complaint form 
(1)     The nuisance animal complaint form is to be completed voluntarily, truthfully, and 
accurately by the complaining person, signed, and then submitted to the animal services 
officer, police department, or municipal court. 
(2)     By submitting a nuisance animal complaint form, the complaining person agrees to 
testify as the complaining witness if the matter should proceed to trial in municipal court. 

(e)     It shall be unlawful for the owner or harborer of an animal determined a nuisance under 
this section to permit continued or future nuisance behavior or condition(s). Nothing herein 
precludes the city from seeking other remedies if owners fail to comply with the remedial 
requirements stated. 
  Sec. 2.03.007     Keeping bees 

No person shall construct, place or maintain any beehive within 500 feet of any residence other 
than that of the owner except with the consent of the occupants of all such residences. A tract 
or parcel of land where the bees are kept or enclosed must be three acres or more in size. 
  Sec. 2.03.008     Pens or coops for animals other than livestock 
(a)     All chickens and rabbits shall be kept within a coop or hutch. A fenced yard shall not 
qualify as a pen or coop. 
(i) If the animals kept are chickens they must be limited to no more than 10. A rooster is 
prohibited from a backyard coop on a property of less than 3 acres. 



(b)     Any person keeping or harboring any animal, other than livestock, shall locate any pen, 
coop, hutch or other housing at least 50 feet from any residence, excluding the residence of the 
person keeping or harboring the animals. Other ordinances covering nuisances shall still apply  
  Sec. 2.03.009     Staking or pasturing livestock on public land or property of another person 
(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person owning or having care, custody or control over any 
livestock, except the horses used by the city police department, to: 
(1)     Cause or permit any livestock to be pastured, herded, staked or tied in any street, lane, 
alley, park or other public place; 

(2)     Tie, stake or pasture or permit the tying, staking or pasturing of any animal upon any 
private property within the city without the consent of the owner or occupant of such property, 
or in such a way as to permit any livestock to trespass upon any street or other public place or 
upon any private property. 
  Sec. 2.03.010     Storage of feed 
All feed provided for animals, other than hay, shall be kept in an enclosed building or container 
except when being used to feed an animal. 
  Sec. 2.03.011     Keeping livestock or fowl; keeping hogs prohibited 
(a)     Keeping hogs prohibited. The keeping of hogs is prohibited if lot size is not 3 acres or 
more. 
(b)     Keeping near city water supply well. 

(1)     It is unlawful and constitutes an offense for any person, whether for himself or as the 
agent or servant of another or others, to keep or to participate in keeping any horse, cattle, 
sheep, goat, other livestock and/or fowl in any pen or lot used to confine any such multiple 
animal operation within 500 feet of any water supply wells from which the city obtains its 
principal water supply as specified in the official Texas Administrative Code published under 
authority of the secretary of state, title 31, Natural Resources and Conservation [title 30, 
Environmental Quality], section 290.41(c)(1)(C), (D), (F). 
(2)     “Keeping” means the care and control of the livestock or fowl in question for a period of 
longer than five days. 
 (c) It shall be unlawful for any person to keep livestock within the corporate limits of the city 
unless the livestock is being kept in accordance with the following restrictions:  
(1) The overall lot must be three or more acres in size and the livestock shall be kept on a 
parcel of land that is at least one acre in size. 

(2) There shall be no more than one unit (as defined below) of livestock for the first acre of 
land. There shall be no more than one additional unit of livestock for each additional one-half 
acre of land in the same parcel. For the purpose of this section, units of livestock shall be 
defined as follows:  
(i) The following types of livestock shall be counted as one head equals one unit: horse, 
stallion, mare, gelding, filly, colt, mule, hinny, jack, jenny, llama, and all species of cattle;  
(ii) The following types of livestock shall be counted as one head equals one-half of a unit: all 
species of swine; and  



(iii) The following types of livestock shall be counted as one head equals one-fifth of a unit: 
sheep, goat, and fowl.  

(3) No livestock shall be permitted to graze, forage, or otherwise roam within 50 feet of any 
business or commercial establishment, dwelling, residence, or structure used for human 
occupancy (other than the livestock owner's dwelling or residence). Hogs or any type of swine 
are further restricted to 200 feet of any business or commercial establishment, dwelling, 
residence, or structure used for human occupancy (other than the livestock owner's dwelling or 
residence). Roosters must be kept in a coop and are further restricted to 200 feet of any 
business or commercial establishment, dwelling, residence, or structure used for human 
occupancy (other than the livestock owner's dwelling or residence).  

(4) Barns, stables, corrals, sheds, pens or other similar structure where livestock may be 
housed, fed, or confined, or where food for livestock is stored shall not be located within 200 
feet of any residence, business or commercial establishment or office (other than the livestock 
owner's residence, business or commercial establishment or office), grocery store, school 
building, church, hospital, nursing home, or restaurant or other food service establishment. 
(5) Livestock shall be enclosed with adequate fences or barriers that will prevent such livestock 
from damaging shrubbery or other property situated on adjacent property. Such fences or 
barriers shall be sufficient to prevent the livestock from escaping the enclosure. 

(6) The owner keeping any livestock shall keep all yards, barns, pens, stables, sheds or other 
enclosures in which such animals are confined in such a manner so as not to give off odors 
offensive to persons of ordinary sensibilities in the immediate vicinity, or to breed or attract 
flies, mosquitoes or other noxious insects or rodents, or in any manner to endanger the public 
health, safety, or welfare, or to create a public nuisance. All yards, barns, pens, stables, sheds 
or other enclosures in which livestock is confined shall be of a size to allow said animals 
sufficient space to move freely and not endanger the health, safety, or welfare of the animal or 
animals.  
(7) Subsections (1) through (4) of this section shall not apply to a licensed veterinarian at the 
veterinarian's place of business, a riding stable/school or academy, or a sanctioned 4-H or FFA 
livestock project.  
(d)     Exceptions to distance restrictions. The following properties are exempt from the 
distance restrictions and livestock prohibitions of this article. Any distance restrictions or 
livestock prohibitions set forth in other ordinances of the city shall continue to apply. 
(1)     Property zoned as Rural/Agricultural District (R/A-1) according to the zoning ordinance 
of the city; or 
(2)     Property properly zoned and used for veterinary hospitals, permitted kennels that are 
used solely for the care and boarding animals, or existing shipping pens utilized for temporary 
holding before shipment or sale of animals. 
  Sec. 2.03.012     Disposal of dead animals and fowl 



In compliance with Texas Administrative Code, Title 4, Part2, Chapter 59; It is unlawful for 
any person in the city to cause to be placed or place or allow to remain in or near his premises 
or the premises of any other person, or in any of the streets or other public roadways, any dead 
animal, either wild or domesticated, or any dead fowl, either wild or domesticated.  
  Sec. 2.04.001     Animals in motor vehicles 

(a)     Leaving animal in standing or parking vehicle. It shall be unlawful for any person to 
leave any animal in any standing or parked vehicle in such a way as to intentionally, 
knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence endanger the animal’s health, safety or 
welfare. An animal services officer or police officer is authorized to use reasonable force to 
remove the animal from the vehicle whenever it appears that the animal’s health, safety or 
welfare is or will be endangered if the owner of the vehicle cannot be located after reasonable 
attempts. The animal shall be taken to the animal shelter or to a veterinarian if the animal is in 
distress. A written notice bearing the name of the officer removing the animal, a telephone 
number where he can be contacted and the location where the animal may be claimed by the 
owner shall be attached to the vehicle. Any person violating this section shall bear the full cost 
and expense incurred by the city in the care, medical treatment, impoundment cost and disposal 
of the animal, including the removal from a vehicle, in addition to any criminal penalty that 
may be imposed under this section. 

(b)     Vehicle involved in accident or other incident. Instances where occupants of motor 
vehicles are involved in a traffic accident or other vehicle-related incidents which result in 
animals being left uncontrolled or unattended, animal services or police officers of the city are 
authorized to take welfare custody of such unattended animals. In the interest of the health, 
safety or welfare of such animals, officers are authorized to transport such animals to the 
regional shelter, a veterinarian, a humane shelter, or an animal emergency clinic. Information 
shall be provided to the animal’s owner as to the animal’s disposition. Animal owners shall 
bear the full cost and expense incurred by the city in the care, medical treatment, impoundment 
costs or other associated costs. 
  Sec. 2.04.002     Duties of person striking animal with motor vehicle 

(a)     Any person who, as the operator of a motor vehicle within the city, strikes any animal 
shall report the accident to the police department within a reasonable time if the animal 
stricken is on or near the roadway so that it constitutes a potential traffic hazard. It shall be an 
affirmative defense to any violation under this section that the incident occurred while the 
operator was responding to an emergency and that the incident was reported as soon as 
possible. 

(b)     Any person who, as the operator of a motor vehicle, strikes a domestic animal shall 
immediately report such injury or death to the animal’s owner; in the event the owner cannot 
be ascertained and located, such operator shall at once report the accident to the appropriate 
law enforcement agency or the local humane society. 
  Sec. 2.04.003     Unlawful restraint of Dog. 
Restrictions on unlawful restraint found in HSC Sec. 821. 
  Sec. 2.04.004     Selling dyed animals 



It shall be unlawful for any person to sell or offer for sale, raffle, offer or give as a prize, 
premium or an advertising device or cause to be displayed in any store, shop, carnival or other 
public place an animal or fowl of any kind that has been dyed or otherwise colored artificially.  
  Sec. 2.04.005     Giving animal as prize or inducement 

(a)     No person shall give away any live animal, reptile, fowl, livestock or wildlife as a prize 
for or as an inducement to enter any contest, game or other competition; or as an inducement to 
enter a place of amusement; or as an incentive to enter into any business agreement whereby 
the offer is for the purpose of attracting trade. This prohibition shall apply to carnivals, fairs 
and circuses. 
(b)     The prohibition contained in this section shall not apply to fish or to animals given as 
prizes at a rodeo contest or livestock show or as part of an FFA, 4-H or similar project. 
  Sec. 2.04.006     Trapping, hunting, shooting or killing animals 

(a)     Trapping restrictions and requirements. It shall be unlawful to set, trigger, activate or 
otherwise use, or cause to be set, triggered, activated or used, any steel-jawed leg-hold trap. 
Except for authorized licensed trappers, trapping of animals at high risk for rabies is 
prohibited. These animals include raccoon, fox, coyote and skunk. Traps classified as “live 
traps,” used by citizens for the capture of feral cats must be done in conjunction with animal 
services, a feral cat organization for spay/neuter and vaccination or an authorized humane 
shelter. Citizen's setting such traps are responsible for taking the animal in to the organization 
providing the feral cat service. 

Consistent with the provisions herein,  animal services is authorized to utilize humane “live 
traps” and may conduct trapping operations or provide or authorize such devices’ use to 
property owners as may be needed throughout the city for rabies control and investigation. 
Citizens should not remove or tamper with any trap set by animal services for this purpose. 
This subsection is not intended to prohibit the prudent use of traps on one’s own property to 
control rodents. 

(b)     Hunting or killing prohibited. It shall be unlawful for any person to hunt, shoot, 
intentionally injure or kill any wild bird, animal, mammal or reptile within the corporate limits 
of the city. It shall be unlawful for any person to hunt, shoot or kill, within the city, any 
domestic bird, animal, mammal, reptile or pet that is not owned by such person. Except this 
subsection shall not be construed or interpreted to prohibit the destruction of venomous snakes 
or to prohibit the police officers from utilizing certain firearms in emergency field conditions 
where such actions are provided for by law or policy. 

(c)     Shooting domestic animal. It shall be unlawful for any person to shoot a domestic animal 
within the corporate limits of the city. It shall be a defense to prosecution that the domestic 
animal shot was a vicious animal and presenting an immediate threat to personal or public 
safety. Except this subsection shall not be construed or interpreted to prohibit police officers 
from utilizing certain firearms in emergency field conditions where such actions are provided 
for by law or policy. 
  Sec. 2.04.007     Molesting animals 



It shall be unlawful for any person to in any manner tease, annoy, disturb, molest or irritate an 
animal that is confined to the owner’s premises. 
  Sec. 2.04.008     Pens, coops, hutches, and enclosures; requirements 
(a)     The owners of any animal shall maintain and keep all pens, coops, kennels, fenced areas 
and enclosures of any kind in a sanitary condition. This shall include the following: 

(1)     All animal wastes shall be disposed of promptly and all pens and enclosures shall be 
cleaned as needed to prevent odors and not draw insects or other vermin or create a nuisance. 
(2)     The premises upon which animals are kept shall be clean and free from noxious and 
unpleasant odors. 
(3)     Some standard spray or other chemicals shall be used at reasonable intervals to keep the 
premises free of flies, mosquitoes, ticks, fleas and other vectors. 
(b)     Cages, coops, hutches, pens or enclosures used to confine animals shall be of sufficient 
size and material to securely contain and maintain all of the animals within such pen, coop, 
hutch, or enclosure comfortably and in good health. 
(c) Coops and hutches must be enclosed to prevent the animal or fowl from escaping. 
  Sec. 2.04.009     Negligent care 

(a)     It is unlawful for any person to fail, refuse or neglect to provide any animal in his charge 
or custody, as owner or otherwise, with proper food, water, shade, adequate shelter, veterinary 
care when needed to prevent suffering, grooming when lack thereof would adversely affect the 
health of the animal, and with humane care and treatment. 
(b)     To provide “adequate shelter” for a dog or cat kept outdoors, a person must provide a 
shelter accessible to the dog or cat meeting the following standards: 
(1)     The shelter must provide protection from the weather, i.e., sun, wind, precipitation (in 
whatever form), or other inclement weather conditions. 
(2)     If there are no artificial heat sources, the structure shall be small enough to allow the dog 
or cat to warm the interior of the structure and maintain its body heat, but large enough to 
permit normal postural adjustments, or standing. 
(3)     Plastic air shipping containers and/or pet carriers shall not be used as outdoor shelters. 
(c)     A written warning of violation requiring that the condition be corrected within a 
specified time period shall be issued to a person before any notice to appear at the municipal 
court may be issued or before a complaint may be filed with the municipal court. 
  Sec. 2.04.010     Animal in state of pain or suffering 

(a)     If any animal without a license tag or other identifying marker is found in a state of pain 
and suffering or becomes so during confinement, the animal services unit may dispose of the 
animal in any humane manner without complying with the three-day (72-hour) waiting period 
as set out herein. 
(b)     If the owner or keeper of an animal found in a state of pain or suffering refuses to 
assume responsibility to care for the animal, the animal services officer may dispose of the 
animal in a humane manner. 
  Sec. 2.04.011     Sale of animals in public place 



(a)     Not in lieu of or withstanding any permit requirements imposed herein, if an animal is 
offered for sale in a public place within the city, the person offering the animal for sale, the 
owner of the animal, the manager of the property which is the public place on which the offer 
is being made, and the owner of the property which is the public place on which the offer is 
being made shall be responsible for ensuring that the animal protections of this article are 
complied with in regard to the animal offered for sale in a public place during the time the 
animal is in the public place. 
(b)     The term “public place” as used herein shall mean any place to which the public or a 
substantial group of the public has access. It shall include, but is not limited to, shops, stores 
and flea markets. 
(c)     If an animal offered for sale in a public place is kept within a cage or pen of any type, 
such cage or pen shall comply with the following requirements: 

(1)     The cage or pen must be large enough for the animal to stand on all of its legs and hold 
its head in a natural position and not be in a crouched position. The cage or pen must also have 
enough room for the animal to turn around or move without stepping on another animal, 
animal feces or food or water provided for the animal. 
(2)     The cage or pen must either have room for water and food or have water and food 
situated so that the animal has access to it through the cage. 

(3)     The cage or pen must be situated so that air may circulate through it, so that any animal 
kept within the cage or pen is not exposed to extreme heat. During cold or inclement weather, 
cages or pens should be situated so that animals contained therein may stay warm and stay dry. 
  Sec. 2.04.012     Using property for purpose of conducting animal fights;  
Possession of fighting equipment with intent that the equipment be used to train a dog for dog 
fighting or in furtherance of dog fighting or intentionally or knowingly acting in violation of 
the State law reference, Dog fighting, Penal Code, sec. 42.10. 
  Sec. 2.04.013     Cruelly treated animals. 

No person shall abandon, beat, cruelly  treat, torment, torture, mentally abuse, overload, 
overwork, poison, trip, use as a lure, fail to unreasonably provide necessary  food, water, care, 
or shelter, or otherwise abuse an animal or cause, instigate or permit any dogfight, cockfight, 
bullfight or other combat between animals or between animals and humans.  
State law references–Cruelty to Livestock Animals, Penal Code, sec. 42.09; Cruelty to Non-
Livestock,  Penal Code, sec. 42.092; dog fighting, Penal Code, sec. 42.10. 
  Sec. 2.04.014     Slaughtering of animals 

Animals may be slaughtered for human or animal consumption within the city, provided it is 
done at a location that is shielded from sensory perception of the general public, and provided 
it is done in a manner designed to cause the animal’s death as quickly as possible without 
needless suffering.  
  Sec. 2.04.017     Health hazards or offensive odors 



Any person who shall harbor or keep animals on his/her premises, or in or about premises 
under his/her control, and who allows such premises to become a hazard to the general health 
and welfare of the community, or who shall allow such premises to give off obnoxious or 
offensive odors due to the activity or presence of such animals, shall be guilty of a class C 
misdemeanor. 
  Sec. 2.05.001     Purpose and intent 
Follow Health and Safety Code, chapter 822 regarding dangerous dogs.  
  Sec. 2.05.002     Dangerous dogs 
(a)    See sections Health and Safety code section 822.001 for definitions of animal control 
authority, serious bodily injury, dangerous dog and secure. 
(b) See Health and Safety Code sections 822.002 regarding seizure of a dog causing death or 
serious bodily injury to a person. 
(c) See Health and Safety Code sections 822.003 regarding a hearing 
  Sec. 2.05.003     Potentially dangerous animals 
Any prohibitions against potentially dangerous animals are found in Health and Safety code 
section 822. 
  Sec. 2.05.005     Exhibitions of certain animals prohibited 
Any prohibitions on exhibitions of certain animals are found in Health and Safety code section 
822. 
  Sec. 2.05.006     Prohibited animals generally 
Any prohibitions on possession of certain animals are found in Health and Safety code section 
822. 
  Sec. 2.05.008     Permit and certificates of registration for circus and zoo operations 
Regulation of circus and zoo operation will be compliance with Texas Administrative Code 
169, subchapter B. 
  Sec. 2.05.009     Violations; civil penalty 
Violations and handling of violations will be compliance with Texas Administrative Code 169, 
subchapter B. 
  ARTICLE 2.06 IMPOUNDMENT* 
  Division 1. Generally 
  Sec. 2.06.001     Authorized; fees 
(a)     Animals owned or harbored in violation of this chapter or laws of the state or those 
safekeeping or humane situations provided in this chapter shall be taken into custody by an 
animal services officer or other designated official and may be impounded under this article. 
(b)     Owners of impounded pets are required to pay all fees related to the impoundment as set 
by the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter. 
  Sec. 2.06.002     Tampering with animal shelter or impoundment vehicle 



It shall be unlawful for any person in the city without proper authority to break into, open, pull 
down any enclosure belonging to or used by the city to impound or temporarily keep animals. 
It shall also be unlawful for any person to turn out or release, or cause to be turned out or 
released, or aid or abet the turning out or release of any animal from an impoundment vehicle 
or from any enclosure used by the city for the impoundment of animals.  
  Sec. 2.06.003     Redemption of impounded animal 

(a)     Generally. Except as may be provided elsewhere in this article, the owner of any animal 
impounded in accordance with this article may reclaim, during shelter hours open to the public, 
such animal upon showing satisfactory proof of ownership and paying all impoundment fees 
and any other expenses incurred by the city or its agent in keeping the animal or attempting to 
locate the owner of the animal. If the owner does not pay such fees, or some alternate fee 
satisfaction as provided for in section 2.01.009 of this chapter, the animal may be sold or 
otherwise disposed of by the city or its agent. 

(b)     Spaying or neutering of dogs and cats. If a dog or cat has been impounded at the regional 
shelter, a fee will be imposed per Williamson County Regional Shelter rules. The cost to spay 
or neuter the dog or cat shall be paid by the owner, along with the impoundment fees, to the 
animal shelter.  
  Sec. 2.06.004     Disposition of impounded animals 

(a)     Dogs and cats with no identification. All dogs and cats impounded by the animal services 
officer, or brought to the animal shelter by a person other than the harborer or owner of that 
animal, shall be held for a minimum of 72 hours, during which time period the owner may 
present proof of ownership at the shelter. After paying all applicable fees, that owner may 
reclaim the dog/cat. In the event that the dog/cat is not claimed after 72 hours in the shelter, the 
dog/cat shall become the property of the shelter. 

(b)     Dogs and cats with identification. Unless earlier claimed by the owner, all dogs and cats 
impounded by the animal services officer, or brought to the animal shelter by a person other 
than the harborer or owner of that animal, that are wearing traceable identification, or where an 
owner is known, shall be held in the shelter for a minimum time period set by the Williamson 
County Regional Animal Shelter from the time the animal enters the facility, during which 
time the animal services officer will notify the owner, when known, of the impoundment. 
Unless the owner has notified the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter in compliance 
with shelter policy of his/her intentions to claim the dog/cat after that date, listing a date by 
which time that owner will reclaim the dog/cat and satisfy all applicable fees, and this 
arrangement has been approved by the shelter staff, the animal shall become their property 
after the minimum amount of time. 

(c)     Animals surrendered by owner/harborer. All animals surrendered by the owner/harborer 
to the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter in compliance with shelter policy and fees 
shall become the property of the shelter immediately upon completion of the owner/harborer 
surrender form. 



(d)     Animals other than dogs, cats, or estrays. All animals other than dogs, cats, or estrays 
that are impounded by the animal services officer, or brought to the animal shelter by a person 
other than the owner/harborer, shall become the property of the shelter unless such ownership 
is prohibited by state or federal law. 

(e)     Unclaimed animals. Any animal that cannot be adopted or transferred to a proper and 
appropriate agency shall be euthanized in compliance with Williamson County Regional 
Animal Shelter policy and administered in compliance with policy and the laws of the state. 
All animals listed as endangered or protected shall be transferred to the proper authority at the 
earliest possible date. 
  Sec. 2.06.005     Adoption of impounded animals 
(a)     All animals which are adopted from the Williamson County Regional Animal Shelter 
shall be surgically altered to prevent reproduction in that animal, in compliance with shelter 
policy.  
  Secs. 2.06.006–2.06.030     Reserved 
  Division 2. Livestock and Fowl* 
  Sec. 2.06.031     Allowing livestock, fowl or pigeons to be at large 
Owners of livestock and fowl must be in compliance with Agriculture Code section 142 
regarding estrays. 
  ARTICLE 2.07 LICENSING AND RABIES CONTROL 
  Division 1. Generally 
  Sec. 2.07.001     Enforcement 

For the purposes of discharging the duties imposed by this article and to enforce its provisions, 
any peace officer or animal services officer is empowered to enter upon any premises upon 
which an animal is kept or harbored and to demand the exhibition by the owner of such animal 
of the license for such animal in accordance with the provisions of this article, to include 
random city-wide canvassing and checks for compliance with this article. The owner of any 
animal is required to produce the license and vaccination information for each animal in his 
ownership upon demand by an animal services officer or peace officer.  
  Sec. 2.07.002     Counterfeiting or destroying vaccination tag, certificate or license 
(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally or knowingly counterfeit a rabies 
vaccination tag or certificate or a license. 
(b)     It shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally or knowingly destroy a rabies 
vaccination tag or certificate. 
  Secs. 2.07.003–2.07.030     Reserved 
  Division 2. Licensing* 
  Sec. 2.07.031     License required; issuance; tag or other identification 



(a) Modified registration. Registration with city is not required for animals that are 
microchipped and spayed or neutered. All animals four months of age or older which are kept, 
harbored or maintained within the corporate limits of the city shall be microchipped.  To be 
eligible for this modified registration, the owner's  name, current address and current phone 
number must be on file with the microchip manufacturer. The manufacturer will maintain 
information about the pet including the breed, color, name, and sex of the animal. Dangerous 
dogs are not eligible for modified registration. 

(b) Tags. No tag and no registration fee are required for a neutered animal with a microchip. 
Owners desiring a registration tag instead of a microchip, must present current rabies 
vaccination documentation and must renew the registration every year. Owners of dangerous 
dogs requiring registration, must apply for a tag. Upon payment of the license fee, where 
applicable, the city shall issue to the owner a license certificate and metal tag having stamped 
thereon the number corresponding with the number of the certificate. Such tag shall at all times 
be securely attached to a collar or harness around the neck of the animal. In case a tag is lost, a 
duplicate will be issued by the animal services officer or his agent upon presentation of the 
receipt showing the payment of license fee for the current 12 month registration. Tags shall not 
be transferable from one animal to another, and no refunds shall be made. 
(c)     Livestock. All livestock shall be tagged or tattooed and the tag or tattoo will be the 
identification tag required to be worn and will be shown on the license. 
  Sec. 2.07.032     Revocation of registration 
(a) The chief of police may revoke any registration after a hearing where an affirmative finding 
on any one or more of the following facts issues: 
(1)     That impoundment of the animal by the city more than two times during a 12 month 
period has occurred; 
(2)     That more than two final convictions of a person for violating this article when such 
convictions relate to the animal being considered for revocation of its license certificate have 
been entered into the official court docket; or 
(3)     Any combination of subsections (a)(1) and (a)(2) of this section totaling three incidents. 

(b)     Notice of revocation hearing setting the hearing date no sooner than 10 days from the 
service or certified mailing shall be served in person to the owner or such notice deemed 
served when made by certified letter, return receipt requested and addressed to the last known 
mailing address of the animal’s owner and deposited in the U.S. mail. 

(c) Upon revoking the registration of any animal, the animal services officer shall notify the 
owner of the animal of such action in writing. Written notification shall be deemed made when 
[made by] a certified letter, return receipt requested, addressed to the last known mailing 
address of the animal’s owner and deposited in the U.S. mail. 

(d) Upon the expiration of ten days after written notification of revocation is deposited in the 
U.S. mail, as provided above, no animal which has had its registration revoked shall be kept, 
maintained or harbored within the city limits, and each 24-hour period shall constitute a 
separate violation. 



(e) Upon revocation of a registration, the owner of the animal with the revoked registration 
shall notify the animal services officer of the location to which the animal is being removed. 

(f)     Appeals of revocation hearing findings must be filed with the city manager within ten 
days of receiving notice of the action. Such notices shall be written without want of form but 
must include the statement “Notice of Appeal of Decision of the Chief of Police in Revocation 
Hearing,” containing a statement of the reason(s) for the appeal, and signed by the animal 
owner making the appeal. The city manager or designee shall hear the appeal. At the hearing, 
the formal rules of evidence do not apply. The hearing officer shall make his/her decision on 
the basis of a preponderance of the evidence presented. The hearing officer may affirm, 
reverse, or modify the action of the chief; however, a decision must be rendered within 60 days 
after the appeal. The decision of the hearing officer is final. 
  Secs. 2.07.033–2.07.060     Reserved 
  Division 3. Rabies Control* 
  Sec. 2.07.061     Vaccination required 
Vaccination of dogs and cats required per HSC section 826, subchapter C. 
  Sec. 2.07.063     Failure to vaccinate animal; dismissal of offense upon proof of vaccination 

The failure of a dog or cat to wear a vaccination tag on a collar shall be prima facie evidence of 
the failure to vaccinate the animal as required by this article. To prove that a dog or cat was 
vaccinated at the time of the offense, the owner of the dog or cat must present a copy of the 
vaccination certificate issued by the veterinarian that shows the date the vaccination was 
administered. The offense shall be dismissed upon verification that the animal alleged in the 
offense was vaccinated on the date of the offense with the payment of an administrative fee as 
set forth in the fee schedule in appendix A of this code.  
  Sec. 2.07.064     Reporting requirements 

(a)     It shall be the duty of all animal owners, veterinarians, physicians or any other person to 
report to the animal services officer all cases of rabies with which he comes in contact or to 
which his attention has been directed. This report shall be made immediately upon diagnosis or 
suspicion of a case of rabies. 
(b)     Any person having knowledge of an animal bite or scratch to an individual or to another 
animal by an animal which the person suspects is rabid shall report that incident to the animal 
services officer within 24 hours. 

(c)     Every physician or other medical practitioner who treats a person or persons for any 
animal bite/scratch that occurred within the city shall within 12 hours report such treatment to 
the animal services officer giving the name, age, sex and precise location of the 
bitten/scratched person or persons and such other information as the officer or agency may 
require. 
(d)     Any veterinarian who clinically diagnoses rabies or any person who suspects rabies in a 
dog, cat or other domestic or wild animal shall immediately report the incident to the animal 
services officer stating precisely where such animal may be found. 
(e)     If a known suspected rabid animal bites or scratches a domestic animal, such incident 
shall also be reported immediately to the animal services officer. 



  Sec. 2.07.065     Contents of reports 

When an individual is placed under a duty to report an incident in which an animal has bitten 
or scratched some person or some animal or to report an animal known or suspected to be 
rabid, that report to the animal services officer shall include, if the person making the report 
knows, the following information: 
(1)     The location where the bite or scratch occurred. 
(2)     The location where the animal which committed the act or which is known or suspected 
to have rabies or have been exposed to rabies can be located. 
(3)     The name and address of any person who was bitten or scratched. 
(4)     The name and address of the person who owns, keeps, harbors or has control over the 
premises where the animal committing the act normally can be found. 
(5)     The names and addresses of the persons who own, keep or harbor [or have control over 
the premises where] any other animal exposed to rabies can be found. 
  Sec. 2.07.066     Animal bites and scratches; quarantine of animal 

(a)     Report of victim. Any person who is bitten or scratched by an animal shall report that 
fact to the animal services officer within 24 hours. If the person bitten or scratched is a minor 
under the age of 17, the parent or guardian of such minor, if he has knowledge of the incident, 
shall report that fact to the animal services officer within 24 hours. 

(b)     Report of animal owner. A person who owns, keeps, harbors or allows an animal to 
remain on premises under his control and who has knowledge of a bite shall report to the 
animal services officer within 24 hours any incident where such animal bit or scratched any 
person. 

(c)     Quarantine. The animal committing the act shall be submitted into quarantine by the 
owner of the animal. If the owner can not be located, animal services may impound and submit 
the animal into quarantine at the contracted shelter or humanely euthanize and submit the 
animal for rabies testing.  When the local rabies control authority goes to the premises where 
the animal that bit or scratched any person is being kept, the animal services officer may take 
immediate custody of the animal. Where suitable arrangements are made, the local rabies 
control authority may permit the animal to be transferred from the location of the incident to 
approved quarantine facility for the remainder of the quarantine period. This duty to submit the 
animal to quarantine shall apply to any person who owns, keeps, harbors, has possession of or 
allows an animal to remain on premises under his control. If convicted of violating this section, 
a minimum fine as set forth in the general penalty provision in section 1.01.009 of this code 
shall be imposed by the municipal court. 

(d)     Observation of animal. Any owned dog or cat having bitten or scratched a person shall 
be observed for a period of ten days (240 hours) from the date and time of the bite. The 
procedure and place of observation shall be designated by the investigating officer or 
responsible agency in compliance with state law. If the dog or cat is not confined on the 
owner’s premises for owner’s quarantine, confinement shall be by impoundment in the animal 
shelter, or at a veterinary hospital of the owner’s choice. Such confinement shall be at the 
owner’s expense. 



(e)     Strays. Stray dogs and cats, or those animals whose owners cannot be located, may be 
confined in the animal shelter or may be destroyed and the brain of such animal immediately 
submitted to a qualified laboratory for rabies examination at the victim’s expense. 
(f)     Temporary surrender of animal. The owner of any dog or cat that has been reported to 
have inflicted a bite or broke skin on any person shall on demand produce the dog or cat for 
quarantine, as prescribed in this article. 

(h)     Wild, exotic or dangerous animals. Any wild, exotic or dangerous animal that is 
considered high risk by state law or regulation and which has bitten or scratched a person shall 
be caught and humanely killed and the brain submitted for rabies examination. Those wild 
animals which are classified as low risk animals shall be handled as dictated by state law. 
(i) Quarantine at residence. An animal owner who quarantines the animal at their residence 
with the animal services officer’s permission under the following conditions: 
(1)     The animal must have a current rabies vaccination, must not have been running at large 
at the time of the scratch or bite, and be registered with animal services;  
(2)     The animal must be inside an enclosed structure, i.e., a house or garage, and must remain 
there for ten days (240 hours); 
(3)     The animal must be kept away from other animals and people inclulding those in the 
immediate household; only minimal contact with caretaker allowed during home quarantine. 
(4)     The animal may not be removed from the corporate city limits while under 
quarantine;unless approved by animal services. 
(5)     The owner shall notify the animal services officer immediately if the animal becomes 
sick or displays any behavioral changes; 
(6)     The owner shall not subject the animal to any medical procedure without first notifying 
the animal services officer. This includes any vaccinations; 

(7)     The animal must be examined by the local rabies control authority or designee by the 
first day of home quarantine and released by a final examination by a licensed veterinarian. 
Upon final examination, the veterinarian may declare the animal to be free of the rabies virus.  
The owner shall be responsible for all associated costs and when required produce proof of 
such veterinarian examinations;  
(8)     Owners who are deemed habitual offenders, as defined herein, shall not be allowed home 
quarantine; 
(9)     The owner must allow animal services, with reasonable notice, to view and confirm the 
health of the animal during the rabies quarantine period. 
Sec. 2.07.067     Release of quarantined animal 

(a)     When an animal is required to be placed in quarantine, the animal shall be submitted for 
quarantine at an approved facility. The owner will be responsible for all fees and cost 
associated with quarantine. Only with the prior approval of the local rabies control authority 
may the animal be held in quarantine at any other location. 
(b)     Any animal quarantined shall be held for a period of ten days (240 hours)  from the date 
and time of the exposure.  The animal shall not be released from quarantine until such release 
has been approved by the local rabies control authority. 



(c)     Upon release of an animal from quarantine, if the ownership of the animal is known, 
such owner shall be responsible for all associated fees and costs of quarantine and contact the 
quarantine facility for release of said animal. If the ownership of the animal is unknown, the 
animal may be disposed of as provided in this article without waiting for an additional 72 
hours. 
  Sec. 2.07.068     Submission of head for rabies diagnosis 
(a)     If the animal biting or scratching a person is a wild animal, the animal shall be humanely 
destroyed in such a manner that the brain is not mutilated. The head shall then be submitted to 
a laboratory certified by the department of state health services for rabies diagnosis. 

(b)     If an animal being quarantined becomes ill, it may be humanely destroyed in such a 
manner that the head is not mutilated. The head shall then be submitted to a laboratory certified 
by the department of state health services for rabies diagnosis. The head of each animal dying 
while in quarantine shall also be submitted for rabies diagnosis. 
  ARTICLE 2.08 COMMERCIAL ANIMAL ENTERPRISES AND MULTIPLE ANIMAL 
OWNERSHIP 
  Sec. 2.08.001     Permit required 

Commercial activity:     (a) Permits shall be required for all commercial animal enterprises. 
Commercial animal enterprises shall include but not be limited to enterprises such as kennel 
facility, pet shops, riding stables, animal auctions, performing animal exhibitions, animal 
training services, grooming shops, petting zoos, aviaries or any similar entrepreneurial 
relationships regarding animals. 
  Sec. 2.08.002     Term of permit; fee; denial; correction of conditions; appeals 
(a)     Term of permit; fee. Permits shall be valid for one year from date of issuance. The permit 
fee shall be as provided for in the fee schedule found in appendix A of this code. 

(b)     Denial of permit. The animal services officer, upon an inspection finding inconsistent 
with the permit inspection requirements of this article, may deny the issuance of such permit 
and prescribe corrections for the applicant to meet the requirements of this article. Applicants 
shall be given a reasonable amount of time to make such corrections and submit to a 
reinspection for compliance. Applicants contesting original denial or subsequent reinspection 
denial shall have a right to appeal. Appeal of such denial of permit shall be in writing to the 
chief of police within 10 days from the receipt of the denial notification. If no written appeal is 
received within the prescribed period, the denial is final. In instances of a timely appeal, the 
chief of police shall conduct a hearing to determine the validity of the denial. At such hearings, 
the formal rules of evidence do not apply, and the chief shall make determinations based on a 
preponderance of evidence presented. The chief shall render a decision within 30 days from 
receipt of the appeal and the decision of the chief shall be subject to appeal to the city manager, 
in writing, within 5 days of the ruling being delivered. The city manager may elect to hear the 
appeal by review or a de novo informal preponderance of evidence hearing. The city 
manager’s decision is final. 



(c)     Inspections; correction of conditions. [If] The animal services officer, as a part of random 
inspections of permitted facilities or upon complaint of noncompliance, finds inconsistencies in 
permitted facilities adequately maintaining the requirements set out in section 2.08.003 of this 
article, the officer may prescribe corrections for compliance. Such corrections shall be made in 
a reasonable time by the permit holder followed by a reinspection for compliance. Any 
permitted facility refusing corrections or failing after reinspection shall be temporarily 
suspended, pending a hearing to consider revocation of permit. Such a hearing shall be 
conducted by the chief of police within 10 days of the suspension. Proper notice of such a 
hearing shall be sent, in person or via certified mail (return receipt requested), to the permit 
holder. The formal rules of evidence do not apply to such hearings and the chief shall make 
decisions based on a preponderance of evidence presented. The chief may order an 
inspection/reinspection by a different officer, [or] make a personal inspection/reinspection of 
the permitted premises in addition to other evidence that may be heard. The chief’s decision 
will be rendered within 10 days of the hearing and the chief may: 
(1)     Uphold the suspension and formally revoke the permit; or 
(2)     Vacate the suspension and reinstate the permit to valid status. 

A default judgment may be entered if the permit holder fails to appear for the hearing after 
receiving proper notice. A permit holder subject to permit revocation may appeal the chief’s 
ruling to the city manager, in writing, within 5 days of the ruling being delivered. The city 
manager may elect to hear the appeal by review or a de novo informal preponderance of 
evidence hearing. The city manager’s decision is final. 
  Sec. 2.08.003     Facility requirements 
Upon inspection of the premises by the animal services officer, the permit shall be issued if the 
following conditions are met: 
(1)     The facility must be adequate for the number and type of animals to be kept: 
(A)     The facility must be of sufficient size as to allow animals to move about freely. This 
shall apply to each animal kept. The size of facility shall be in proportion to the size of the 
individual animal’s height and weight. 
(B)     Adequate food and water must be provided so that each and all animals kept shall be 
maintained in good health and free of malnutrition and/or dehydration. 
(C)     The premises shall be kept in a sanitary condition and reasonably free of animal waste, 
parasites, insects and flies that could be harmful to the animal’s health and/or to the health of 
the general public. 
(2)     The animals and the facility must be kept free of odor or stench which is offensive to a 
person of ordinary sensibilities. 
(3)     The animals must be maintained in a manner which does not pose a danger to the health 
of the animals themselves or to adjacent animals. 
(4)     The animals must not cause noise which is offensive or disturbing to a person of ordinary 
sensibilities on adjoining, adjacent or neighboring premises. 



(5)     The applicant or holder of the permit shall not have been issued citations for violation of 
this article on two separate occasions, or animals covered by or to be covered by the permit 
have not been impounded on two separate occasions. 

(6)     The chief of police shall adopt standard operational procedures for the animal services 
unit consistent with this article in providing guidelines and standards for the inspection of such 
facilities for permitting and for the periodic monitoring of such facilities. Such permitted 
facilities may be randomly inspected for compliance with the basic requirements stated herein 
at any reasonable time for a commercial animal enterprise permitted facility. Refusal to allow 
such inspections shall be grounds for permit revocation. 
  Sec. 2.08.004     Revocation of permit 

Any commercial animal enterprise permit may be revoked if the owner’s facility is found to be 
in violation of this article, any zoning law, health law or any other applicable ordinance of the 
city or of the state, or the facility is maintained in such a manner as to be detrimental to the 
health, safety or peace of mind of persons residing in the immediate vicinity.  
  Sec. 2.08.005     Multi-pet Owner 
(a)   No household shall maintain, harbor or care for more than five total dogs and cats. 

(b) Exceptions; a household may have seven total dogs and cats if all are registered with the 
city, spayed or neutered and kept in separate kennels. A household assisting in fostering 
animals for the Williamson County Regional Shelter or similar problem may have more 
animals if the household has a letter on official letterhead or other official documention from 
the shelter stating that they are fostering animals. If it is on an ongoing basis, the 
approximately number of animals at any given time they would foster; if it is on an individual 
basis, the approprixmate time and number of animals fostered.  Such a household should 
produce this to animal services upon request. 

 



Exhibit B 

 

Sec. A2.002 Standard licensing fee - only when tag issued 
(a)  Dog or cat, per annum fee: $15.00. 

(b)  Dangerous dogs, per annum fee: $50.00. 

 Sec. A2.003 Permits 

A permit shall be issued after payment of the applicable fee: 
(1)  Circus/zoo: $500.00. 
(2)  Commercial animal enterprise: $100.00. 
(4)  Renewal, per annum fee $50.00. 
Sec. A2.008Dismissal of offense upon proof of vaccination 

The failure of a dog or cat to wear a vaccination tag on a collar shall 
be prima facie evidence of the failure to vaccinate the animal as 
required by chapter 3 of the Code of Ordinances. To prove that a 
dog or cat was vaccinated at the time of the offense, the owner of 
the dog or cat must present a copy of the vaccination certificate 
issued by the veterinarian that shows the date the vaccination was 
administered. The offense shall be dismissed upon verification that 
the animal alleged in the offense was vaccinated on the date of the 
offense with the payment of a $20.00 administrative fee. (2003 
Code, app. A, art. 2.000(7)) 

 



ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

 

 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ANIMAL CONTROL ORDINANCE;   

LEANDER CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 2 RELATING TO ANIMAL 

CONTROL; AND LEANDER CODE OF ORDINANCES, APPENDICES, 

ARTICLE A2.000 OF APPENDIX “A” RELATING TO ANIMAL CONTROL 

FEES; ADOPTING ANIMAL CONTROL REGULATIONS DESIGNED TO 

PROTECT THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY; PROVIDING FOR 

LICENSING AND PERMIT FEES; PROVIDING FINES AND PENALTIES; 

AMENDING ALL PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING 

SEVERABILITY AND OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSES; AND PROVIDING FOR 

RELATED MATTERS. 

  

 Whereas, the proper care, regulation and control of animals, fowl and livestock is necessary for the 

health, safety and quality of life of the citizens of the City of Leander, Texas (herein the "City");  

 

 Whereas, the establishment of reasonable requirements for the care and control of dogs, cats, 

animals, fowl and livestock is necessary to protect such animals and the general public; 

 

 Whereas, it is necessary for the City to adopt requirements and regulations which will enable the 

officers and employees of the City to respond in a manner consistent with State law to unusual circumstances 

and conditions that arise from time to time with respect to the keeping, care and control of domestic, wild and 

exotic animals; and 

  

 Whereas, the rules, regulations and requirements established by ordinance may not be inconsistent 

with State law; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 Section 1.    Findings of Fact.  The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and 

correct and are incorporated herein as findings of fact.  The City Council hereby further finds and determines 

that the rules, regulations, terms, conditions, provisions and requirements of this ordinance are reasonable and 

necessary to protect the public health, safety and quality of life. 

 

 Section 2.   Animal Control Regulation Amendments Adopted.  The City Council hereby adopts 

the animal control regulations for the control and regulation of animals within the City of Leander to be set 

forth in Chapter 2 of the Code of Ordinances to read as set forth in Exhibit A attached to and incorporated in 

this ordinance as though fully transcribed herein for all purposes. 

 

 Section 3.  Animal Control Fees Amendment.  Sections A2.002, A2.003, and A2.008 of Article 

A2.000 of the Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances are hereby amended in their entirety to read as set forth 

in Exhibit B. 

 

 Section 4.   Amendment Of Ordinances.  Leander Code of Ordinances, Chapter 2, relating to 

animal control, is hereby amended in its entirety to read as set forth in Exhibit A, and Article A2.002 of 

Appendix “A”, Leander Code of Ordinances,  is hereby amended as provided in this ordinances and any 

ordinances or portions thereof conflicting or inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance as adopted and 

amended herein, are hereby amended to the extent of such conflict.  In the event of a conflict or inconsistency 



between this ordinance and any other code or ordinance of the City, the terms and provisions of this 

ordinance shall govern. 

Section 5.   Savings Clause.  All rights and remedies of the City of Leander are expressly saved as to 

any and all violations of the provisions of any ordinances affecting animals, licensing and registration within 

the City which have accrued at the time of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued 

violations and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such 

ordinances, same shall not be affected by this ordinance but may be prosecuted until final disposition by the 

courts. 

Section 6.   Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 

and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Tex. Loc. Gov't. Code. 

Section 7.   Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 

sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 

sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be declared invalid by the final judgment or decree of 

any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, 

sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City 

Council without the incorporation of this ordinance of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or 

section.  If any provision of this Ordinance shall be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 

invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of this Ordinance which can be given 

effect without the invalid provision, and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be 

severable. 

Section 8.   Open Meetings.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which 

this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place and 

purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

PASSED AND APPROVED on this _______ day of _________________, 2016. 

ATTEST: THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 

_____________________________ _________________________________ 

Debbie Haile, City Secretary Christopher Fielder, Mayor 



AGENDA ITEM # 10 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Agenda Subject: Ordinance Case 16-OR-001: Consider action on amending sections 
of the Composite Zoning Ordinance, to add definitions, update the 
use components, to modify setbacks for commercial fueling, to 
update requirements for screening, to update the parking 
requirements table, to modify residential setbacks, to clarify 
requirements for drainage and detention facilities, to modify 
outdoor lighting requirements, to update the architectural 
standards, to update the site development standards.   

Background: Staff presented a proposal to the Planning & Zoning Commission 
on November 12, 2015 that included several amendments to clarify 
the Composite Zoning Ordinances.  Based on the results of that 
meeting, staff is proposing the following amendments to the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance.   
1. Update the definitions section
2. Clarify the number of children permitted in an in home daycare
3. Add temporary parking to the list of permitted uses
4. Add Gaming Room Facility to the HC use component
5. Update the PUD section to include examples of higher

standards
6. Increase the setback between commercial fueling and

residential uses
7. Modify the screening requirements
8. Update the disturbance zone
9. Change “Tree Protection” to “Tree Preservation” to be

consistent throughout the ordinance
10. Update the parking requirements
11. Revise the setback requirements
12. Revise the drainage and detention facility requirements
13. Update the outdoor lighting requirements
14. Modify the fencing requirements
15. Clarify the masonry requirements
16. Update the brush removal requirements

Origination: Applicant:  City of Leander 



Financial  
Consideration: None 

Recommendation: See Planning Analysis.  The Planning & Zoning Commission 
unanimously recommended to approve the amendments with staff 
recommendation and the following changes at the June 23, 2016 
meeting: 
1. Remove the restrictions regarding the limitations on stucco
2. Reword the language regarding the drainage structures to

clarify the permitted wall materials

The City Council approved the amendments with the following 
changes at the July 7, 2016: 
1. Remove the restrictions regarding stucco for the Type A & B

Architectural Components.  Staff and the HBA shall work 
together to draft a proposed amendment with the next round of 
ordinance amendments. 

2. Add stamped and tinted concrete as approved by the Director
of Planning to the Detention Pond. 

Attachments: 1. Proposed Amendments
2. Ordinance
3. HBA Correspondence
4. Proposed P&Z Amendments

Prepared By:  Tom Yantis, AICP 
Assistant City Manager 07/11/2016 



COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

ARTICLE I – GENERAL 
SECTION 6:  DEFINITIONS 

Dark Sky  means the use of lighting in a way that directs the light source away from the 
sky in order for the night sky to remain relatively free of interference from artificial light.  
This type of lighting is in compliance with the International Dark Sky Association standards. 

Gaming Room Facility means a place to deal, operate, carry on, conduct, maintain, or 
expose for play any game, sports book, promotion, sweepstakes, or other activity electronic 
or otherwise that may or may not confer upon the patrons or participants the right, chance, 
or ability to win and or claim prizes.   

Gaming Device means a clock, tape machine, slot machine, or other machine or device for 
the reception of money or other thing of value on chance or skill or upon action of which 
money or other thing of value is staked, hazarded, bet, won, or lost; or any mechanism, 
furniture, fixture, equipment or other device designed primarily for use in a gambling place. 
It does not include: (1) A coin-in-slot-operated mechanical device played for amusement 
that rewards the player with the right to replay such mechanical device; or (2) Vending 
machines by which full and adequate return is made for the money invested and in which 
there is no element of chance or hazard. 

Lot Width means the average horizontal distance between side property or lot lines.  Lot 
width can also be identified as the measurement of the lot at the building setback line.  The 
minimum lot width for lots fronting a cul-de-sac may be reduced to a minimum of thirty 
(30’) feet at the front property line provided that the minimum required lot width is 
provided at the front setback line. 

Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the ordinary 
high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation in 
contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary and Connector 
Trail Corridors identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan 
and the Transportation Plan. 

Soil means the upper layer of the earth in which plants grow and contains humus, minerals, 
available nutrients, and beneficial micro-organisms, resulting in a favorable condition for 
vegetative growth. 

ARTICLE III – USE COMPONENTS 
SECTION 1:  SFR – SINGLE-FAMILY RURAL 
(b) Conforming Uses 

(1) Single-family dwelling of not less than sixteen hundred (1,600) square feet of living 
area; accessory dwelling with a minimum living area of four hundred (400) square 
feet; and a maximum living area of nine hundred (900) square feet or 40% of the 
gross living area of the primary dwelling, whichever is greater.  However, for lots 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 1 



greater than three acres in size, there is no limit to the maximum size of the accessory 
dwelling. 

(2) Community services including community center, civic organizations, fraternal 
organizations, and cemetery / mausoleum not including a crematory or embalming 
facilities  

(3) Golf courses (public and private) and all associated improvements and activities, but 
not including miniature golf courses, golf practice ranges (unless associated with a golf 
course), or similar forms of commercial amusement 

(4) Day care (in home) for 56 or fewer children 

(5) Emergency services including fire, police and EMS stations 

(6) Family Home and Group Home-Class 1 

(7) Home occupations (see Article IV, Section 8 for Use Standards) 

(8) Parks, playgrounds and associated equipment and facilities, recreational amenity 
center 

(9) Place of worship 

(10) Public buildings, including libraries, museums and administrative offices 

(11)  Real estate sales offices during the development and sale of a residential subdivision 
and subject to the restrictions contained in this ordinance 

(12) Schools, public or private, including all levels up to and including secondary (high) 
school and equivalent curriculum including support facilities are permitted 

(13) Temporary buildings incidental to construction work on the premises if such buildings 
are removed upon the completion or abandonment of construction work (see Article 
IV, Sec. 7) 

(14) Utilities (minor) including ground mounted service equipment and minor structures 
and facilities such as poles, minor electrical switching facilities, lift stations, water 
pump stations and gas regulating facilities 

(15) Water supply reservoirs and pumping plants when screened from public view 

(16) Wireless communications facilities (WCFs) attached to street poles or facades attached 
to non-residential buildings or stealth WCFs are permitted subject to the provisions of 
this ordinance.  Freestanding WCFs, including lattice towers and mono-poles, are 
prohibited. 

(17) (For lots or tracts three or more acres in size) ranches, dairy farms, stables, riding 
academies and roping arenas; including the feeding, raising and breeding of 
agricultural livestock and exotic hoof stock; however, with exception of commercial 
feed lots which are not permitted, and the exception that not more than one large 
animal (e.g. a horse, cow, bull or similar animal) or five small animals (e.g. goats, 
sheep or similar animal) may be permitted for each acre of grazeable land.  Grazeable 
land shall be land that is fenced and maintained with suitable forage for grazing of the 
particular species.  Barns and stables shall not be located within 25 feet of any 
property line. (See Chap. 2, City Code for animal control regulations) 

(18) Agricultural, small wind energy systems, solar energy systems and rainwater 
harvesting systems including or similar to: 
(i) As accessory uses, solar energy systems designed to supply energy for use on 

the premises, and rainwater harvesting systems meeting the standards of 
Article IV, Sec. 5 of Article 14.200. In addition, if approved with a special use 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 2 



permit, small wind energy systems may be approved as an accessory use if 
meeting the standards of Article IV, Sec. 5 of Article 14.200. 

(ii) Hunting and/or hunting leases (for lots or tracts three or more acres in size). 
(iii) Farming or truck gardens, limited to the propagation and cultivation of plants.  

(19) Temporary parking associated with model homes and/or sales trailers prior to the 
completion of model homes.  Article IX of this ordinance will apply to temporary 
parking lots. 

(20)  Other similar uses as determined by the Director of Planning [see Article II, Sec. 2, (f)]. 

SECTION 14:  HC – HEAVY COMMERCIAL 
(b) Conforming Uses 

(1) Any use permitted in the “GC” component 
(2) Bingo 
(3) Car Title Loans Shop/Business 
(4)  Commercial laundry 
(5)  Contractor and building material storage 
(6)  Gaming Room Facility/Gaming Device 
(6)(7) Hooka Lounge 
(7)(8)  Manufacture, assembly or processing of materials not classified as hazardous by 

the Fire Chief 
(8)(9)  Mini-warehouse or self-service storage facilities [required to be set back at least 

four hundred (400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial roadway if built to 
Type B, C or D architectural standards or such facilities include exterior warehouse 
doors], warehouse and distribution, commercial storage  

(9)(10)  Pawn Shop 
(10)(11) Payday Lending Business 
(11)(12) Research, Testing, and Development Laboratory 
(12)(13) Research, Testing, and Development Laboratory (Intense) 
(13)(14) Retail sales, second hand resale, and services 
(14)(15) RV, trailer, commercial motor vehicle and boat outdoor storage [required to be 

set back at least four hundred (400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial 
roadway]  (Note:  refer to Article VI, Section 9 for rules on special vehicle storage) 

(15)(16) Tattoo and/or Body Piercing Parlor  
(16)(17) Utilities, including ground mounted service equipment and structures as a primary 

use and facilities such as poles, electrical switching facilities, lift stations, water pump 
stations, gas regulating facilities, electrical substations, generating plants, wastewater 
and water treatment plants, etc. (see screening requirements in Article VI, Sec. 1) 

(17)(18) Vehicle and major equipment sales, rental or leasing, repair, body shop [Small 
engine repair shops and motorcycle repair shops shall not be permitted within one-
hundred fifty (150’) feet of a residential district unless such repairs are conducted 
totally within a fully enclosed building.] 

(18)(19) Warehouse and distribution 
(19)(20) Wood yard  
(20)(21) Wholesale activities 
(21)(22) Wrecker Impoundment, Towing [required to be set back at least four hundred 

(400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial roadway] 
(22)(23) Stand alone crematory or embalming establishment as long as the crematory 

stack is no closer than 200’ from a restaurant or associated parking or from a 
residential district (unless such district is utilized for non-residential uses). 

(23)(24) Other similar uses as determined by the Director of Planning based on the criteria 
of Article II, Sec. 2, (f) 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 3 



SECTION 16:  PUD – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
(d) Rules Applicable 

(8) The PUD shall result in overall higher standards than what would be provided by 
the base zoning district.  As examples:  (1) if residential lot sizes are decreased or 
development densities are increased, the PUD will be expected to significantly 
exceed other standards such as parkland and facilities dedication, landscaping, 
architectural controls, thoroughfare or other transportation improvements, creation 
of unique characteristics of the neighborhood, retention of significant trees and/or 
provision of public facilities, etc., or (2) if masonry standards or 
building/development setbacks are proposed to be decreased, other standards 
would be expected to be increased such as landscaping, screening, retention of 
significant trees, architectural controls, land uses and/or unique site layout 
standards, etc.  Other examples may include:  

(i) Designating the Type A Architectural Component 
(ii) Adding additional architectural features 
(iii) Provide a master architectural and signage plan that includes a cohesive 

materials palette 
(iv) Enhanced landscaping and/or trees 
(v) Increased landscape area 
(vi) Masonry perimeter walls for subdivisions 
(vii) Provide brick or stone instead of decorative concrete panels for screening 

walls 
(viii) Plant street trees 
(ix) Provide more parkland dedication 
(x) Increase recreation improvements 
(xi) Trails system in greenbelt areas 
(xii) Provide a Master Sign Plan including: proposed locations, provide cohesive 

materials palette, design specifications for signage, type of illumination 
(xiii) Limit fencing to wrought iron or decorative tubular metal fencing along 

greenbelt lots. 
(xiv) Provide unique characteristics of a neighborhood with a unique site layout 
(xv) Include a mixture of uses 
(xvi) Provide public spaces 
(xvii) Incorporate public art 

ARTICLE V – SITE COMPONENTS 
SECTION 3:  TYPE 3 
(b) Site Uses and Features (Some Site Uses Listed Also Require Appropriate Use Component) 

(2) Commercial and Industrial Development: 
(v) Outdoor commercial fueling and washing of vehicles meeting the following 

requirements is permitted: 
a. Washing of vehicles (including vacuum facilities) is not located within

one hundred fifty (150’) feet of a residential district unless such district
is utilized for non-residential purposes.  The location is measured from
the closest portion of the structure associated with the washing of
vehicles to the residential district; and

b. Commercial fueling is not located within one two hundred (1200’) feet of
a residential district unless such district is utilized for non-residential
purpose.  The location is measured from the closest portion of the
structure associated with the outdoor commercial fueling to the
residential district; and

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 4 



ARTICLE VI – SITE STANDARDS 
SECTION 1:  LANDSCAPING, TREE PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION, AND 
SCREENING REQUIREMENTS 
(c) Tree Preservation and Protection. 

(4) Significant Tree Preservation Requirements 
(iv) Significant Trees greater than eight (8) inches in caliper shall be preserved to 

the greatest extent reasonably possible. Significant Trees removed during 
construction shall be supplanted with Replacement Trees if required by the 
tree mitigation requirements of this section.  No Significant Tree shall be 
removed until a tree protection preservation plan has been approved by the 
Director of Planning in accordance with this Chapter.  Significant Trees may be 
removed only in accordance with the approved tree protection preservation 
plan, and trees must be protected during construction activities on the 
property in accordance with the approved tree protection preservation plan. 
This provision only applies to projects before the certificate of occupancy has 
been issued for single-family and two-family developments.  For single-family 
and two-family projects, this provision only applies prior to the initial 
certificate of occupancy for each lot. 

*** 

(8) A non-disturbance zone shall be maintained on single-family and two-family lots 
during the subdivision construction and building permit phases of development.  A 
disturbance area no more than five (5’) feet from the foundation necessary for 
construction and grade transitions shall be permitted.  This disturbance area shall 
be no more than ten (10’) feet from the foundation for properties zoned with the 
SFR (Single-Family Rural) use component.  The trees located on the remainder of 
the lot shall not be removed unless a unique situation is approved by the Planning 
Director of Planning. 

(9) Tree Protection Plan Requirements 
(i) An applicant for a single-family or two-family preliminary plat or final plat, or 

a site development permit shall provide a tree survey prepared within five 
years preceding the application date.  This tree survey shall include the 
street and lot layout, or site plan superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as 
appropriate) identifying significant trees located on the property that meet 
the requirements indicated in this section.  Applicants for a single-family or 
two-family preliminary or final plat are only required to submit a tree survey 
for the portion of the property that the applicant is proposing to disturb with 
the subdivision construction.  The applicant shall provide a tree preservation 
plan that identifies the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected 
trees that are proposed for removal.  The applicant shall be required to 
demonstrate that lot lines, street layouts and site improvements have been 
designed and located and that lot width, depth and size flexibility as 
permitted by the applicable zoning district has been utilized to the maximum 
extent necessary to retain the maximum number of significant trees 
reasonably practicable.  Applicants for a single-family or two-family 
preliminary or final plat may plant replacement trees within lots owned by 
the Homeowners Association including but not limited to landscape lots, park 
lots, or amenity center lots. 

(ii) The Director of Planning shall determine if adequate performance is achieved 
based on the standards of this section.  Approval of the tree protection 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 5 



preservation plan by the Director of Planning is required prior to preparation 
and submission of a subdivision or site development permit application.  The 
applicant may appeal any decision of the Director to the Commission.  A 
decision of the Commission may be appealed to the City Council.  Any 
preserved or replacement trees may be counted toward the landscape 
requirements of this section.  See the Construction Plan requirements for 
details. 

(d) Screening Requirements. 
(1) In addition to the landscaping requirements of this section, all development other 

than single-family or two-family shall comply with the following screening 
requirements:  
(i) The following shall be screened from the view of at least sixty percent (60%) 

of adjacent single-family or two-family residences and any street or public 
right-of-way:  off-street parking areas, loading spaces and docks, trash and 
storage containers, outside storage areas, satellite dishes larger than 
eighteen (18) inches in diameter, antennas, mechanical equipment, and 
metal siding.   

(ii) Above ground utility facilities up to six (6) feet above grade for multi-family 
and non-residential development are required to be screened from view 
except for poles, fire hydrants and existing lines.   

(iii) Detention Facilities including detention ponds and/or water quality ponds 
shall be screened from view. 

(iv) Screening by vegetation that could be removed from adjacent undeveloped 
or partially developed properties when such property is developed is not 
considered as screening from view.   

(v) Outside storage areas shall be screened by the use of a privacy fence or wall 
at least the height of the items to be screened and in conformance with the 
requirements of this ordinance.  If the outdoor storage area is adjacent to an 
arterial or collector roadway, then the wall is required to be constructed of 
one or more of the following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco 
(limited to thirty-five (35%) of the exterior surface area of walls), factory 
tinted (not painted) split face concrete masonry unit, or other similar 
material approved by the Director of Planning.  In addition to the materials 
listed above, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. Woodcrete) is also permitted 
when the wall is adjacent to collectors. 

(vi) A minimum five-foot (5') landscaped area located on the exterior of the 
fence shall be provided and landscaped in accordance with paragraph (2) (i) 
above unless the fence is on a rear boundary line or adjoining a permanent 
structure on the site. 

(vii) Fuel pumps are required to be screened from view of any street or public 
right-of-way to at least the height of the fuel pump. 

(viii) Lift stations are required to be screened from view of adjacent single-family 
or two-family residences, or any street or public right-of-way by the use of a 
wall.  The wall is required to be constructed of one or more of the following 
materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco (limited to thirty-five (35%) of the 
exterior surface area of walls), factory tinted (not painted) split face concrete 
masonry unit, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. Woodcrete) or other similar 
material approved by the Director of Planning.   

(2) Approved screening techniques include privacy fences, evergreen vegetative 
screens, landscape berms, existing vegetation or any combination thereof unless 
otherwise noted in this section.. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 6 



(3) Privacy Fences (See section 14 and 16 of this Article) 
(4) Evergreen Vegetative Screens. Evergreen plant materials shall be shrubs, at least 

thirty (30) inches in height and at a minimum spacing of 48 inches at the time of 
installation, in combination with shade trees not more than fifty feet apart. 

(5) Landscape Berms, in combination with trees, shall fulfill the screening 
requirements of this section if the berms are at least three (3) feet in height and 
have maximum side slopes of four (4) feet of horizontal run for every one (1) foot 
in vertical rise. 

(6) Existing on-site vegetation, demonstrating significant visual screening capabilities 
and as approved by the Director of Planning, shall fulfill the requirements of this 
section. 

SECTION 3:  OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
(a) The following off-street parking requirements are considered minimum requirements 

and may not adequately reflect the specific needs of a proposed business.  A 
commercial building permit applicant shall analyze the parking needs of the specific 
users being proposed and provide the amount of parking required for such uses.  When 
any building or structure is erected, or an existing building is enlarged by fifty (50) 
percent or more in floor area, off-street parking shall be provided in accordance with 
the following requirements (Note: Any building enlargement is required to add at least 
the amount of additional parking required by the enlargement):  

USE CATEGORY SPECIFIC USE SPACE REQUIREMENT 

RESIDENTIAL USES 

Household Living 

Single Family See Use District 

Multi-Family 1 ½ for one bedroom plus ½ for each 
additional bedroom. 

Senior Multi-Family 1 per dwelling plus additional 5% of total 
spaces for visitor use. 

Group Living 

Fraternity House, 
Sorority House, 
Dormitory,  Rooming 
House, Boarding House 

1 per each two beds 

Nursing Home/Hospice/ 
Assisted Living 1 per bedroom 

All other Group Homes 1 per bedroom 

Family Home and Group 
Home-Class 1 

not less than four (4) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater. 

Group Home-Class 2 & 
Group Home-Class 3 

not less than six (6) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater 

CIVIC USES 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 7 



Educational & 
Daycare Facilities 

Elementary Schools greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
2:classroom 

Secondary Schools, 
colleges 

greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
10:classroom 

Day Care Center 1:400 sq. ft. 

Medical & 
Institutional Facilities 

Hospital, Sanitarium, 
Convalescent Home 1:4 beds 

All other institutions 1:250 sq. ft. 

Parks & Open Areas Golf Courses 3:hole 

Neighborhood Amenity 
Center 

1:300 sq. ft. (including pools in square 
footage calculation) 

Places of Worship Religious Assembly 1:200 square feet of sanctuary, 
classrooms, flexible seating areas 

COMMERCIAL USES 

Automotive Sales & 
Services 

Motor Vehicle 
Salesrooms & Used Car 
Lots 

greater of 1:800 sq. ft. of sales floor or 
lot area 

Vehicle Repair Garage 1:400 sq. ft. 

Overnight 
Accommodations 

Hotel, Motel 1 per room plus 1:200 sq. ft. of Comm. 
Floor Area 

Bed & Breakfast/Inn 1 per guest room plus 2 additional 
spaces 

Food & Beverage 
Establishments 

Restaurant as a single 
use or comprising more 
than 20% of a mixed 
retail center 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Entertainment & 
Recreation 

Dance / Assembly / 
Exhibition Hall, 
Restaurant, Night Club, 
Lodge or Country Club 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Bowling Alleys 5:lane alley 

Community Center, 
Library, Museum, Art 
Gallery 

1:300 sq. ft. 

Theater, Auditorium 
(except school), Sports 
Arena, Stadium, 
Gymnasium, Funeral 
Home 

1:4 seats 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 8 



Commercial Office, 
Retail Sales, & 

Services 

Medical / Dental Clinic/ 
Office, Personal Service, 
Mixed Use Retail Center 
less than 20,000 sq. ft. 

1:200 sq. ft. 

Mixed Use Retail greater 
than 20,000 sq. ft. 1:225 sq. ft. 

Studio, Bank, Retail 1:250 sq. ft. 

Business / Professional 
Office 1:275 sq. ft. 

Furniture, Appliance or 
Hardware Store; 
Wholesale Sales 
Establishment, 
Machinery / Equipment 
Sales & Service; 
Clothing / Shoe Repair; 
Service Shop 

1:300 sq. ft. 

INDUSTRIAL USES 

Industrial, 
Manufacturing, 
Warehousing, 

Storage 

Manufacturing, 
Industrial, Research, 
Testing, Warehouse, 
Storage Buildings and 
Yards, Lumber Yard, 
Printing Shop, Plumbing 
Shop 

1:600 plus spaces for business vehicles 

Mini-Warehouse Self 
Storage parking required only for office 

Church, Theater, 
Auditorium (except 
school), Sports Arena, 
Stadium, Gymnasium, 
Funeral Home 

1:4 seats 

Hotel, Motel 1 per room plus 1:200 sq. ft. of Comm. 
Floor Area 

Furniture, Appliance or 
Hardware Store; 
Wholesale Sales 
Establishment, 
Machinery / Equipment 
Sales & Service; 
Clothing / Shoe Repair; 
Service Shop, 
Community Center, 

1:300 sq. ft. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 9 



Library, Museum, Art 
Gallery 
Hospital, Sanitarium, 
Convalescent Home 1:4 beds 

Dance / Assembly / 
Exhibition Hall, 
Restaurant, Night Club, 
Lodge or Country Club 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Motor Vehicle 
Salesrooms & Used Car 
Lots 

greater of 1:800 sq. ft. of sales floor or 
lot area 

Vehicle Repair Garage 1:400 sq. ft. 

Mini-Warehouse Self 
Storage parking required only for office 

Golf Courses 3:hole 

Bowling Alleys 5:alley 

Elementary Schools greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
2:classroom 

Secondary Schools, 
colleges 

greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
10:classroom 

Family Home and Group 
Home-Class 1 

not less than four (4) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater. 

Group Home-Class 2 & 
Group Home-Class 3 

not less than six (6) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 10 



In a development with mixed-use buildings designed and built in a walkable and pedestrian 
friendly configuration, the Director of Planning may consider the following shared parking 
factors in reviewing a proposal for a reduction in the minimum parking requirements (the 
shared parking factor is applied to the sum of the individual uses minimum parking 
requirements): 

Shared Parking Factor 
Residential Lodging Office Retail 

Residential 100% — — — 
Lodging 90% 100% — — 
Office 70% 60% 100% — 
Retail 80% 75% 80% 100% 

For uses not listed, the Director of Planning may request additional parking demand analysis 
from the applicant to justify a reduction in the minimum parking requirements. 

Where shared parking is provided, a shared parking and cross access agreement between 
the cooperating property owners shall be approved by the Director of Planning and recorded 
prior to issuance of a building permit. This agreement must be recorded in the real property 
records of the county in which the property sits and the agreement may not be modified or 
revoked without the approval of the Director of Planning. If any requirements for shared 
parking are violated, the affected property owners must provide a remedy satisfactory to 
the Director of Planning or provide the full amount of required parking for each individual 
use. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 11 



SECTION 6:  SETBACKS 
(a) Building / Structure and Site Improvements: 

BUILDING / STRUCTURE 
Use 

Component 
Architectural 
Component Front Side Street Side Rear 

Standard Setback 

SFR 25' 7' 15' 15' 

SFE, SFS, 
SFU, 

SFU/MH, TF 
20' 5' 15' 15' 

SFC, SFL 2015'* 
5' or 
0’ & 
10’ 

15' 150' 

SFT 105'* 0 or 
10' 15' 150' 

MF 
Type A 20' 10' 20' 20' 
Type B 25' 10' 25' 20' 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type A, B 15' 10' 15' 10' 
Type C 20' 10' 20' 10' 

GC, HC, HI Type D 25' 15' 25' 15' 

Special Setback 
Where Adjacent to 

SFR, SFE, SFS, 
SFU, SFC, SFL, 
SFU/MH, TF** 

MF, LO, LC, 
GC, HC, HI 

Type A (NA) 20' (N/A) 20' 
Type B (NA) 25' (N/A) 25' 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI Type C (NA) 30' (N/A) 30' 

GC, HC, HI Type D (NA) 50' (N/A) 50' 

Garage Setback 

SFR, SFE, 
SFS, SFU, 
SFU/MH. 
SFC. SFL, 
SFT, TF 

See Article VIII, Section 5 (i) 

PARKING, AISLE, LOADING, CANOPIES, OUTDOOR DISPLAY 

Use 
Component 

Site 
Component Front Side Street 

Side Rear 

Standard Setback 

MF All 20' 5'**** 20' 5'**** 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type 1, 2 15' 5'**** 15' 5'**** 
Type 3 20' 5'**** 20' 5'**** 

Type 4, 5 25' 5'**** 25' 5'**** 
Special Setback 

Where Adjacent to 
SF or TF** 

MF, LO, LC, 
GC, HC, HI 

Type 1-3 (N/A) 15' (N/A) 15' 

Type 4, 5 (N/A) 20' (N/A) 20' 

OUTDOOR STORAGE 
Use 

Component 
Site 

Component Front Side Street 
Side Rear 

Standard Setback LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type 3-4 *** 5'**** *** 0' 
Type 5 25' 0'**** 25' 0' 

Special Setback  
Where Adjacent to 

SF or TF** 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI Type 3-5 (N/A) 25' (N/A) 25' 

* In no case shall the garage be closer to the ROW than 18’
** Unless such district is utilized for a non-residential use 
***  No closer than the street facing wall of the primary structure that utilizes such storage. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 12 



SFC, SFL - BUILDING SETBACK 

HOUSE 

GARAGE 

1520’ HOUSE  
FRONT 

SETBACK 

5’
 O

R 
0 

AN
D 

10
’ S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

150’ REAR 

PATIO 

7’ PATIO ENCROACHMENT 

GARAGE 

HOUSE 

PORCH 

15
’ H

O
US

E 
 

ST
RE

ET
 S

ID
E 

7’ PORCH 
ENCROACHMENT 

5’ REAR ACCESSORY 
STRUCTURE SETBACK 

LOT LINES STREET 

ST
RE

ET
 

FIGURE I 

**** Setback does not apply for parking, drive aisles, storage etc. that are intended to cross lot line. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 13 



SFT BUILDING - SETBACK 

TOWNHOUSE 

GARAGE 

105’ HOUSE  
FRONT 

SETBACK 

150’ REAR 
PATIO 

7’ GARAGE & PATIO  
ENCROACHMENT 

GARAGE 

TOWNHOUSE 

PORCH 

15
’ H

O
US

E 
 

ST
RE

ET
 S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

7’ PORCH 
ENCROACHMENT 

5’ REAR ACCESSORY 

LOT LINES STREET 

ST
RE

ET
 

ALLEY 

PARKING 

0 
O

R 
10

’ S
ID

E 
SE

TB
AC

K 

TOWN- 
HOUSE 

3’ SEPARATION 

FIGURE J 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 14 



SECTION 7:  DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES 
(a) Purpose. 

The purpose of this section is to provide for the design of drainage and detention facilities 
that contribute to visual aesthetics of projects and limit the amounts of visible concrete that 
do not meet the requirements listed below.  For the purposes of this section, visible shall be 
defined as noticeable by a person of average height walking on a street, sidewalk, or trail, 
or able to be seen by a neighboring property that is two stories in height.  In addition, 
stamped and tinted concrete shall be defined as concrete that is patterned and/or textured 
to resemble brick or stone.  Tinting shall be defined as adding color to the concrete mix prior 
to pouring that is an earth tone.  

(b) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 

quality ponds, pond outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other 
improvements associated with the drainage improvements.  Roadside swales, storm 
sewer outfalls unless visible from a ROW, inlets, and areas of concrete that are no more 
than one hundred (100) square feet in size are not included. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet (10’) 
of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest 
possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Any fencing around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds shall be 
constructed of wrought iron or decorative tubular metal or other similar product. 

(5) Structural stabilization including vertical walls and riprap for non-residential and multi-
family drainage facilities shall be limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent of the 
perimeter of the pond excluding outlet structures.  The remainder of the perimeter shall 
be earthern embankment no steeper than 3:1 slope.  All exposed concrete that is 
visible is required to be clad in stone provide decorative textured concrete and tinting in 
earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, 
or cast stone, or other decorative materials such as stamped and tinted concrete that 
resembles stone or brick as approved by the Director of Planning.   All other exposed 
concrete is required to be clad in stone as listed above or textured and tinted in 
earthern colors.  In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, structural 
stabilization is permitted for the full perimeter and screening requirements listed in 
Article VI, Section 1 (d) of this Ordinance shall apply. 

(c) Residential Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Residential drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water quality ponds, pond 

outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements associated with the 
drainage improvements. Roadside swales, storm sewer outfalls unless visible from a 
ROW, inlets, and areas of concrete that are no more than one hundred (100) square 
feet in size are not included. 

(2) Residential drainage facilities shall utilize earthern berms and be designed with a curvi-
linear shape.  Any structural stabilization with slopes steeper than 3:1 shall be limited 
to the use of native stone (except for outlet structures which can be concrete) and shall 
be limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent of the perimeter of the pond.  Such 
ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with the landscaping.  All exposed concrete that is 
visible is required to be clad in stone provide decorative textured concrete and tinting in 
earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, 
or cast stone, or other decorative materials such as stamped and tinted concrete that 
resembles stone or brick as approved by the Director of Planning.  All other exposed 
concrete is required to be clad in stone as listed above or textured and tinted in 
earthern colors.  In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, concrete is 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 15 



permitted instead of native stone and screening requirements Article VI, Sec. 1 (d) of 
this Ordinance shall apply. 

(3) Any fencing around residential detention ponds shall be constructed of wrought iron or 
decorative tubular metal or other similar product. 

SECTION 8:  SINGLE-FAMILY AND TWO-FAMILY LOTS ABUTTING OR ADJACENT TO 
TOLLWAY, HIGHWAY, OR ARTERIAL, OR COLLECTOR ROADWAY  
For single-family and two-family lots contained within a subdivision receiving approval for a 
preliminary plat and final plat or a short form plat after the effective date of this ordinance and 
abutting or adjacent to a tollway, highway, arterial, or collector roadways as identified on the 
Leander Transportation Plan or based on roadway design, direct driveway access to any single-
family or two-family lot from such roadway shall be prohibited.   The following are also 
applicable: 

(b) For lots adjacent to tollway, highway, arterial, or collector roadways and backing up to such 
roadway (having frontage on another roadway of a lesser classification), the following shall 
be provided (see Figure Q – following pages):   
(2) A six-foot privacy fence is required to be constructed at the common lot line between 

the landscape lot and the single-family or two-family lots.  The fence is required to be 
constructed of one or more of the following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, 
stucco, factory tinted (not painted) split-faced concrete masonry unit, or other 
similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  In addition to the materials 
listed above, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. WoodCrete) is also permitted when the 
privacy fence is adjacent to collectors. All columns are required to have concrete 
footings.  The landscape lot is required to be maintained by a private association. 

(c) For lots adjacent to tollway, highway, arterial, or collector roadways and having a side of the 
lot adjacent to such roadway (having frontage on another roadway of a lesser classification), 
the following shall be provided (see Figure Q – next page): 
(2) A six-foot privacy fence is required to be constructed at the common lot line between 

the landscape lot and the single-family or two-family lots from the rear lot line to a 
point even with the rear wall of the house at a minimum, but no further than to a point 
even with the front wall of the house.  Any fence closer to the front lot line than the 
front wall of the house shall not exceed three feet in height; however, such fence is 
not required.  Such fence is required to be constructed of one or more of the 
following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco, factory tinted (not painted) 
split-faced concrete masonry unit, or other similar material approved by the Director 
of Planning.  In addition to the materials listed above, textured pre-cast concrete 
(e.g. WoodCrete) is also permitted when the privacy fence is adjacent to collectors. 
All columns are required to have concrete footings.  The landscape lot is required to 
be maintained by a private association. 

SECTION 12:  OUTDOOR LIGHTING 
(a) The purpose of this section is to provide design standards for site and building lighting 

that are Dark Sky compliant and compatible with adjacent uses. 
(b) Non-residential outdoor lighting will be in accordance with other provisions of this 

ordinance and City building codes. A detailed Llighting Pplan and photometric plan shall 
be included with the Building Permit application and shall meet the following 
requirements:. 
(1)  Outdoor Lighting 

a. Fixture.

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 16 



i. All permanent exterior lighting shall be non-flashing and shielded such
that the light source (cone of direct light) is not visible from the public
ROW or adjacent residential uses at the property line (see Figure R –
following page).

i.ii. Wall pack lighting or other lighting that directs the light in a horizontal 
direction without an adequate shield is not permitted (since it directs 
the light glare directly outward) if there are streets or residential uses in 
the direction of the light. 

b. Illumination Levels
ii.i. All site lighting shall be designed and installed so that the level of 

illumination as measured in foot candles at a height of three (3’) feet 
at the property line does not exceed two (2’) foot candles. 

(a)(c) Residential outdoor lighting on residential property will be installed in accordance 
with applicable City Code Standards. It will be located so as not to create a nuisance for 
adjoining property owners. 

(b)(d) All permanent exterior lighting shall be non-flashing and shielded such that the light 
source (cone of direct light) is not visible from the public ROW or adjacent residential 
uses at the property line (see Figure R – following page).  Wall pack lighting or other 
lighting that directs the light in a horizontal direction without an adequate shield is not 
permitted (since it directs the light glare directly outward) if there are streets or 
residential uses in the direction of the light. 

SECTION 14:   ADDITIONAL MULTI-FAMILY AND NON-RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS 

(d)   Masonry Privacy Wall 
(1) A six-foot masonry privacy wall is required to be constructed by any non-residential 

use that abuts property utilized for a single-family or two-family residence on land 
zoned single-family or two-family, or land planned or platted for such with an 
approved concept plan, preliminary plat or final plat, unless an existing structure is 
proposed to be expanded by less than 50%, or 1,000 sq. ft., whichever is less.   
(i) Such wall shall be constructed at the common property line between the uses, 

or if such location is not feasible because of floodplain, trees or other natural 
feature, at a location that will effectively screen the non-residential use from 
view from the single-family or two-family residence.   

(ii) Such wall is required to be constructed of one or more of the following 
materials:  textured pre-cast concrete that is constructed to appear as brick, 
stone, or cast stone as approved by the Director of Planning, brick, stone, cast 
stone, stucco, factory tinted or painted split-faced concrete masonry unit, 
granite, tile or other similar material approved by the Director of Planning.   

(iii) An eight-foot wall may be utilized for security purposes. 
(iv) Gates shall be provided in the wall as appropriate to connect to public 

sidewalks or other pedestrian connections unless such wall is also used as 
described above for security.  

(2) The masonry privacy wall is not required for non-residential uses that are permitted by 
right in any Single-Family Districts. 

SECTION 16:  FENCES 
(d) Fences less than or equal to eight (8) feet in height shall be allowed for impeding 

access to hazardous or secured facilities including, but not limited to, electrical 
substations and chemical or equipment storage yards; or where , because of severe 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 17 



slope conditions, such fencing height can be demonstrated to be necessary for privacy 
or visual buffering; or where the fence forms a perimeter around a subdivision.  For 
high security applications, barbed wire or razor wire (or equivalent) may be installed 
above the eight (8) foot height limit but not to exceed a total of ten feet in height. 

ARTICLE VII – ARCHITECTURAL COMPONENTS 

SECTION 1:  TYPE A 
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) At least eighty-five percent (85%) of the exterior surface area of all walls, including all 
stories of primary buildings / structures, shall consist of un-painted clay brick, ledge 
stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, non-
reflective glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall) and factory 
tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit (non-residential buildings and 
structures only) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  The 
remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or 
cementious-fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with board and batten 
application).  Solid wood planking and decorative cementious-fiber panels may be used 
for accent features. 

SECTION 2:  TYPE B 
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) At least eighty-five (85%) percent of the exterior surface area of first story walls and 
fifty percent (50%) percent of the exterior surface area of each additional story walls of 
the exterior surface area (all stories) and at least eighty-five percent (85%) of the 
exterior surface area of first story walls of primary buildings / structures, shall consist of 
un-painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted 
or tinted stucco, glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall) and 
factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit (non-residential buildings 
and structures only) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  The 
remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or 
cementious-fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with a board and batten 
application).  Solid wood planking, decorative cementious-fiber panels and other 
materials approved by the Director of Planning may be used for accent features. 

SECTION 3:  TYPE C 
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) At least sixty (60%) percent of the exterior surface area of street facing walls (See 
Figures U, V, and W – following pages) of primary buildings and thirty five percent 
(35%) percent of the exterior surface area of all other walls (all stories), including at 
least sixty percent (60%) of the exterior surface area of street facing walls (all stories) 
(see Figures U, V and W – following pages) of primary buildings / structures shall 
consist of un-painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, 
tile, painted or tinted stucco, glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. 
Kalwall) and, for non-residential buildings and structures, factory tinted (not painted) 
split faced concrete masonry unit, pre-cast concrete tilt wall with a decorative or 
textured finish (needs approval by the Director of Planning to determine if finish is 
acceptable) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning. The remaining 
exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or cementious-fiber 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 18 



planking (not panels unless they are used with a board and batten application) or, for 
non-residential applications only, exterior insulating finishing system (E.I.F.S.).  Solid 
wood planking, decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by 
the Director of Planning may be used for accent features.  For non-residential buildings, 
smooth faced concrete masonry unit and metal panels or similar materials approved by 
the Director of Planning may be utilized as an accent feature and shall comprise not 
more than ten percent (10%) of any wall surface area. 

SECTION 4:  TYPE D 
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) For all buildings / structures that are more than four hundred (400’) feet from a street, 
the masonry requirements do not apply.  For all buildings / structures that are within 
four hundred (400’) feet of a street at least sixty (60%) percent of the exterior surface 
area of street facing walls (See Figures U, V, and W – following pages) of primary 
buildings and thirty five (35%) percent of the exterior surface area of all other walls 
Unless there are no street facing walls, at least thirty five percent (35%) of the exterior 
surface area of walls (all stories), including at least sixty percent (60%) of the exterior 
surface area of street facing walls (all stories) (see Figures S, T and U – previous 
pages) of primary buildings / structures shall consist of un-painted brick, ledge stone, 
fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, exterior insulating 
finishing system (E.I.F.S.), glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. 
Kalwall), factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit, pre-cast 
concrete tilt wall with a decorative or textured finish or similar material approved by the 
Director of Planning. The remaining exterior wall surfaces shall be comprised of those 
materials listed or cementious-fiber planking or panels, or painted metal siding except 
that metal siding is not permitted on any street facing wall.  Solid wood planking, 
decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by the Director of 
Planning may be used for accent features.  Smooth faced concrete masonry unit and 
metal panels or similar materials approved by the Director of Planning may be utilized 
as an accent feature only and shall not comprise more than fifteen percent (15%) of 
any wall surface area. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 19 



ARTICLE VIII - ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 

SECTION 1:  WALL AREA CALCULATIONS 
(a) In calculating percentage of exterior wall area, the area of windows and window frames, 

doors and door frames, eves, soffits, dormers, columns, recessed entryways, foundation 
and similar areas are excluded from the calculations and may utilize any of the materials 
listed in the applicable component exterior wall standards, when, in the opinion of the 
Building Official, construction with the required masonry materials is not reasonably feasible. 

(b) A street facing wall is the exterior wall of a building, including any off-sets, projections or 
recesses, facing a street or within forty-five (45) degrees of such orientation and within 
four hundred (400) feet of the street.  A wall is considered facing a street even if there is 
another public ROW between the wall and the street.  A wall is not considered facing a 
street if another building or other permanent screening material on site is between the 
wall and the street and blocks the view of the wall from the street by at least seventy-
five percent (75%) from all view angles.  Five year projected maturity of any on-site 
evergreen planted materials may be considered in the screening assessment. 

(c) A masonry calculation table is required at the building permit stage to demonstrate 
compliance with the ordinance requirements. 

ARTICLE IX – SITE DEVELOPMENT 

SECTION 1:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
(b) Applicability; Site Development Permit Required 

Any person who develops, or causes to be developed, property located within the 
corporate limits of the City shall comply with this Chapter.  Within the city corporate 
limits the use of property shall not be changed, no development shall take place and no 
building permit shall be issued until a site development permit has been issued in 
accordance with the code of ordinances of the City.   Property for which a site 
development permit has been issued shall be developed in compliance with the 
approved site plan.   The following are exceptions to the applicability of this Chapter: 
(1) Construction, alteration or addition to a single-family or two family residential 

structure, or an accessory building to any such structure. 
(2) Alteration or finish-out of an existing building when the alteration or finish-out does 

not increase the square footage of the building or change the building footprint as 
long as one of the following applies: 
(i) The use does not change, or if the use changes, the new use does not 

require more parking than is currently existing and no additional parking 
spaces, aisles or driveways are proposed; 

(ii) The alteration, finish-out or change of use is in compliance with all applicable 
codes and regulations of the city; and 

(iii) The proposal does not increase the degree of any existing non-conforming 
use or non-conforming structure. 

(3) Construction of a fence, but no exception is granted by this subsection for 
construction of a retaining wall or for a fence that may obstruct or change the flow 
of water. 

(4) Brush clearing in compliance with the landscape and tree regulations of the city as 
long as only rubber-tired equipment is introduced to the site (no equipment with 
tracks). 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 20 



(e) Minor Site Development Permit 
(1) Projects that include minor site activity similar to those listed in Section 1(b) and 

including brush clearing, Article IX of this ordinance may be eligible for a minor site 
development permit.  To be eligible, such projects may increase the impervious 
cover by no more than 1,000 square feet.  In addition, a minor site development 
permit application shall be submitted for review in conformance with all information 
and materials required by the most recent minor site development permit 
application/checklist. 

(2) A professional recovery fee as set forth in Appendix A shall be required at the time 
of site development permit exemption application submittal. 

ARTICLE X – ADMINISTRATION 

SECTION 10:  ENFORCEMENT 
(a) Penalty 

(1) Penalty.  Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this ordinance, or 
shall fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the 
City limits shall be deemed guilty of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to 
exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2000.00). Each day the violation exists 
shall constitute a separate offense. Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other 
remedies provided herein 

(2) Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree protection preservation plan, or who 
removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to 
be removed under an approved tree protection preservation plan shall be charged 
and shall pay a fee of $300 per inch for each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches 
in caliper removed in violation of this ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining 
evidence on site to determine if a violation of this ordinance has occurred.  For 
enforcement purposes the City will consider that any stump remaining on the 
property which is eight inches or more in diameter measured at ground level or 
higher was a stump of a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper. 
Furthermore, any cut wood discovered on site will be considered evidence of a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper if the diameter of the cut wood is 
measured at eight inches or greater at any point on any piece of cut wood.  A site 
development or building permit application for property from which one or more 
Significant Trees have been removed in violation of this ordinance may not be 
approved until an administrative. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 21 



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS AMENDING 
SECTIONS OF ARTICLE 14.02, THE COMPOSITE ZONING 
ORDINANCE, TO ADD DEFINITIONS, UPDATE THE USE 
COMPONENTS, TO MODIFY SETBACKS FOR COMMERCIAL 
FUELING, TO UPDATE REQUIREMENTS FOR SCREENING, TO 
UPDATE THE PARKING REQUIREMENTS TABLE, TO MODIFY 
RESIDENTIAL SETBACKS, TO CLARIFY REQUIREMENTS FOR 
DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES, TO MODIFY OUTDOOR 
LIGHTING REQUIREMENTS, TO UPDATE THE ARCHITECTURAL 
STANDARDS, TO UPDATE THE SITE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE, PROVIDING SAVINGS, 
EFFECTIVE DATE AND OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSES, AND 
PROVIDING FOR RELATED MATTERS. 

Whereas, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed 
amendments to Section 14.02.001, Article 14.02, Chapter 14, Leander Code of Ordinances (the 
“Composite Zoning Ordinance”), and forwarded its recommendation on the amendments to the City 
Council; and 

Whereas, after publishing notice of the public hearing at least fifteen days prior to the date 
of such hearing, the City Council at a public hearing has considered the proposed amendments and 
finds that the amendments are reasonable and necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of 
the present and future residents of the City; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 

Section 1. Findings of Fact. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and 
correct and are incorporated herein as findings of fact.  

Section 2. Amendment of Article I, Section 6.  Article I, Section 6 of the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance is hereby amended to add the following definitions: 

Dark Sky means the use of lighting in a way that directs the light source away from the 
sky in order for the night sky to remain relatively free of interference from artificial light. 
This type of lighting is in compliance with the International Dark Sky Association 
standards. 

Gaming Room Facility means a place to deal, operate, carry on, conduct, maintain, or 
expose for play any game, sports book, promotion, sweepstakes, or other activity 
electronic or otherwise that may or may not confer upon the patrons or participants the 
right, chance, or ability to win and or claim prizes.   

Gaming Device means a clock, tape machine, slot machine, or other machine or device 
for the reception of money or other thing of value on chance or skill or upon action of 



-2-

which money or other thing of value is staked, hazarded, bet, won, or lost; or any 
mechanism, furniture, fixture, equipment or other device designed primarily for use in a 
gambling place.  It does not include: (1) A coin-in-slot-operated mechanical device 
played for amusement that rewards the player with the right to replay such mechanical 
device; or (2) Vending machines by which full and adequate return is made for the 
money invested and in which there is no element of chance or hazard. 

Soil means the upper layer of the earth in which plants grow and contains humus, 
minerals, available nutrients, and beneficial micro-organisms, resulting in a favorable 
condition for vegetative growth. 

Section 3. Amendment of Article I, Section 6.  The definitions of “Lot Width” and “Riparian 
Corridor” set forth in Article I, Section 6 of the Composite Zoning Ordinance are hereby amended 
to read as follows: 

Lot Width means the average horizontal distance between side property or lot lines.  Lot 
width can also be identified as the measurement of the lot at the building setback line.  
The minimum lot width for lots fronting a cul-de-sac may be reduced to a minimum of 
thirty (30’) feet at the front property line provided that the minimum required lot width is 
provided at the front setback line. 

Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the 
ordinary high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation 
in contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary and 
Connector Trail Corridors identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open 
Space Master Plan and the Transportation Plan. 

Section 4. Amendment to Article III, Section 1 (b).  Article III, Section 1(b) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(b) Conforming Uses 
(1) Single-family dwelling of not less than sixteen hundred (1,600) square feet of living 

area; accessory dwelling with a minimum living area of four hundred (400) square 
feet; and a maximum living area of nine hundred (900) square feet or 40% of the gross 
living area of the primary dwelling, whichever is greater.  However, for lots greater 
than three acres in size, there is no limit to the maximum size of the accessory 
dwelling. 

(2) Community services including community center, civic organizations, fraternal 
organizations, and cemetery / mausoleum not including a crematory or embalming 
facilities  

(3) Golf courses (public and private) and all associated improvements and activities, but 
not including miniature golf courses, golf practice ranges (unless associated with a 
golf course), or similar forms of commercial amusement 

(4) Day care (in home) for 5 or fewer children 



-3-

(5) Emergency services including fire, police and EMS stations 
(6) Family Home and Group Home-Class 1 
(7) Home occupations (see Article IV, Section 8 for Use Standards) 
(8) Parks, playgrounds and associated equipment and facilities, recreational amenity 

center 
(9) Place of worship 
(10) Public buildings, including libraries, museums and administrative offices 
(11) Real estate sales offices during the development and sale of a residential subdivision 

and subject to the restrictions contained in this ordinance 
(12) Schools, public or private, including all levels up to and including secondary 

(high) school and equivalent curriculum including support facilities are permitted 
(13) Temporary buildings incidental to construction work on the premises if such buildings 

are removed upon the completion or abandonment of construction work (see Article 
IV, Sec. 7) 

(14) Utilities (minor) including ground mounted service equipment and minor structures 
and facilities such as poles, minor electrical switching facilities, lift stations, water 
pump stations and gas regulating facilities 

(15) Water supply reservoirs and pumping plants when screened from public view 
(16) Wireless communications facilities (WCFs) attached to street poles or facades 

attached to non-residential buildings or stealth WCFs are permitted subject to the 
provisions of this ordinance.  Freestanding WCFs, including lattice towers and mono-
poles, are prohibited. 

(17) (For lots or tracts three or more acres in size) ranches, dairy farms, stables, riding 
academies and roping arenas; including the feeding, raising and breeding of 
agricultural livestock and exotic hoof stock; however, with exception of commercial 
feed lots which are not permitted, and the exception that not more than one large 
animal (e.g. a horse, cow, bull or similar animal) or five small animals (e.g. goats, 
sheep or similar animal) may be permitted for each acre of grazeable land.  Grazeable 
land shall be land that is fenced and maintained with suitable forage for grazing of the 
particular species.  Barns and stables shall not be located within 25 feet of any 
property line. (See Chap. 2, City Code for animal control regulations) 

(18) Agricultural, small wind energy systems, solar energy systems and rainwater 
harvesting systems including or similar to: 
(i) As accessory uses, solar energy systems designed to supply energy for use on 

the premises, and rainwater harvesting systems meeting the standards of 
Article IV, Sec. 5 of Article 14.200. In addition, if approved with a special 
use permit, small wind energy systems may be approved as an accessory use 
if meeting the standards of Article IV, Sec. 5 of Article 14.200. 

(ii) Hunting and/or hunting leases (for lots or tracts three or more acres in size). 
(iii) Farming or truck gardens, limited to the propagation and cultivation of 

plants. 



-4-

(19) Temporary parking associated with model homes and/or sales trailers prior to the 
completion of model homes.  Article IX of this ordinance will apply to temporary 
parking lots. 

(20) Other similar uses as determined by the Director of Planning [see Article II, Sec. 2, 
(f)]. 

Section 5. Amendment to Article III, Section 14 (b).  Article III, Section 14 (b) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(b) Conforming Uses 
(1) Any use permitted in the “GC” component 
(2) Bingo 
(3) Car Title Loans Shop/Business 
(4) Commercial laundry 
(5) Contractor and building material storage 
(6) Gaming Room Facility/Gaming Device 
(7) Hooka Lounge 
(8) Manufacture, assembly or processing of materials not classified as hazardous by the 

Fire Chief 
(9) Mini-warehouse or self-service storage facilities [required to be set back at least four 

hundred (400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial roadway if built to Type 
B, C or D architectural standards or such facilities include exterior warehouse doors], 
warehouse and distribution, commercial storage  

(10) Pawn Shop 
(11) Payday Lending Business 
(12) Research, Testing, and Development Laboratory 
(13) Research, Testing, and Development Laboratory (Intense) 
(14) Retail sales, second hand resale, and services 
(15) RV, trailer, commercial motor vehicle and boat outdoor storage [required to be set 

back at least four hundred (400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial 
roadway]  (Note:  refer to Article VI, Section 9 for rules on special vehicle storage) 

(16) Tattoo and/or Body Piercing Parlor  
(17) Utilities, including ground mounted service equipment and structures as a primary use 

and facilities such as poles, electrical switching facilities, lift stations, water pump 
stations, gas regulating facilities, electrical substations, generating plants, wastewater 
and water treatment plants, etc. (see screening requirements in Article VI, Sec. 1) 

(18) Vehicle and major equipment sales, rental or leasing, repair, body shop [Small engine 
repair shops and motorcycle repair shops shall not be permitted within one-hundred 
fifty (150’) feet of a residential district unless such repairs are conducted totally within 
a fully enclosed building.] 

(19) Warehouse and distribution 
(20) Wood yard  
(21) Wholesale activities 
(22) Wrecker Impoundment, Towing [required to be set back at least four hundred (400) 

feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial roadway] 



-5-

(23) Stand alone crematory or embalming establishment as long as the crematory stack is 
no closer than 200’ from a restaurant or associated parking or from a residential 
district (unless such district is utilized for non-residential uses). 

(24) Other similar uses as determined by the Director of Planning based on the criteria of 
Article II, Sec. 2, (f) 

Section 6. Amendment to Article III, Section 16 (d) (8).  Article III, Section 16 (d) (8) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(d) Rules Applicable 
(8) The PUD shall result in overall higher standards than what would be provided by 

the base zoning district.  As examples:  (1) if residential lot sizes are decreased or 
development densities are increased, the PUD will be expected to significantly 
exceed other standards such as parkland and facilities dedication, landscaping, 
architectural controls, thoroughfare or other transportation improvements, 
creation of unique characteristics of the neighborhood, retention of significant 
trees and/or provision of public facilities, etc., or (2) if masonry standards or 
building/development setbacks are proposed to be decreased, other standards 
would be expected to be increased such as landscaping, screening, retention of 
significant trees, architectural controls, land uses and/or unique site layout 
standards, etc.  Other examples may include:  
(i) Designating the Type A Architectural Component 
(ii) Adding additional architectural features 
(iii) Provide a master architectural and signage plan that includes a cohesive 

materials palette 
(iv) Enhanced landscaping and/or trees 
(v) Increased landscape area 
(vi) Masonry perimeter walls for subdivisions 
(vii) Provide brick or stone instead of decorative concrete panels for screening 

walls 
(viii) Plant street trees 
(ix) Provide more parkland dedication 
(x) Increase recreation improvements 
(xi) Trails system in greenbelt areas 
(xii) Provide a Master Sign Plan including: proposed locations, provide cohesive 

materials palette, design specifications for signage, type of illumination 
(xiii) Limit fencing to wrought iron or decorative tubular metal fencing along 

greenbelt lots. 
(xiv) Provide unique characteristics of a neighborhood with a unique site layout 
(xv) Include a mixture of uses 
(xvi) Provide public spaces 
(xvii) Incorporate public art 



-6-

Section 7. Amendment to Article V, Section 3 (b) (2) (v) (b).  Article V, Section 3 (b) (2) (v) 
(b) of the Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

b. Commercial fueling is not located within two hundred (200’) feet of a residential
district unless such district is utilized for non-residential purpose.  The location is
measured from the closest portion of the structure associated with the outdoor
commercial fueling to the residential district; and

Section 8. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (c) (4) (iv).  Article VI, Section 1 (c) (4) (iv) 
of the Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(iv) Significant Trees greater than eight (8) inches in caliper shall be preserved to the 
greatest extent reasonably possible. Significant Trees removed during construction 
shall be supplanted with Replacement Trees if required by the tree mitigation 
requirements of this section.  No Significant Tree shall be removed until a tree 
preservation plan has been approved by the Director of Planning in accordance with 
this Chapter.  Significant Trees may be removed only in accordance with the approved 
tree preservation plan, and trees must be protected during construction activities on the 
property in accordance with the approved tree preservation plan.  This provision only 
applies to projects before the certificate of occupancy has been issued for single-family 
and two-family developments.  For single-family and two-family projects, this 
provision only applies prior to the initial certificate of occupancy for each lot. 

Section 9. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (c) (9) (i) & (ii).  Article VI, Section 1 (c) (9) 
(i) & (ii) of the Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(9) Tree Protection Plan Requirements 
(i) An applicant for a single-family or two-family preliminary plat or final plat, or a 

site development permit shall provide a tree survey prepared within five years 
preceding the application date.  This tree survey shall include the street and lot 
layout, or site plan superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as appropriate) 
identifying significant trees located on the property that meet the requirements 
indicated in this section.  Applicants for a single-family or two-family 
preliminary or final plat are only required to submit a tree survey for the portion 
of the property that the applicant is proposing to disturb with the subdivision 
construction.  The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that identifies 
the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected trees that are proposed for 
removal.  The applicant shall be required to demonstrate that lot lines, street 
layouts and site improvements have been designed and located and that lot 
width, depth and size flexibility as permitted by the applicable zoning district has 
been utilized to the maximum extent necessary to retain the maximum number of 
significant trees reasonably practicable.  Applicants for a single-family or two-
family preliminary or final plat may plant replacement trees within lots owned by 



 -7- 

the Homeowners Association including but not limited to landscape lots, park 
lots, or amenity center lots. 

(ii) The Director of Planning shall determine if adequate performance is achieved 
based on the standards of this section.  Approval of the tree preservation plan by 
the Director of Planning is required prior to preparation and submission of a 
subdivision or site development permit application.  The applicant may appeal 
any decision of the Director to the Commission.  A decision of the Commission 
may be appealed to the City Council.  Any preserved or replacement trees may 
be counted toward the landscape requirements of this section.  See the 
Construction Plan requirements for details. 

 
 
Section 10. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (c) (8).  Article VI, Section 1 (c) (8) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 
 

(8) A non-disturbance zone shall be maintained on single-family and two-family lots 
during the subdivision construction and building permit phases of development.  A 
disturbance area no more than five (5’) feet from the foundation necessary for 
construction and grade transitions shall be permitted.  This disturbance area shall 
be no more than ten (10’) feet from the foundation for properties zoned with the 
SFR (Single-Family Rural) use component.  The trees located on the remainder of 
the lot shall not be removed unless a unique situation is approved by the Director 
of Planning. 

 
 
Section 11. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (d) (1) (v).  Article VI, Section 1 (d) (1) (v) of 
the Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 
 

(v) Outside storage areas shall be screened by the use of a privacy fence or wall at 
least the height of the items to be screened and in conformance with the 
requirements of this ordinance.  If the outdoor storage area is adjacent to an arterial 
or collector roadway, then the wall is required to be constructed of one or more of 
the following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco (limited to thirty-five 
(35%) of the exterior surface area of walls), factory tinted (not painted) split face 
concrete masonry unit, or other similar material approved by the Director of 
Planning.  In addition to the materials listed above, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. 
Woodcrete) is also permitted when the wall is adjacent to collectors. 

 
 
Section 12. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (d) (1) (viii).  Article VI, Section 1 (d) (1) of 
the Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended by adding subsection (viii) to read as follows: 
 

(viii) Lift stations are required to be screened from view of adjacent single-family or 
two-family residences, or any street or public right-of-way by the use of a wall.  
The wall is required to be constructed of one or more of the following materials: 
brick, stone, cast stone, stucco (limited to thirty-five (35%) of the exterior surface 

 



-8-

area of walls), factory tinted (not painted) split face concrete masonry unit, 
textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. Woodcrete) or other similar material approved by 
the Director of Planning.   

Section 13. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (d) (2).  Article VI, Section 1 (d) (2) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(2) Approved screening techniques include privacy fences, evergreen vegetative 
screens, landscape berms, existing vegetation or any combination thereof unless 
otherwise noted in this section. 

Section 14. Amendment to Article VI, Section 3 (a).  Article VI, Section 3(a) of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

SECTION 3:  OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
(a) The following off-street parking requirements are considered minimum requirements and 

may not adequately reflect the specific needs of a proposed business.  A commercial 
building permit applicant shall analyze the parking needs of the specific users being 
proposed and provide the amount of parking required for such uses.  When any building or 
structure is erected, or an existing building is enlarged by fifty (50) percent or more in floor 
area, off-street parking shall be provided in accordance with the following requirements 
(Note: Any building enlargement is required to add at least the amount of additional parking 
required by the enlargement):  

USE CATEGORY SPECIFIC USE SPACE REQUIREMENT 

RESIDENTIAL USES 

Household Living 

Single Family See Use District 

Multi-Family 1 ½ for one bedroom plus ½ for each 
additional bedroom. 

Senior Multi-Family 1 per dwelling plus additional 5% of total 
spaces for visitor use. 

Group Living 

Fraternity House, 
Sorority House, 
Dormitory,  Rooming 
House, Boarding House 

1 per each two beds 

Nursing Home/Hospice/ 
Assisted Living 1 per bedroom 

All other Group Homes 1 per bedroom 

Family Home and Group not less than four (4) off street parking 



-9-

Home-Class 1 spaces, or one parking space per bedroom, 
whichever is greater. 

Group Home-Class 2 & 
Group Home-Class 3 

not less than six (6) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per bedroom, 
whichever is greater 

CIVIC USES 

Educational & 
Daycare Facilities 

Elementary Schools greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
2:classroom 

Secondary Schools, 
colleges 

greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
10:classroom 

Day Care Center 1:400 sq. ft. 

Medical & 
Institutional Facilities 

Hospital, Sanitarium 1:4 beds 

All other institutions 1:250 sq. ft. 

Parks & Open Areas Golf Courses 3:hole 

Neighborhood Amenity 
Center 

1:300 sq. ft. (including pools in square 
footage calculation) 

Places of Worship Religious Assembly 1:200 square feet of sanctuary, classrooms, 
flexible seating areas 

COMMERCIAL USES 

Automotive Sales & 
Services 

Motor Vehicle 
Salesrooms & Used Car 
Lots 

greater of 1:800 sq. ft. of sales floor or lot 
area 

Vehicle Repair Garage 1:400 sq. ft. 

Overnight 
Accommodations 

Hotel, Motel 1 per room plus 1:200 sq. ft. of Comm. 
Floor Area 

Bed & Breakfast/Inn 1 per guest room plus 2 additional spaces 

Food & Beverage 
Establishments 

Restaurant as a single use 
or comprising more than 
20% of a mixed retail 
center 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Entertainment & 
Recreation 

Dance / Assembly / 
Exhibition Hall, 
Restaurant, Night Club, 
Lodge or Country Club 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Bowling Alleys 5:lane 



-10-

Community Center, 
Library, Museum, Art 
Gallery 

1:300 sq. ft. 

Theater, Auditorium 
(except school), Sports 
Arena, Stadium, 
Gymnasium, Funeral 
Home 

1:4 seats 

Commercial Office, 
Retail Sales, & 

Services 

Medical / Dental Clinic/ 
Office, Personal Service, 
Mixed Use Retail Center 
less than 20,000 sq. ft. 

1:200 sq. ft. 

Mixed Use Retail greater 
than 20,000 sq. ft. 1:225 sq. ft. 

Studio, Bank, Retail 1:250 sq. ft. 

Business / Professional 
Office 1:275 sq. ft. 

Furniture, Appliance or 
Hardware Store; 
Wholesale Sales 
Establishment, 
Machinery / Equipment 
Sales & Service; Clothing 
/ Shoe Repair; Service 
Shop 

1:300 sq. ft. 

INDUSTRIAL USES 

Industrial, 
Manufacturing, 

Warehousing, Storage 

Manufacturing, 
Industrial, Research, 
Testing, Warehouse, 
Storage Buildings and 
Yards, Lumber Yard, 
Printing Shop, Plumbing 
Shop 

1:600 plus spaces for business vehicles 

Mini-Warehouse Self 
Storage parking required only for office 

In a development with mixed-use buildings designed and built in a walkable and pedestrian 
friendly configuration, the Director of Planning may consider the following shared parking 
factors in reviewing a proposal for a reduction in the minimum parking requirements (the shared 



-11-

parking factor is applied to the sum of the individual uses minimum parking requirements): 

Shared Parking Factor 
Residential Lodging Office Retail 

Residential 100% — — — 
Lodging 90% 100% — — 
Office 70% 60% 100% — 
Retail 80% 75% 80% 100% 

For uses not listed, the Director of Planning may request additional parking demand analysis from 
the applicant to justify a reduction in the minimum parking requirements. 

Where shared parking is provided, a shared parking and cross access agreement between the 
cooperating property owners shall be approved by the Director of Planning and recorded prior to 
issuance of a building permit. This agreement must be recorded in the real property records of 
the county in which the property sits and the agreement may not be modified or revoked without 
the approval of the Director of Planning. If any requirements for shared parking are violated, the 
affected property owners must provide a remedy satisfactory to the Director of Planning or provide 
the full amount of required parking for each individual use. 

Section 15. Amendment to Article VI, Section 6 (a).  Article VI, Section 6 (a) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows; provided that 
Figures G through M shall remain in full force and effect except as modified by this ordinance: 

(a) Building / Structure and Site Improvements: 

BUILDING / STRUCTURE 
Use 

Component 
Architectural 
Component Front Side Street Side Rear 

Standard 
Setback 

SFR 25' 7' 15' 15' 

SFE, SFS, 
SFU, 

SFU/MH, 
TF 

20' 5' 15' 15' 

SFC, SFL 15’* 
5' or 
0’ & 
10’ 

15' 15' 

SFT 10'* 0 or 
10' 15' 15' 

MF Type A 20' 10' 20' 20' 
Type B 25' 10' 25' 20' 



-12-

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type A, B 15' 10' 15' 10' 
Type C 20' 10' 20' 10' 

GC, HC, HI Type D 25' 15' 25' 15' 
Special Setback 
Where Adjacent 

to SFR, SFE, 
SFS, SFU, SFC, 
SFL, SFU/MH, 

TF** 

MF, LO, LC, 
GC, HC, HI 

Type A (NA) 20' (N/A) 20' 
Type B (NA) 25' (N/A) 25' 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI Type C (NA) 30' (N/A) 30' 

GC, HC, HI Type D (NA) 50' (N/A) 50' 

Garage Setback 

SFR, SFE, 
SFS, SFU, 
SFU/MH, 
SFC, SFL, 
SFT, TF 

See Article VIII Section 5(j) 

PARKING, AISLE, LOADING, CANOPIES, OUTDOOR DISPLAY 
Use 

Component 
Site 

Component Front Side Street 
Side Rear 

Standard Setback 

MF All 20' 5'**** 20' 5'**** 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type 1, 2 15' 5'**** 15' 5'**** 
Type 3 20' 5'**** 20' 5'**** 

Type 4, 5 25' 5'**** 25' 5'**** 
Special Setback 

Where Adjacent to 
SF or TF** 

MF, LO, LC, 
GC, HC, HI 

Type 1-3 (N/A) 15' (N/A) 15' 

Type 4, 5 (N/A) 20' (N/A) 20' 

OUTDOOR STORAGE 
Use 

Component 
Site 

Component Front Side Street 
Side Rear 

Standard Setback LO, LC, GC,
HC, HI 

Type 3-4 *** 5'**** *** 0' 
Type 5 25' 0'**** 25' 0' 

Special Setback  
Where Adjacent to 

SF or TF* 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI Type 3-5 (N/A) 25' (N/A) 25' 

* In no case shall the garage be closer to the ROW than 18’
** Unless such district is utilized for a non-residential use 
***  No closer than the street facing wall of the primary structure that utilizes such storage. 
**** Setback does not apply for parking, drive aisles, storage etc. that are intended to cross lot 

line. 



-13-

SFC, SFL - BUILDING SETBACK 

HOUSE 

GARAGE 

15’ HOUSE  
FRONT 

SETBACK 

5’
 O

R
 0

 A
N

D
 1

0’
 S

ID
E 

 
15’ REAR 

PATIO

7’ PATIO ENCROACHMENT 

GARAGE 

HOUSE 

PORCH 

15
’ H

O
U

SE
  

ST
R

EE
T 

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A

C
K

 

7’ PORCH 
ENCROACHMENT 

5’ REAR ACCESSORY 
STRUCTURE SETBACK 

LOT LINES STREET 

ST
R

EE
T 

FIGURE I 

Section 16. Amendment to Article VI, Section 6 (a) Figures I & J.  Article VI, Section 6 (a) 
Figures I & J of the Composite Zoning Ordinance are hereby amended in their entirety to read as 
follows: 



-14-

SFT BUILDING - SETBACK 

TOWNHOUSE 

GARAGE 

10’ HOUSE  
FRONT 

SETBACK 

15’ REAR 
SETBACK PATIO

7’ GARAGE & PATIO 
ENCROACHMENT 

GARAGE 

TOWNHOUSE 

PORCH 

15
’ H

O
U

SE
  

ST
R

EE
T 

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A

C
K

 

7’ PORCH 
ENCROACHMENT 

5’ REAR ACCESSORY 
STRUCTURE SETBACK 

LOT LINES STREET 

ST
R

EE
T 

ALLEY 

PARKING 

0 
O

R
 1

0’
 S

ID
E  

TOWN- 
HOUSE 

3’ SEPARATION

FIGURE J 



-15-

Section 17. Amendment to Article VI, Section 7.  Article VI, Section 7 of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

SECTION 7:  DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES 
(a)  Purpose. 

The purpose of this section is to provide for the design of drainage and detention facilities 
that contribute to visual aesthetics of projects and limit the amounts of visible concrete that 
do not meet the requirements listed below.  For the purposes of this section, visible shall be 
defined as noticeable by a person of average height walking on a street, sidewalk, or trail, or 
able to be seen by a neighboring property that is two stories in height.  In addition, stamped 
and tinted concrete shall be defined as concrete that is patterned and/or textured to resemble 
brick or stone.  Tinting shall be defined as adding color to the concrete mix prior to pouring 
that is an earth tone. 

(b)  Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 

quality ponds, pond outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements 
associated with the drainage improvements.  Roadside swales, storm sewer outfalls 
unless visible from a ROW, inlets, and areas of concrete that are no more than one 
hundred (100) square feet in size are not included. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet 
(10’) of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the 
shortest possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback 
shall not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Any fencing around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds shall be 
constructed of wrought iron or decorative tubular metal or other similar product. 

(5) Structural stabilization including vertical walls and riprap for non-residential and multi-
family drainage facilities shall be limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent of the 
perimeter of the pond excluding outlet structures.  The remainder of the perimeter shall 
be earthern embankment no steeper than 3:1 slope.  All exposed concrete that is visible 
is required to be clad in stone  including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, cast 
stone, or other decorative materials such as stamped and tinted concrete that resembles 
stone or brick as approved by the Director of Planning.   All other exposed concrete is 
required to be clad in stone as listed above or textured and tinted in earthern colors.  In 
the event that the drainage facility is below grade, structural stabilization is permitted 
for the full perimeter and screening requirements listed in Article VI, Section 1 (d) of 
this Ordinance shall apply. 

(c) Residential Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Residential drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water quality ponds, pond 

outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements associated with the 
drainage improvements. Roadside swales, storm sewer outfalls unless visible from a 
ROW, inlets, and areas of concrete that are no more than one hundred (100) square feet 
in size are not included. 



-16-

(2) Residential drainage facilities shall utilize earthern berms and be designed with a curvi-
linear shape.  Any structural stabilization with slopes steeper than 3:1 shall be limited to 
the use of native stone (except for outlet structures which can be concrete) and shall be 
limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent of the perimeter of the pond.  Such ponds 
shall be seamlessly integrated with the landscaping.  All exposed concrete that is visible 
is required to be clad in stone including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, cast 
stone, or other decorative materials such as stamped and tinted concrete that resembles 
stone or brick as approved by the Director of Planning.  All other exposed concrete is 
required to be clad in stone as listed above or textured and tinted in earthern colors.  In 
the event that the drainage facility is below grade, concrete is permitted instead of 
native stone and screening requirements Article VI, Sec. 1 (d) of this Ordinance shall 
apply.. 

(3) Any fencing around residential detention ponds shall be constructed of wrought iron or 
decorative tubular metal or other similar product. 

Section 18. Amendment to Article VI, Section 8.  The title of Article VI, Section 8 of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

SECTION 8:  SINGLE-FAMILY AND TWO-FAMILY LOTS ABUTTING OR 
ADJACENT TO TOLLWAY, HIGHWAY, ARTERIAL, OR COLLECTOR 
ROADWAY  

Section 19. Amendment to Article VI, Section 8 (b) (2).  Article VI, Section 8 (b) (2) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(2) A six-foot privacy fence is required to be constructed at the common lot line between the 
landscape lot and the single-family or two-family lots.  The fence is required to be 
constructed of one or more of the following materials: brick, stone, cast stone,  factory 
tinted (not painted) split-faced concrete masonry unit, or other similar material approved 
by the Director of Planning.  In addition to the materials listed above, textured pre-cast 
concrete (e.g. WoodCrete) is also permitted when the privacy fence is adjacent to 
collectors. All columns are required to have concrete footings.  The landscape lot is 
required to be maintained by a private association. 

Section 20. Amendment to Article VI, Section 8 (c) (2).  Article VI, Section 8 (c) (2) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(2) A six-foot privacy fence is required to be constructed at the common lot line between the 
landscape lot and the single-family or two-family lots from the rear lot line to a point even 
with the rear wall of the house at a minimum, but no further than to a point even with the 
front wall of the house.  Any fence closer to the front lot line than the front wall of the 
house shall not exceed three feet in height; however, such fence is not required.  Such 
fence is required to be constructed of one or more of the following materials: brick, stone, 



-17-

cast stone, factory tinted (not painted) split-faced concrete masonry unit, or other similar 
material approved by the Director of Planning.  In addition to the materials listed above, 
textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. WoodCrete) is also permitted when the privacy fence is 
adjacent to collectors.  All columns are required to have concrete footings.  The 
landscape lot is required to be maintained by a private association. 

Section 21. Amendment to Article VI, Section 12.  Article VI, Section 12 of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows; provided that Figure R shall 
be and remain in full force and effect: 

SECTION 12:  OUTDOOR LIGHTING 
(a) The purpose of this section is to provide design standards for site and building lighting 

that are Dark Sky compliant and compatible with adjacent uses. 
(b) Non-residential outdoor lighting will be in accordance with other provisions of this 

ordinance and City building codes. A detailed lighting plan and photometric plan shall 
be included with the Building Permit application and shall meet the following 
requirements: 
(1)  Outdoor Lighting 

a. Fixture.
i. All permanent exterior lighting shall be non-flashing and shielded such

that the light source (cone of direct light) is not visible from the public
ROW or adjacent residential uses at the property line (see Figure R –
following page).

ii. Wall pack lighting or other lighting that directs the light in a horizontal
direction without an adequate shield is not permitted (since it directs
the light glare directly outward) if there are streets or residential uses in
the direction of the light.

b. Illumination Levels
i. All site lighting shall be designed and installed so that the level of

illumination as measured in foot candles at a height of three (3’) feet
at the property line does not exceed two (2’) foot candles.

(c) Residential outdoor lighting on residential property will be installed in accordance with 
applicable City Code Standards. It will be located so as not to create a nuisance for 
adjoining property owners. 

Section 22. Amendment to Article VI, Section 14 (d).  Article VI, Section 14 (d) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(d)  Masonry privacy wall 
(1) A six-foot masonry privacy wall is required to be constructed by any non-residential use 

that abuts property utilized for a single-family or two-family residence on land zoned 
single-family or two-family, or land planned or platted for such with an approved concept 
plan, preliminary plat or final plat, unless an existing structure is proposed to be expanded 
by less than 50%, or 1,000 sq. ft., whichever is less.   



-18-

(i) Such wall shall be constructed at the common property line between the uses, or if 
such location is not feasible because of floodplain, trees or other natural feature, at 
a location that will effectively screen the non-residential use from view from the 
single-family or two-family residence.   

(ii) Such wall is required to be constructed of one or more of the following materials: 
textured pre-cast concrete that is constructed to appear as brick, stone, or cast stone as 
approved by the Director of Planning, brick, stone, cast stone, factory tinted or 
painted split-faced concrete masonry unit, granite, tile or other similar material 
approved by the Director of Planning.   

(iii) An eight-foot wall may be utilized for security purposes. 
(iv) Gates shall be provided in the wall as appropriate to connect to public sidewalks or 

other pedestrian connections unless such wall is also used as described above for 
security.  

(2) The masonry privacy wall is not required for non-residential uses that are permitted by right 
in any Single-Family Districts. 

Section 23. Amendment to Article VI, Section 16 (d).  Article VI, Section 16 (d) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(d) Fences less than or equal to eight (8) feet in height shall be allowed for impeding access 
to hazardous or secured facilities including, but not limited to, electrical substations and 
chemical or equipment storage yards; or where the fence forms a perimeter around a 
subdivision.  For high security applications, barbed wire or razor wire (or equivalent) 
may be installed above the eight (8) foot height limit but not to exceed a total of ten feet 
in height. 

Section 24. Amendment to Article VII, Section 1 (b) (1).  Article VI, Section 1 (b) (1) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

(1) At least eighty-five percent (85%) of the exterior surface area of all walls, including all stories 
of primary buildings / structures, shall consist of un-painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, 
cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, non-reflective glass façade, glass 
block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall) and factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete 
masonry unit (non-residential buildings and structures only) or similar material approved by 
the Director of Planning.  The remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those 
materials listed or cementious-fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with board and 
batten application).  Solid wood planking and decorative cementious-fiber panels may be used 
for accent features. 

Section 25. Amendment to Article VII, Section 2 (b) (1).  Article VI, Section 2 (b) (1) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  



-19-

(1) At least eighty-five (85%) percent of the exterior surface area of first story walls and fifty 
(50%) percent of the exterior surface area of each additional story walls of primary buildings 
/ structures, shall consist of un-painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, 
granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. 
Kalwall) and factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit (non-residential 
buildings and structures only) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  The 
remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or cementious-
fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with a board and batten application).  Solid 
wood planking, decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by the 
Director of Planning may be used for accent features. 

Section 26. Amendment to Article VII, Section 3 (b) (1).  Article VI, Section 3 (b) (1) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

(1) At least sixty (60%) percent of the exterior surface area of street facing walls (See Figures 
U, V, and W – following pages) of primary buildings and thirty five (35%) percent of the 
exterior surface area of all other walls  of primary buildings / structures shall consist of un-
painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted or tinted 
stucco, glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall) and, for non-residential 
buildings and structures, factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit, pre-
cast concrete tilt wall with a decorative or textured finish (needs approval by the Director of 
Planning to determine if finish is acceptable) or similar material approved by the Director of 
Planning. The remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or 
cementious-fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with a board and batten 
application) orexterior insulating finishing system (E.I.F.S.).  Solid wood planking, 
decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by the Director of Planning 
may be used for accent features.  For non-residential buildings, smooth faced concrete 
masonry unit and metal panels or similar materials approved by the Director of Planning 
may be utilized as an accent feature and shall comprise not more than ten percent (10%) of 
any wall surface area. 

Section 27. Amendment to Article VII, Section 4 (b) (1).  Article VI, Section 4 (b) (1) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

(1) For all buildings / structures that are more than four hundred (400’) feet from a street, the 
masonry requirements do not apply.  For all buildings / structures that are within four 
hundred (400’) feet of a street at least sixty (60%) percent of the exterior surface area of 
street facing walls (See Figures U, V, and W – following pages) of primary buildings and 
thirty five (35%) percent of the exterior surface area of all other walls of primary buildings / 
structures shall consist of un-painted brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, 
granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, exterior insulating finishing system (E.I.F.S.), glass 
façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall), factory tinted (not painted) split 
faced concrete masonry unit, pre-cast concrete tilt wall with a decorative or textured finish 
or similar material approved by the Director of Planning. The remaining exterior wall 



-20-

surfaces shall be comprised of those materials listed or cementious-fiber planking or panels, 
or painted metal siding except that metal siding is not permitted on any street facing wall. 
Solid wood planking, decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by 
the Director of Planning may be used for accent features.  Smooth faced concrete masonry 
unit and metal panels or similar materials approved by the Director of Planning may be 
utilized as an accent feature only and shall not comprise more than fifteen percent (15%) of 
any wall surface area. 

Section 28. Amendment to Article VIII, Section 1 (c).  Article VI, Section 1 of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended to add subsection (c) to read as follows: 

(c) A masonry calculation table is required at the building permit stage to demonstrate 
compliance with the ordinance requirements. 

Section 29. Amendment to Article IX, Section 1 (b).  Article IX, Section 1 (b) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended to remove the following:  

(4) Brush clearing in compliance with the landscape and tree regulations of the city as long 
as only rubber-tired equipment is introduced to the site (no equipment with tracks). 

Section 30. Amendment to Article IX, Section 2 (c) (1).  Article IX, Section 2 (c) (1) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

(1) Projects that include minor site activity similar to those listed in Section 1(b) and 
including brush clearing, Article IX of this ordinance may be eligible for a minor site 
development permit.  To be eligible, such projects may increase the impervious cover 
by no more than 1,000 square feet.  In addition, a minor site development permit 
application shall be submitted for review in conformance with all information and 
materials required by the most recent minor site development permit 
application/checklist. 

Section 31. Amendment to Article X, Section 10 (a) (2).  Article X, Section 10 (a) (2) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

(2) Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree preservation plan, or who removes a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to be removed 
under an approved tree preservation plan shall be charged and shall pay a fee of $300 
per inch for each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper removed in violation 
of this ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining evidence on site to determine if a 
violation of this ordinance has occurred.  For enforcement purposes the City will 
consider that any stump remaining on the property which is eight inches or more in 



-21-

diameter measured at ground level or higher was a stump of a Significant Tree greater 
than 8 inches in caliper.  Furthermore, any cut wood discovered on site will be 
considered evidence of a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper if the diameter 
of the cut wood is measured at eight inches or greater at any point on any piece of cut 
wood.  A site development or building permit application for property from which one 
or more Significant Trees have been removed in violation of this ordinance may not be 
approved until an administrative 

Section 32. Conflicting Ordinances.  Exhibit “A”, Section 14.02.001, Article 14.02, Leander 
Code of Ordinances and of Ordinance No. 05-018-00 is amended as provided herein.  All 
ordinances or parts thereof conflicting or inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance as 
adopted herein, are hereby amended to the extent of such conflict.  In the event of a conflict or 
inconsistency between this ordinance and any other code or ordinance of the City, the terms and 
provisions of this ordinance shall govern. 

Section 33. Savings Clause.  All rights and remedies of the City of Leander are expressly saved 
as to any and all violations of the provisions of any ordinances affecting zoning within the City 
which have accrued at the time of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued 
violations and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under 
such ordinances, same shall not be affected by this ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 
disposition by the courts. 

Section 34. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its 
passage and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Tex. Loc. Gov't. Code and the City 
Charter. 

Section 35. Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable and, if any 
phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of the 
remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the same 
would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation of this ordinance of any 
such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section.  If any provision of this Ordinance shall 
be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other 
provisions or applications of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision, 
and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable. 

Section 36. Open Meetings.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 
which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

PASSED AND APPROVED on the 7th day of July, 2016. 
PASSED AND FINALLY APPROVED on the 21st day of July, 2016. 

THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 



-22-

__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor  Debbie Haile, City Secretary 







COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

ARTICLE I – GENERAL 
SECTION 6:  DEFINITIONS 

Dark Sky  means the use of lighting in a way that directs the light source away from the 
sky in order for the night sky to remain relatively free of interference from artificial light.  
This type of lighting is in compliance with the International Dark Sky Association standards. 

Gaming Room Facility means a place to deal, operate, carry on, conduct, maintain, or 
expose for play any game, sports book, promotion, sweepstakes, or other activity electronic 
or otherwise that may or may not confer upon the patrons or participants the right, chance, 
or ability to win and or claim prizes.   

Gaming Device means a clock, tape machine, slot machine, or other machine or device for 
the reception of money or other thing of value on chance or skill or upon action of whcih 
money or other thing of value is staked, hazarded, bet, won, or lost; or any mechanism, 
furniture, fixture, equipment or other device designed primarily for use in a gambling place. 
It does not include: (1) A coin-in-slot-operated mechanical device played for amusement 
that rewards the player with the right to replay such mechanical device; or (2) Vending 
machines by which full and adequate return is made for the money invested and in which 
there is no element of chance or hazard. 

Lot Width means the average horizontal distance between side property or lot lines.  Lot 
width can also be identified as the measurement of the lot at the building setback line.  The 
minimum lot width for lots fronting a cul-de-sac may be reduced to a minimum of thirty 
(30’) feet at the front property line provided that the minimum required lot width is 
provided at the front setback line. 

Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the ordinary 
high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation in 
contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary and Connector 
Trail Corridors identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan 
and the Transportation Plan. 

Soil means the upper layer of the earth in which plants grow and contains humus, minerals, 
available nutrients, and beneficial micro-organisms, resulting in a favorable condition for 
vegetative growth. 

ARTICLE III – USE COMPONENTS 
SECTION 1:  SFR – SINGLE-FAMILY RURAL 
(b) Conforming Uses 

(1) Single-family dwelling of not less than sixteen hundred (1,600) square feet of living 
area; accessory dwelling with a minimum living area of four hundred (400) square 
feet; and a maximum living area of nine hundred (900) square feet or 40% of the 
gross living area of the primary dwelling, whichever is greater.  However, for lots 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 1 



greater than three acres in size, there is no limit to the maximum size of the accessory 
dwelling. 

(2) Community services including community center, civic organizations, fraternal 
organizations, and cemetery / mausoleum not including a crematory or embalming 
facilities  

(3) Golf courses (public and private) and all associated improvements and activities, but 
not including miniature golf courses, golf practice ranges (unless associated with a golf 
course), or similar forms of commercial amusement 

(4) Day care (in home) for 56 or fewer children 

(5) Emergency services including fire, police and EMS stations 

(6) Family Home and Group Home-Class 1 

(7) Home occupations (see Article IV, Section 8 for Use Standards) 

(8) Parks, playgrounds and associated equipment and facilities, recreational amenity 
center 

(9) Place of worship 

(10) Public buildings, including libraries, museums and administrative offices 

(11)  Real estate sales offices during the development and sale of a residential subdivision 
and subject to the restrictions contained in this ordinance 

(12) Schools, public or private, including all levels up to and including secondary (high) 
school and equivalent curriculum including support facilities are permitted 

(13) Temporary buildings incidental to construction work on the premises if such buildings 
are removed upon the completion or abandonment of construction work (see Article 
IV, Sec. 7) 

(14) Utilities (minor) including ground mounted service equipment and minor structures 
and facilities such as poles, minor electrical switching facilities, lift stations, water 
pump stations and gas regulating facilities 

(15) Water supply reservoirs and pumping plants when screened from public view 

(16) Wireless communications facilities (WCFs) attached to street poles or facades attached 
to non-residential buildings or stealth WCFs are permitted subject to the provisions of 
this ordinance.  Freestanding WCFs, including lattice towers and mono-poles, are 
prohibited. 

(17) (For lots or tracts three or more acres in size) ranches, dairy farms, stables, riding 
academies and roping arenas; including the feeding, raising and breeding of 
agricultural livestock and exotic hoof stock; however, with exception of commercial 
feed lots which are not permitted, and the exception that not more than one large 
animal (e.g. a horse, cow, bull or similar animal) or five small animals (e.g. goats, 
sheep or similar animal) may be permitted for each acre of grazeable land.  Grazeable 
land shall be land that is fenced and maintained with suitable forage for grazing of the 
particular species.  Barns and stables shall not be located within 25 feet of any 
property line. (See Chap. 2, City Code for animal control regulations) 

(18) Agricultural, small wind energy systems, solar energy systems and rainwater 
harvesting systems including or similar to: 
(i) As accessory uses, solar energy systems designed to supply energy for use on 

the premises, and rainwater harvesting systems meeting the standards of 
Article IV, Sec. 5 of Article 14.200. In addition, if approved with a special use 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 2 



permit, small wind energy systems may be approved as an accessory use if 
meeting the standards of Article IV, Sec. 5 of Article 14.200. 

(ii) Hunting and/or hunting leases (for lots or tracts three or more acres in size). 
(iii) Farming or truck gardens, limited to the propagation and cultivation of plants.  

(19) Temporary parking associated with model homes and/or sales trailers prior to the 
completion of model homes.  Article IX of this ordinance will apply to temporary 
parking lots. 

(20)  Other similar uses as determined by the Director of Planning [see Article II, Sec. 2, (f)]. 

SECTION 14:  HC – HEAVY COMMERCIAL 
(b) Conforming Uses 

(1) Any use permitted in the “GC” component 
(2) Bingo 
(3) Car Title Loans Shop/Business 
(4)  Commercial laundry 
(5)  Contractor and building material storage 
(6)  Gaming Room Facility/Gaming Device 
(6)(7) Hooka Lounge 
(7)(8)  Manufacture, assembly or processing of materials not classified as hazardous by 

the Fire Chief 
(8)(9)  Mini-warehouse or self-service storage facilities [required to be set back at least 

four hundred (400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial roadway if built to 
Type B, C or D architectural standards or such facilities include exterior warehouse 
doors], warehouse and distribution, commercial storage  

(9)(10)  Pawn Shop 
(10)(11) Payday Lending Business 
(11)(12) Research, Testing, and Development Laboratory 
(12)(13) Research, Testing, and Development Laboratory (Intense) 
(13)(14) Retail sales, second hand resale, and services 
(14)(15) RV, trailer, commercial motor vehicle and boat outdoor storage [required to be 

set back at least four hundred (400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial 
roadway]  (Note:  refer to Article VI, Section 9 for rules on special vehicle storage) 

(15)(16) Tattoo and/or Body Piercing Parlor  
(16)(17) Utilities, including ground mounted service equipment and structures as a primary 

use and facilities such as poles, electrical switching facilities, lift stations, water pump 
stations, gas regulating facilities, electrical substations, generating plants, wastewater 
and water treatment plants, etc. (see screening requirements in Article VI, Sec. 1) 

(17)(18) Vehicle and major equipment sales, rental or leasing, repair, body shop [Small 
engine repair shops and motorcycle repair shops shall not be permitted within one-
hundred fifty (150’) feet of a residential district unless such repairs are conducted 
totally within a fully enclosed building.] 

(18)(19) Warehouse and distribution 
(19)(20) Wood yard  
(20)(21) Wholesale activities 
(21)(22) Wrecker Impoundment, Towing [required to be set back at least four hundred 

(400) feet from a tollway, highway or major arterial roadway] 
(22)(23) Stand alone crematory or embalming establishment as long as the crematory 

stack is no closer than 200’ from a restaurant or associated parking or from a 
residential district (unless such district is utilized for non-residential uses). 

(23)(24) Other similar uses as determined by the Director of Planning based on the criteria 
of Article II, Sec. 2, (f) 

SECTION 16:  PUD – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 3 



(d) Rules Applicable 
(8) The PUD shall result in overall higher standards than what would be provided by 

the base zoning district.  As examples:  (1) if residential lot sizes are decreased or 
development densities are increased, the PUD will be expected to significantly 
exceed other standards such as parkland and facilities dedication, landscaping, 
architectural controls, thoroughfare or other transportation improvements, creation 
of unique characteristics of the neighborhood, retention of significant trees and/or 
provision of public facilities, etc., or (2) if masonry standards or 
building/development setbacks are proposed to be decreased, other standards 
would be expected to be increased such as landscaping, screening, retention of 
significant trees, architectural controls, land uses and/or unique site layout 
standards, etc.  Other examples may include:  

(i) Designating the Type A Architectural Component 
(ii) Adding additional architectural features 
(iii) Provide a master architectural and signage plan that includes a cohesive 

materials palette 
(iv) Enhanced landscaping and/or trees 
(v) Increased landscape area 
(vi) Masonry perimeter walls for subdivisions 
(vii) Provide brick or stone instead of decorative concrete panels for screening 

walls 
(viii) Plant street trees 
(ix) Provide more parkland dedication 
(x) Increase recreation improvements 
(xi) Trails system in greenbelt areas 
(xii) Provide a Master Sign Plan including: proposed locations, provide cohesive 

materials palette, design specifications for signage, type of illumination 
(xiii) Limit fencing to wrought iron or decorative tubular metal fencing along 

greenbelt lots. 
(xiv) Provide unique characteristics of a neighborhood with a unique site layout 
(xv) Include a mixture of uses 
(xvi) Provide public spaces 
(xvii) Incorporate public art 

ARTICLE V – SITE COMPONENTS 
SECTION 3:  TYPE 3 
(b) Site Uses and Features (Some Site Uses Listed Also Require Appropriate Use Component) 

(2) Commercial and Industrial Development: 
(v) Outdoor commercial fueling and washing of vehicles meeting the following 

requirements is permitted: 
a. Washing of vehicles (including vacuum facilities) is not located within

one hundred fifty (150’) feet of a residential district unless such district
is utilized for non-residential purposes.  The location is measured from
the closest portion of the structure associated with the washing of
vehicles to the residential district; and

b. Commercial fueling is not located within one two hundred (1200’) feet of
a residential district unless such district is utilized for non-residential
purpose.  The location is measured from the closest portion of the
structure associated with the outdoor commercial fueling to the
residential district; and

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 4 



ARTICLE VI – SITE STANDARDS 
SECTION 1:  LANDSCAPING, TREE PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION, AND 
SCREENING REQUIREMENTS 
(b) Screening Requirements. 

(1) In addition to the landscaping requirements of this section, all development other 
than single-family or two-family shall comply with the following screening 
requirements:  
(i) The following shall be screened from the view of at least sixty percent (60%) 

of adjacent single-family or two-family residences and any street or public 
right-of-way:  off-street parking areas, loading spaces and docks, trash and 
storage containers, outside storage areas, satellite dishes larger than 
eighteen (18) inches in diameter, antennas, mechanical equipment, and 
metal siding.   

(ii) Above ground utility facilities up to six (6) feet above grade for multi-family 
and non-residential development are required to be screened from view 
except for poles, fire hydrants and existing lines.   

(iii) Detention Facilities including detention ponds and/or water quality ponds 
shall be screened from view. 

(iv) Screening by vegetation that could be removed from adjacent undeveloped 
or partially developed properties when such property is developed is not 
considered as screening from view.   

(v) Outside storage areas shall be screened by the use of a privacy fence or wall 
at least the height of the items to be screened and in conformance with the 
requirements of this ordinance.  If the outdoor storage area is adjacent to an 
arterial or collector roadway, then the wall is required to be constructed of 
one or more of the following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco 
(limited to thirty-five (35%) of the exterior surface area of walls), factory 
tinted (not painted) split face concrete masonry unit, or other similar 
material approved by the Director of Planning.  In addition to the materials 
listed above, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. Woodcrete) is also permitted 
when the wall is adjacent to collectors. 

(vi) A minimum five-foot (5') landscaped area located on the exterior of the 
fence shall be provided and landscaped in accordance with paragraph (2) (i) 
above unless the fence is on a rear boundary line or adjoining a permanent 
structure on the site. 

(vii) Fuel pumps are required to be screened from view of any street or public 
right-of-way to at least the height of the fuel pump. 

(viii) Lift stations are required to be screened from view of adjacent single-family 
or two-family residences, or any street or public right-of-way by the use of a 
wall.  The wall is required to be constructed of one or more of the following 
materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco (limited to thirty-five (35%) of the 
exterior surface area of walls), factory tinted (not painted) split face concrete 
masonry unit, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. Woodcrete) or other similar 
material approved by the Director of Planning.   

(2) Approved screening techniques include privacy fences, evergreen vegetative 
screens, landscape berms, existing vegetation or any combination thereof unless 
otherwise noted in this section.. 

(3) Privacy Fences (See section 14 and 16 of this Article) 
(4) Evergreen Vegetative Screens. Evergreen plant materials shall be shrubs, at least 

thirty (30) inches in height and at a minimum spacing of 48 inches at the time of 
installation, in combination with shade trees not more than fifty feet apart. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 5 



(5) Landscape Berms, in combination with trees, shall fulfill the screening 
requirements of this section if the berms are at least three (3) feet in height and 
have maximum side slopes of four (4) feet of horizontal run for every one (1) foot 
in vertical rise. 

(6) Existing on-site vegetation, demonstrating significant visual screening capabilities 
and as approved by the Director of Planning, shall fulfill the requirements of this 
section. 

*** 

(8) A non-disturbance zone shall be maintained on single-family and two-family lots 
during the subdivision construction and building permit phases of development.  A 
disturbance area no more than five (5’) feet from the foundation necessary for 
construction and grade transitions shall be permitted.  This disturbance area shall 
be no more than ten (10’) feet from the foundation for properties zoned with the 
SFR (Single-Family Rural) use component.  The trees located on the remainder of 
the lot shall not be removed unless a unique situation is approved by the Director 
of Planning Director. 

(c) Tree Preservation and Protection. 
(4) Significant Tree Preservation Requirements 
(iii)(iv) Significant Trees greater than eight (8) inches in caliper shall be preserved to 

the greatest extent reasonably possible. Significant Trees removed during 
construction shall be supplanted with Replacement Trees if required by the tree 
mitigation requirements of this section.  No Significant Tree shall be removed until 
a tree protection preservation plan has been approved by the Director of Planning 
in accordance with this Chapter.  Significant Trees may be removed only in 
accordance with the approved tree protection preservation plan, and trees must be 
protected during construction activities on the property in accordance with the 
approved tree protection preservation plan.  This provision only applies to projects 
before the certificate of occupancy has been issued for single-family and two-family 
developments.  For single-family and two-family projects, this provision only 
applies prior to the initial certificate of occupancy for each lot. 

(9) Tree Protection Plan Requirements 
(i) An applicant for a single-family or two-family preliminary plat or final plat, or 

a site development permit shall provide a tree survey prepared within five 
years preceding the application date.  This tree survey shall include the 
street and lot layout, or site plan superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as 
appropriate) identifying significant trees located on the property that meet 
the requirements indicated in this section.  Applicants for a single-family or 
two-family preliminary or final plat are only required to submit a tree survey 
for the portion of the property that the applicant is proposing to disturb with 
the subdivision construction.  The applicant shall provide a tree preservation 
plan that identifies the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected 
trees that are proposed for removal.  The applicant shall be required to 
demonstrate that lot lines, street layouts and site improvements have been 
designed and located and that lot width, depth and size flexibility as 
permitted by the applicable zoning district has been utilized to the maximum 
extent necessary to retain the maximum number of significant trees 
reasonably practicable.  Applicants for a single-family or two-family 
preliminary or final plat may plant replacement trees within lots owned by 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 6 



the Homeowners Association including but not limited to landscape lots, park 
lots, or amenity center lots. 

(ii) The Director of Planning shall determine if adequate performance is achieved 
based on the standards of this section.  Approval of the tree protection 
preservation plan by the Director of Planning is required prior to preparation 
and submission of a subdivision or site development permit application.  The 
applicant may appeal any decision of the Director to the Commission.  A 
decision of the Commission may be appealed to the City Council.  Any 
preserved or replacement trees may be counted toward the landscape 
requirements of this section.  See the Construction Plan requirements for 
details. 

SECTION 3:  OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
(a) The following off-street parking requirements are considered minimum requirements 

and may not adequately reflect the specific needs of a proposed business.  A 
commercial building permit applicant shall analyze the parking needs of the specific 
users being proposed and provide the amount of parking required for such uses.  When 
any building or structure is erected, or an existing building is enlarged by fifty (50) 
percent or more in floor area, off-street parking shall be provided in accordance with 
the following requirements (Note: Any building enlargement is required to add at least 
the amount of additional parking required by the enlargement):  

USE CATEGORY SPECIFIC USE SPACE REQUIREMENT 

RESIDENTIAL USES 

Household Living 

Single Family See Use District 

Multi-Family 1 ½ for one bedroom plus ½ for each 
additional bedroom. 

Senior Multi-Family 1 per dwelling plus additional 5% of total 
spaces for visitor use. 

Group Living 

Fraternity House, 
Sorority House, 
Dormitory,  Rooming 
House, Boarding House 

1 per each two beds 

Nursing Home/Hospice/ 
Assisted Living 1 per bedroom 

All other Group Homes 1 per bedroom 

Family Home and Group 
Home-Class 1 

not less than four (4) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater. 

Group Home-Class 2 & 
Group Home-Class 3 

not less than six (6) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater 

CIVIC USES 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 7 



Educational & 
Daycare Facilities 

Elementary Schools greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
2:classroom 

Secondary Schools, 
colleges 

greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
10:classroom 

Day Care Center 1:400 sq. ft. 

Medical & 
Institutional Facilities 

Hospital, Sanitarium, 
Convalescent Home 1:4 beds 

All other institutions 1:250 sq. ft. 

Parks & Open Areas Golf Courses 3:hole 

Neighborhood Amenity 
Center 

1:300 sq. ft. (including pools in square 
footage calculation) 

Places of Worship Religious Assembly 1:200 square feet of sanctuary, 
classrooms, flexible seating areas 

COMMERCIAL USES 

Automotive Sales & 
Services 

Motor Vehicle 
Salesrooms & Used Car 
Lots 

greater of 1:800 sq. ft. of sales floor or 
lot area 

Vehicle Repair Garage 1:400 sq. ft. 

Overnight 
Accommodations 

Hotel, Motel 1 per room plus 1:200 sq. ft. of Comm. 
Floor Area 

Bed & Breakfast/Inn 1 per guest room plus 2 additional 
spaces 

Food & Beverage 
Establishments 

Restaurant as a single 
use or comprising more 
than 20% of a mixed 
retail center 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Entertainment & 
Recreation 

Dance / Assembly / 
Exhibition Hall, 
Restaurant, Night Club, 
Lodge or Country Club 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Bowling Alleys 5:lane alley 

Community Center, 
Library, Museum, Art 
Gallery 

1:300 sq. ft. 

Theater, Auditorium 
(except school), Sports 
Arena, Stadium, 
Gymnasium, Funeral 
Home 

1:4 seats 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 8 



Commercial Office, 
Retail Sales, & 

Services 

Medical / Dental Clinic/ 
Office, Personal Service, 
Mixed Use Retail Center 
less than 20,000 sq. ft. 

1:200 sq. ft. 

Mixed Use Retail greater 
than 20,000 sq. ft. 1:225 sq. ft. 

Studio, Bank, Retail 1:250 sq. ft. 

Business / Professional 
Office 1:275 sq. ft. 

Furniture, Appliance or 
Hardware Store; 
Wholesale Sales 
Establishment, 
Machinery / Equipment 
Sales & Service; 
Clothing / Shoe Repair; 
Service Shop 

1:300 sq. ft. 

INDUSTRIAL USES 

Industrial, 
Manufacturing, 
Warehousing, 

Storage 

Manufacturing, 
Industrial, Research, 
Testing, Warehouse, 
Storage Buildings and 
Yards, Lumber Yard, 
Printing Shop, Plumbing 
Shop 

1:600 plus spaces for business vehicles 

Mini-Warehouse Self 
Storage parking required only for office 

Church, Theater, 
Auditorium (except 
school), Sports Arena, 
Stadium, Gymnasium, 
Funeral Home 

1:4 seats 

Hotel, Motel 1 per room plus 1:200 sq. ft. of Comm. 
Floor Area 

Furniture, Appliance or 
Hardware Store; 
Wholesale Sales 
Establishment, 
Machinery / Equipment 
Sales & Service; 
Clothing / Shoe Repair; 
Service Shop, 
Community Center, 

1:300 sq. ft. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 9 



Library, Museum, Art 
Gallery 
Hospital, Sanitarium, 
Convalescent Home 1:4 beds 

Dance / Assembly / 
Exhibition Hall, 
Restaurant, Night Club, 
Lodge or Country Club 

1:100 sq. ft. 

Motor Vehicle 
Salesrooms & Used Car 
Lots 

greater of 1:800 sq. ft. of sales floor or 
lot area 

Vehicle Repair Garage 1:400 sq. ft. 

Mini-Warehouse Self 
Storage parking required only for office 

Golf Courses 3:hole 

Bowling Alleys 5:alley 

Elementary Schools greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
2:classroom 

Secondary Schools, 
colleges 

greater of 1:4 seats in auditorium or 
10:classroom 

Family Home and Group 
Home-Class 1 

not less than four (4) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater. 

Group Home-Class 2 & 
Group Home-Class 3 

not less than six (6) off street parking 
spaces, or one parking space per 
bedroom, whichever is greater 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 10 



In a development with mixed-use buildings designed and built in a walkable and pedestrian 
friendly configuration, the Director of Planning may consider the following shared parking 
factors in reviewing a proposal for a reduction in the minimum parking requirements (the 
shared parking factor is applied to the sum of the individual uses minimum parking 
requirements): 

Shared Parking Factor 
Residential Lodging Office Retail 

Residential 100% — — — 
Lodging 90% 100% — — 
Office 70% 60% 100% — 
Retail 80% 75% 80% 100% 

For uses not listed, the Director of Planning may request additional parking demand analysis 
from the applicant to justify a reduction in the minimum parking requirements. 

Where shared parking is provided, a shared parking and cross access agreement between 
the cooperating property owners shall be approved by the Director of Planning and recorded 
prior to issuance of a building permit. This agreement must be recorded in the real property 
records of the county in which the property sits and the agreement may not be modified or 
revoked without the approval of the Director of Planning. If any requirements for shared 
parking are violated, the affected property owners must provide a remedy satisfactory to 
the Director of Planning or provide the full amount of required parking for each individual 
use. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 11 



SECTION 6:  SETBACKS 
(a) Building / Structure and Site Improvements: 

BUILDING / STRUCTURE 
Use 

Component 
Architectural 
Component Front Side Street Side Rear 

Standard Setback 

SFR 25' 7' 15' 15' 

SFE, SFS, 
SFU, 

SFU/MH, TF 
20' 5' 15' 15' 

SFC, SFL 2015'* 
5' or 
0’ & 
10’ 

15' 150' 

SFT 105'* 0 or 
10' 15' 150' 

MF 
Type A 20' 10' 20' 20' 
Type B 25' 10' 25' 20' 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type A, B 15' 10' 15' 10' 
Type C 20' 10' 20' 10' 

GC, HC, HI Type D 25' 15' 25' 15' 

Special Setback 
Where Adjacent to 

SFR, SFE, SFS, 
SFU, SFC, SFL, 
SFU/MH, TF** 

MF, LO, LC, 
GC, HC, HI 

Type A (NA) 20' (N/A) 20' 
Type B (NA) 25' (N/A) 25' 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI Type C (NA) 30' (N/A) 30' 

GC, HC, HI Type D (NA) 50' (N/A) 50' 

Garage Setback 

SFR, SFE, 
SFS, SFU, 
SFU/MH. 
SFC. SFL, 
SFT, TF 

See Article VIII, Section 5 (i) 

PARKING, AISLE, LOADING, CANOPIES, OUTDOOR DISPLAY 

Use 
Component 

Site 
Component Front Side Street 

Side Rear 

Standard Setback 

MF All 20' 5'**** 20' 5'**** 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type 1, 2 15' 5'**** 15' 5'**** 
Type 3 20' 5'**** 20' 5'**** 

Type 4, 5 25' 5'**** 25' 5'**** 
Special Setback 

Where Adjacent to 
SF or TF** 

MF, LO, LC, 
GC, HC, HI 

Type 1-3 (N/A) 15' (N/A) 15' 

Type 4, 5 (N/A) 20' (N/A) 20' 

OUTDOOR STORAGE 
Use 

Component 
Site 

Component Front Side Street 
Side Rear 

Standard Setback LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI 

Type 3-4 *** 5'**** *** 0' 
Type 5 25' 0'**** 25' 0' 

Special Setback  
Where Adjacent to 

SF or TF** 

LO, LC, GC, 
HC, HI Type 3-5 (N/A) 25' (N/A) 25' 

* In no case shall the garage be closer to the ROW than 18’
** Unless such district is utilized for a non-residential use 
***  No closer than the street facing wall of the primary structure that utilizes such storage. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 12 



SFC, SFL - BUILDING SETBACK 

HOUSE 

GARAGE 

1520’ HOUSE  
FRONT 

SETBACK 

5’
 O

R 
0 

AN
D 

10
’ S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

150’ REAR 

PATIO 

7’ PATIO ENCROACHMENT 

GARAGE 

HOUSE 

PORCH 

15
’ H

O
US

E 
 

ST
RE

ET
 S

ID
E 

7’ PORCH 
ENCROACHMENT 

5’ REAR ACCESSORY 
STRUCTURE SETBACK 

LOT LINES STREET 

ST
RE

ET
 

FIGURE I 

**** Setback does not apply for parking, drive aisles, storage etc. that are intended to cross lot line. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016 13 



SFT BUILDING - SETBACK 

TOWNHOUSE 

GARAGE 

105’ HOUSE  
FRONT 

SETBACK 

150’ REAR 

 
PATIO 

7’ GARAGE & PATIO  
ENCROACHMENT 

GARAGE 

TOWNHOUSE 

PORCH 

15
’ H

O
US

E 
 

ST
RE

ET
 S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

7’ PORCH 
ENCROACHMENT 

5’ REAR ACCESSORY 

  

LOT LINES STREET 

ST
RE

ET
 

ALLEY 

PARKING 

0 
O

R 
10

’ S
ID

E 
SE

TB
AC

K 

TOWN- 
HOUSE 

3’ SEPARATION 

FIGURE J 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  14 



SECTION 7:  DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES 
(a) Purpose. 

The purpose of this section is to provide for the design of drainage and detention facilities 
that contribute to visual aesthetics of projects and limit the amounts of visible concrete that 
do not meet the requirements listed below.  For the purposes of this section, visible shall be 
defined as noticeable by a person of average height walking on a street, sidewalk, or trail, 
or able to be seen by a neighboring property that is two stories in height. 
 

(b) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 

quality ponds, pond outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other 
improvements associated with the drainage improvements.  Roadside swales, storm 
sewer outfalls unless visible from a ROW, inlets, and areas of concrete that are no more 
than one hundred (100) square feet in size are not included. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet (10’) 
of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest 
possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Any fencing around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds shall be 
constructed of wrought iron or decorative tubular metal or other similar product. 

(5) Structural stabilization including vertical walls and riprap for non-residential and multi-
family drainage facilities shall be limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent of the 
perimeter of the pond excluding outlet structures.  The remainder of the perimeter shall 
be earthern embankment no steeper than 3:1 slope.  All exposed concrete that is 
visible is required to be made of stone or clad in stone provide decorative textured 
concrete and tinting in earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to 
ledgestone, fieldstone, or cast stone, or other decorative materials as approved by the 
Director of Planning.   All other exposed concrete is required to be made of stone or 
clad in stone as listed above or textured and tinted in earthern colors.  In the event that 
the drainage facility is below grade, structural stabilization is permitted for the full 
perimeter and screening requirements listed in Article VI, Section 1 (d) of this 
Ordinance shall apply. 

(c) Residential Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Residential drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water quality ponds, pond 

outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements associated with the 
drainage improvements. Roadside swales, storm sewer outfalls unless visible from a 
ROW, inlets, and areas of concrete that are no more than one hundred (100) square 
feet in size are not included. 

(2) Residential drainage facilities shall utilize earthern berms and be designed with a curvi-
linear shape.  Any structural stabilization with slopes steeper than 3:1 shall be limited 
to the use of native stone (except for outlet structures which can be concrete) and shall 
be limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent of the perimeter of the pond.  Such 
ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with the landscaping.  All exposed concrete that is 
visible is required to be made of stone or clad in stone provide decorative textured 
concrete and tinting in earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to 
ledgestone, fieldstone, or cast stone, or other decorative materials as approved by the 
Director of Planning.  All other exposed concrete is required to be made of stone or clad 
in stone as listed above or textured and tinted in earthern colors.  In the event that the 
drainage facility is below grade, concrete is permitted instead of native stone and 
screening requirements Article VI, Sec. 1 (d) of this Ordinance shall apply. 

(3) Any fencing around residential detention ponds shall be constructed of wrought iron or 
decorative tubular metal or other similar product. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  15 



SECTION 8:  SINGLE-FAMILY AND TWO-FAMILY LOTS ABUTTING OR ADJACENT TO 
TOLLWAY, HIGHWAY, OR ARTERIAL, OR COLLECTOR ROADWAY  
For single-family and two-family lots contained within a subdivision receiving approval for a 
preliminary plat and final plat or a short form plat after the effective date of this ordinance and 
abutting or adjacent to a tollway, highway, arterial, or collector roadways as identified on the 
Leander Transportation Plan or based on roadway design, direct driveway access to any single-
family or two-family lot from such roadway shall be prohibited.   The following are also 
applicable: 

 
(b) For lots adjacent to tollway, highway, arterial, or collector roadways and backing up to such 

roadway (having frontage on another roadway of a lesser classification), the following shall 
be provided (see Figure Q – following pages):   
(2) A six-foot privacy fence is required to be constructed at the common lot line between 

the landscape lot and the single-family or two-family lots.  The fence is required to be 
constructed of one or more of the following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, 
stucco, factory tinted (not painted) split-faced concrete masonry unit, or other 
similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  In addition to the materials 
listed above, textured pre-cast concrete (e.g. WoodCrete) is also permitted when the 
privacy fence is adjacent to collectors. All columns are required to have concrete 
footings.  The landscape lot is required to be maintained by a private association. 

 
(c) For lots adjacent to tollway, highway, arterial, or collector roadways and having a side of the 

lot adjacent to such roadway (having frontage on another roadway of a lesser classification), 
the following shall be provided (see Figure Q – next page): 
(2) A six-foot privacy fence is required to be constructed at the common lot line between 

the landscape lot and the single-family or two-family lots from the rear lot line to a 
point even with the rear wall of the house at a minimum, but no further than to a point 
even with the front wall of the house.  Any fence closer to the front lot line than the 
front wall of the house shall not exceed three feet in height; however, such fence is 
not required.  Such fence is required to be constructed of one or more of the 
following materials: brick, stone, cast stone, stucco, factory tinted (not painted) 
split-faced concrete masonry unit, or other similar material approved by the Director 
of Planning.  In addition to the materials listed above, textured pre-cast concrete 
(e.g. WoodCrete) is also permitted when the privacy fence is adjacent to collectors.  
All columns are required to have concrete footings.  The landscape lot is required to 
be maintained by a private association. 

 
SECTION 12:  OUTDOOR LIGHTING 
(a) The purpose of this section is to provide design standards for site and building lighting 

that are Dark Sky compliant and compatible with adjacent uses. 
(b) Non-residential outdoor lighting will be in accordance with other provisions of this 

ordinance and City building codes. A detailed Llighting Pplan and photometric plan shall 
be included with the Building Permit application and shall meet the following 
requirements:. 
(1)  Outdoor Lighting 

a. Fixture. 
i. All permanent exterior lighting shall be non-flashing and shielded such 

that the light source (cone of direct light) is not visible from the public 
ROW or adjacent residential uses at the property line (see Figure R – 
following page).   

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  16 



i.ii. Wall pack lighting or other lighting that directs the light in a horizontal 
direction without an adequate shield is not permitted (since it directs 
the light glare directly outward) if there are streets or residential uses in 
the direction of the light. 

b. Illumination Levels 
ii.i. All site lighting shall be designed and installed so that the level of 

illumination as measured in foot candles at a height of three (3’) feet 
at the property line does not exceed two (2’) foot candles. 

(a)(c) Residential outdoor lighting on residential property will be installed in accordance 
with applicable City Code Standards. It will be located so as not to create a nuisance for 
adjoining property owners. 

(b)(d) All permanent exterior lighting shall be non-flashing and shielded such that the light 
source (cone of direct light) is not visible from the public ROW or adjacent residential 
uses at the property line (see Figure R – following page).  Wall pack lighting or other 
lighting that directs the light in a horizontal direction without an adequate shield is not 
permitted (since it directs the light glare directly outward) if there are streets or 
residential uses in the direction of the light. 

 

SECTION 14:   ADDITIONAL MULTI-FAMILY AND NON-RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS  

(d)   Masonry Privacy Wall 
(1) A six-foot masonry privacy wall is required to be constructed by any non-residential 

use that abuts property utilized for a single-family or two-family residence on land 
zoned single-family or two-family, or land planned or platted for such with an 
approved concept plan, preliminary plat or final plat, unless an existing structure is 
proposed to be expanded by less than 50%, or 1,000 sq. ft., whichever is less.   
(i) Such wall shall be constructed at the common property line between the uses, 

or if such location is not feasible because of floodplain, trees or other natural 
feature, at a location that will effectively screen the non-residential use from 
view from the single-family or two-family residence.   

(ii) Such wall is required to be constructed of one or more of the following 
materials:  textured pre-cast concrete that is constructed to appear as brick, 
stone, or cast stone as approved by the Director of Planning, brick, stone, cast 
stone, stucco, factory tinted or painted split-faced concrete masonry unit, 
granite, tile or other similar material approved by the Director of Planning.   

(iii) An eight-foot wall may be utilized for security purposes.  
(iv) Gates shall be provided in the wall as appropriate to connect to public 

sidewalks or other pedestrian connections unless such wall is also used as 
described above for security.  

(2) The masonry privacy wall is not required for non-residential uses that are permitted by 
right in any Single-Family Districts. 

 

SECTION 16:  FENCES 
(d) Fences less than or equal to eight (8) feet in height shall be allowed for impeding 

access to hazardous or secured facilities including, but not limited to, electrical 
substations and chemical or equipment storage yards; or where , because of severe 
slope conditions, such fencing height can be demonstrated to be necessary for privacy 
or visual buffering; or where the fence forms a perimeter around a subdivision.  For 
high security applications, barbed wire or razor wire (or equivalent) may be installed 
above the eight (8) foot height limit but not to exceed a total of ten feet in height. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  17 



ARTICLE VII – ARCHITECTURAL COMPONENTS 

SECTION 1:  TYPE A 
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) At least eighty-five percent (85%) of the exterior surface area of all walls, including all 
stories of primary buildings / structures, shall consist of un-painted clay brick, ledge 
stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, non-
reflective glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall) and factory 
tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit (non-residential buildings and 
structures only) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  The 
remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or 
cementious-fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with board and batten 
application).  Solid wood planking and decorative cementious-fiber panels may be used 
for accent features. 

SECTION 2:  TYPE B 
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) At least eighty-five (85%) percent of the exterior surface area of first story walls and 
fifty percent (50%) percent of the exterior surface area of each additional story walls of 
the exterior surface area (all stories) and at least eighty-five percent (85%) of the 
exterior surface area of first story walls of primary buildings / structures, shall consist of 
un-painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted 
or tinted stucco, glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. Kalwall) and 
factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit (non-residential buildings 
and structures only) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning.  The 
remaining exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or 
cementious-fiber planking (not panels unless they are used with a board and batten 
application).  Solid wood planking, decorative cementious-fiber panels and other 
materials approved by the Director of Planning may be used for accent features. 

SECTION 3:  TYPE C  
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) At least sixty (60%) percent of the exterior surface area of street facing walls (See 
Figures U, V, and W – following pages) of primary buildings and thirty five percent 
(35%) percent of the exterior surface area of all other walls (all stories), including at 
least sixty percent (60%) of the exterior surface area of street facing walls (all stories) 
(see Figures U, V and W – following pages) of primary buildings / structures shall 
consist of un-painted clay brick, ledge stone, fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, 
tile, painted or tinted stucco, glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. 
Kalwall) and, for non-residential buildings and structures, factory tinted (not painted) 
split faced concrete masonry unit, pre-cast concrete tilt wall with a decorative or 
textured finish (needs approval by the Director of Planning to determine if finish is 
acceptable) or similar material approved by the Director of Planning. The remaining 
exterior wall surface shall be comprised of those materials listed or cementious-fiber 
planking (not panels unless they are used with a board and batten application) or, for 
non-residential applications only, exterior insulating finishing system (E.I.F.S.).  Solid 
wood planking, decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by 
the Director of Planning may be used for accent features.  For non-residential buildings, 
smooth faced concrete masonry unit and metal panels or similar materials approved by 
the Director of Planning may be utilized as an accent feature and shall comprise not 
more than ten percent (10%) of any wall surface area. 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  18 



SECTION 4:  TYPE D  
(b) Exterior Wall Standards: 

(1) For all buildings / structures that are more than four hundred (400’) feet from a street, 
the masonry requirements do not apply.  For all buildings / structures that are within 
four hundred (400’) feet of a street at least sixty (60%) percent of the exterior surface 
area of street facing walls (See Figures U, V, and W – following pages) of primary 
buildings and thirty five (35%) percent of the exterior surface area of all other walls 
Unless there are no street facing walls, at least thirty five percent (35%) of the exterior 
surface area of walls (all stories), including at least sixty percent (60%) of the exterior 
surface area of street facing walls (all stories) (see Figures S, T and U – previous 
pages) of primary buildings / structures shall consist of un-painted brick, ledge stone, 
fieldstone, cast stone, marble, granite, tile, painted or tinted stucco, exterior insulating 
finishing system (E.I.F.S.), glass façade, glass block (or alternative glazing e.g. 
Kalwall), factory tinted (not painted) split faced concrete masonry unit, pre-cast 
concrete tilt wall with a decorative or textured finish or similar material approved by the 
Director of Planning. The remaining exterior wall surfaces shall be comprised of those 
materials listed or cementious-fiber planking or panels, or painted metal siding except 
that metal siding is not permitted on any street facing wall.  Solid wood planking, 
decorative cementious-fiber panels and other materials approved by the Director of 
Planning may be used for accent features.  Smooth faced concrete masonry unit and 
metal panels or similar materials approved by the Director of Planning may be utilized 
as an accent feature only and shall not comprise more than fifteen percent (15%) of 
any wall surface area. 

 
  

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  19 



ARTICLE VIII - ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS 
 

SECTION 1:  WALL AREA CALCULATIONS 
(a) In calculating percentage of exterior wall area, the area of windows and window frames, 

doors and door frames, eves, soffits, dormers, columns, recessed entryways, foundation 
and similar areas are excluded from the calculations and may utilize any of the materials 
listed in the applicable component exterior wall standards, when, in the opinion of the 
Building Official, construction with the required masonry materials is not reasonably feasible. 

(b) A street facing wall is the exterior wall of a building, including any off-sets, projections or 
recesses, facing a street or within forty-five (45) degrees of such orientation and within 
four hundred (400) feet of the street.  A wall is considered facing a street even if there is 
another public ROW between the wall and the street.  A wall is not considered facing a 
street if another building or other permanent screening material on site is between the 
wall and the street and blocks the view of the wall from the street by at least seventy-
five percent (75%) from all view angles.  Five year projected maturity of any on-site 
evergreen planted materials may be considered in the screening assessment. 

(c) A masonry calculation table is required at the building permit stage to demonstrate 
compliance with the ordinance requirements. 

 
ARTICLE IX – SITE DEVELOPMENT 

SECTION 1:  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
(b) Applicability; Site Development Permit Required 

Any person who develops, or causes to be developed, property located within the 
corporate limits of the City shall comply with this Chapter.  Within the city corporate 
limits the use of property shall not be changed, no development shall take place and no 
building permit shall be issued until a site development permit has been issued in 
accordance with the code of ordinances of the City.   Property for which a site 
development permit has been issued shall be developed in compliance with the 
approved site plan.   The following are exceptions to the applicability of this Chapter: 
(1) Construction, alteration or addition to a single-family or two family residential 

structure, or an accessory building to any such structure. 
(2) Alteration or finish-out of an existing building when the alteration or finish-out does 

not increase the square footage of the building or change the building footprint as 
long as one of the following applies: 
(i) The use does not change, or if the use changes, the new use does not 

require more parking than is currently existing and no additional parking 
spaces, aisles or driveways are proposed; 

(ii) The alteration, finish-out or change of use is in compliance with all applicable 
codes and regulations of the city; and  

(iii) The proposal does not increase the degree of any existing non-conforming 
use or non-conforming structure. 

(3) Construction of a fence, but no exception is granted by this subsection for 
construction of a retaining wall or for a fence that may obstruct or change the flow 
of water. 

(4) Brush clearing in compliance with the landscape and tree regulations of the city as 
long as only rubber-tired equipment is introduced to the site (no equipment with 
tracks). 
 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  20 



(e) Minor Site Development Permit 
(1) Projects that include minor site activity similar to those listed in Section 1(b) and 

including brush clearing, Article IX of this ordinance may be eligible for a minor site 
development permit.  To be eligible, such projects may increase the impervious 
cover by no more than 1,000 square feet.  In addition, a minor site development 
permit application shall be submitted for review in conformance with all information 
and materials required by the most recent minor site development permit 
application/checklist. 

(2) A professional recovery fee as set forth in Appendix A shall be required at the time 
of site development permit exemption application submittal. 

 

ARTICLE X – ADMINISTRATION 

SECTION 10:  ENFORCEMENT 
(a) Penalty 

(1) Penalty.  Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this ordinance, or 
shall fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the 
City limits shall be deemed guilty of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to 
exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2000.00). Each day the violation exists 
shall constitute a separate offense. Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other 
remedies provided herein 

(2) Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree protection preservation plan, or who 
removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to 
be removed under an approved tree protection preservation plan shall be charged 
and shall pay a fee of $300 per inch for each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches 
in caliper removed in violation of this ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining 
evidence on site to determine if a violation of this ordinance has occurred.  For 
enforcement purposes the City will consider that any stump remaining on the 
property which is eight inches or more in diameter measured at ground level or 
higher was a stump of a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper.  
Furthermore, any cut wood discovered on site will be considered evidence of a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper if the diameter of the cut wood is 
measured at eight inches or greater at any point on any piece of cut wood.  A site 
development or building permit application for property from which one or more 
Significant Trees have been removed in violation of this ordinance may not be 
approved until an administrative 

Composite Zoning Ordinance Amendments – 2016  21 



AGENDA ITEM # 11 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Agenda Subject: Development Agreement Case 16-DA-002:  Discussion and 
possible action to approve a development agreement between the 
City of Leander and K. L. Enterprises, Inc, a California corporation 
for 13.718 acres more or less, generally located to the west of the 
intersection of Bagdad Road and Marsala Circle; City of Leander, 
Williamson County, Texas.  

Background: The Development Agreement includes the following key 
provisions: 
 establishes a maintenance fee for the compound water meter

for both domestic and fire service 
 provides for the installation of street light at the intersection of

Bagdad Road and Marsala Circle 

Origination: Applicant:  CSF Civil Group on behalf of Emmet J Hawkes and 
K.L. Enterprises, Inc 

Financial  
Consideration: None. 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the development agreement. 

Attachments: 1. Development Agreement & Exhibits
2. Location Map

Prepared By:  Tom Yantis, AICP  
Assistant City Manager 07/11//2016 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 1 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR CARNEROS VILLAGE APARTMENT HOMES 

This Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartment Homes (the “Agreement”) is made, 
entered into and effective as of ________________ (the “Effective Date”) by the City of Leander, a 
Texas home-rule, and K. L. Enterprises, Inc., a California corporation (the “Developer”).  The City 
and the Developer are herein referred to together as the “Parties”. 

Recitals 

Whereas, the Developer owns or has the right to purchase that certain property (Lot 1, Block M and 
Lot 1, Block O, of the Final Plat of Carneros Ranch Section Seven) described in Exhibit “A”, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes, (the “Property” or the “Lots”), which the 
Developer is developing for an apartment home project known as the Carneros Village Apartment 
Homes (the “Development”); 

Whereas, the Parties desire to provide for the Developer to install a compound water meter to serve 
the Development on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants, 
and conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto 
agree as follows: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein and made a part of this 
Addendum for all purposes. 

Section 2.  Consideration.  The benefits to the Parties, being the mutual promises expressed herein, 
are good and valuable consideration for this Agreement, the sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged by both Parties.  

Section 3.  Compound Water Meter.  The Lots may each be served by a compound water meter 
for both domestic and fire service; provided that the Lots are developed as an apartment home 
project, and provided further that the Developer shall, on behalf of itself, its grantees, successors, 
assigns, subsequent purchasers of any portion of the Property, and future water customers on the 
Property pay a monthly maintenance fee for such compound water meter in the amount of $79.25 
per month for each compound meter (the “Maintenance Fee”).  The Maintenance Fee may be 
included in the water bill for the Lots, and shall be required to be paid upon the earlier of 30 days 
of receipt of an invoice from the City or by the deadline set forth in the invoice.  The 
Maintenance Fee shall compensate the City for inspecting the compound meters at least annually 
and for replacing the compound meters when required.  It is anticipated that the compound 
meters will need to be replaced every ten (10) years, but meters will be replaced sooner if 
required.  No Maintenance Fees will be assessed to the owner of the Property for any separate 
private meters that it may install on a unit-by-unit basis for allocation of water charges to the unit 
occupant.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the City may adopt the 
Maintenance Fee by ordinance and, in such event, the Developer, or its grantee, successor, assign, or 
subsequent purchaser of the Property, shall pay the Maintenance Fee set forth in ordinance, and 
agrees that said fee may be modified from time to time as determined appropriate by the City 
Council. 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 2 

Section 4.  Street Light.  The Developer shall install a street light at the intersection of Bagdad Road 
and Marsala Circle that complies with the City ordinances and regulations, as well as the approved 
site development plans, at such time that the Developer constructs the site development 
improvements for the apartment homes.  The Developer shall obtain approval of the location and 
design of the street light at such time that the Developer applies for a site development permit in 
connection with the apartment homes.  The associated conduit and wiring must be installed and 
connected so that the light is fully operational before a certificate of completion for the site 
development improvements will be issued by the City. 

Section 5.  Assignment of Commitments and Obligations.  Developer’s rights and obligations 
under this Agreement may be assigned by Developer to one (1) or more purchasers of all or part 
of the Property; provided the Developer sends the City written notice of the assignment.   

Section 6.  Term; Termination.  
(a) This Agreement shall terminate at such time that the City adopts the Maintenance Fee by 

ordinance. 
(b) The Parties further mutually agree that this Agreement shall be in full force and effect upon 

the date above first written, provided that the City may terminate this Agreement if 
Developer fails to comply with this Agreement or fails to meet any deadlines imposed by 
this Agreement or the City’s ordinances subject to the notice and cure provisions in Section 
7.   

Section 7.  Default.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no party shall be deemed 
to be in default hereunder until the passage of fourteen (14) business days after receipt by such 
party of notice of default from the other party. Upon the passage of fourteen (14) business days 
without cure of the default, such party shall be deemed to have defaulted for purposes of this 
Agreement; provided that if the nature of the default is that it cannot reasonably be cured within 
the fourteen (14) business day period, the defaulting party shall have a longer period of time as 
may be reasonably necessary to cure the default in question; but in no event more than sixty (60) 
days.  In the event of default, the non-defaulting party to this Agreement may pursue the remedy 
of specific performance, mandamus, injunction, or other equitable legal remedy not inconsistent 
with this Agreement.  All remedies will be cumulative and the pursuit of one authorized remedy 
will not constitute an election of remedies or a waiver of the right to pursue any other authorized 
remedy. 

Section 8.  Reservation of Rights.  To the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement, each 
party reserves all rights, privileges, and immunities under applicable laws, and neither party 
waives any legal right or defense available under law or in equity. 

Section 9.  Attorneys Fees.  In the event of action pursued in court to enforce rights under this 
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to its costs and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with such action. 

Section 10.  Waiver.  Any failure by a party to insist upon strict performance by the other party 
of any provision of this Agreement will not, regardless of length of time during which that 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 3 

failure continues, be deemed a waiver of that party’s right to insist upon strict compliance with 
all terms of this Agreement.  In order to be effective as to a party, any waiver of default under 
this Agreement must be in writing, and a written waiver will only be effective as to the specific 
default and as to the specific period of time set forth in the written waiver.  A written waiver will 
not constitute a waiver of any subsequent default, or of the right to require performance of the 
same or any other provision of this Agreement in the future. 

Section 11.  Force Majeure.   
(a) The term "force majeure" as employed herein shall mean and refer to acts of God; strikes, 

lockouts, or other industrial disturbances: acts of public enemies, orders of any kind of the 
government of the United States, the State of Texas or any civil or military authority; 
insurrections; riots; epidemic; landslides; lightning, earthquakes; fires, hurricanes; storms, 
floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of government and people; civil disturbances; 
explosions; breakage or accidents to machinery, pipelines, or canals; or other causes not 
reasonably within the control of the party claiming such inability. 

(b) If, by reason of force majeure, any party hereto shall be rendered wholly or partially unable 
to carry out its obligations under this Agreement, then such party shall give written notice of 
the full particulars of such force majeure to the other party within ten (10) days after the 
occurrence thereof.  The obligations of the party giving such notice, to the extent effected by 
the force majeure, shall be suspended during the continuance of the inability claimed, except 
as hereinafter provided, but for no longer period, and the party shall endeavor to remove or 
overcome such inability with all reasonable dispatch. 

(c) It is understood and agreed that the settlement of strikes and lockouts shall be entirely within 
the discretion of the party having the difficulty, and that the above requirement that any 
force majeure shall be remedied with all reasonable dispatch shall not require that the 
settlement be unfavorable in the judgment of the party having the difficulty. 

Section 12.  Notices.  Any notice to be given hereunder by any party to another party shall be in 
writing and may be effected by personal delivery or by sending said notices by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, to the address set forth below.  Notice shall be deemed given 
when deposited with the United States Postal Service with sufficient postage affixed. 

Any notice mailed to the City shall be addressed: 
 City of Leander 
 Attn: City Manager 
 200 West Willis 
 P.O. Box 319 
 Leander, Texas 78646-0319 

with copy to: 
Knight & Partners 
Paige H. Saenz 
223 West Anderson Lane, #A105 
Austin, Texas 78752 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 4 

Any notice mailed to the Developer shall be addressed: 
K. L. Enterprises, Inc. 
Attn: Ken Liem, President 
26741 Portola Pkwy, IE-696 
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610 

Any party may change the address for notice to it by giving notice of such change in accordance 
with the provisions of this section. 

Section 13.  Waiver of Alternative Benefits.  The Parties acknowledge the mutual promises and 
obligations of the Parties expressed herein are good, valuable and sufficient consideration for this 
Agreement.  The Parties further acknowledge the City and Developer voluntarily elected the 
benefits and obligations of this Agreement, as opposed to the benefits available were Developer 
to have elected to develop the Property without the benefits and obligations of this Agreement, 
pursuant to and in compliance with the applicable City ordinances.  Therefore, save and except 
the right to enforce the obligations of the City to perform each and all of the City’s duties and 
obligations under this Agreement to the extent such are allowed under Texas law, Developer 
hereby waives any and all claims or causes of action against the City Developer may have for or 
with respect to any duty or obligation undertaken by Developer pursuant to this Agreement, 
including any benefits that may have been otherwise available to Developer but for this 
Agreement.  

Section 14. Agreement and Amendment.  This Agreement, together with any exhibits attached 
hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between Parties and may not be amended except by a 
writing approved by the City Council of the City that is signed by all Parties and dated 
subsequent to the date hereof. 

Section 15.  No Joint Venture. The terms of this Agreement are not intended to and shall not be 
deemed to create any partnership or joint venture among the parties.  The City, its past, present 
and future officers, elected officials, employees and agents, do not assume any responsibilities or 
liabilities to any third party in connection with the development of the Property.  The City enters 
into this Agreement in the exercise of its public duties and authority to provide for development 
of property within the City pursuant to its police powers and for the benefit and protection of the 
public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 16.  No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is not intended, nor will it be 
construed, to create any third-party beneficiary rights in any person or entity who is not a party, 
unless expressly provided otherwise herein, or in a written instrument executed by both the City 
and the third party.  Absent a written agreement between the City and third party providing 
otherwise, if a default occurs with respect to an obligation of the City under this Agreement, any 
notice of default or action seeking a remedy for such default must be made by the Owner. 

Section 17.  Effective Date.  The Effective Date of this Agreement is the defined date set forth in 
the first paragraph. 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 5 

Section 18.  Binding Obligations; Recordation.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the parties, their successors, and assigns.  This Agreement or a 
memorandum of Agreement acceptable to the City and Developer shall be recorded in the Official 
Public Records of Williamson County, Texas. 

Section 19.  Texas Law Governs.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas and shall be performable in Williamson County, 
Texas.  Venue shall lie exclusively in Williamson County, Texas. 

Section 20.  Time is of the Essence.  It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that time is of 
the essence in the performance of this Agreement. 

EXECUTED in multiple originals this the ____ day of ________________, 20____. 

[Signature Pages Follow] 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 6 

CITY: 
City of Leander, Texas 
 a Texas home-rule municipal corporation 

Attest:

By:  By: 
Name: Debbie Haile Name:  Christopher Fielder 
Title:  City Secretary  Title: Mayor  

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON § 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on this ____ day of _____________, 2016, by 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor of the City of Leander, Texas, a Texas home-rule municipal 
corporation, on behalf of said corporation.  

(SEAL) Notary Public, State of Texas 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 7 

DEVELOPER: 
K. L. Enterprises, Inc., a California corporation 

By: 
Name:  Ken Liem 
Title:   President 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate 
verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the 
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the 
truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA         ) 
COUNTY OF  ) 

On ______________________________before me,  
              (insert name and title of the officer) 

personally appeared Ken Liem, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be 
the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to 
me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by 
his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which 
the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

Signature (Seal) 



Development Agreement for Carneros Village Apartments 8 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Description of the Property 







NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

BAGDAD
CEMETERY

BAGDADMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWSSEC 4

BLEDSOE
PARK

VISTA RIDGE,PH 1
VISTA RIDGE,PH 4 VILLAS ATVISTA RIDGE

VISTARIDGE,PH 2A

4D
3C

5C

3A

2A
2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A2A
2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A
2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

2A

W SOUTH ST

S BAGDAD RD

VISTA RIDGE DR

ENCINO DR

N BAGDAD RD

LEE DR

BE
LL

O 
DR

NOGALES LN

TERRACE DR

MARSALA CIR

MUNICIPAL DR

AMARONE DR

GR
EE

NE
R 

DR

PINOT NOIR ST

GAVIOTA LN

SENDERO LN

BONITA CT

SA
NG

IO
VE

SE
 S

T

MA
ND

AN
A 

ST

SHAMITAS CT

CE
RE

ZO
 D

R

PEREGRINE WAY

CERRITO CV

CANDLELIGHT DR

CINDY LN

LOMA CEDRO BND

RA
NC

HO
 V

ER
DE

 D
R

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

± 0 200

Feet

16-DA-002
Development Agreement

Attachment #2
Location Exhibit
Carneros Village

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits



AGENDA ITEM # 12 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Council Agenda Subject:   Consider Approval of Construction Activities between 9:00 
p.m. and 7:00 a.m. for Cash Construction Company, Inc., for the Old 2243 Roadway 
Improvements Project on July 29 and 30 and August 5 and 6 of 2016 

Background:  

Cash Construction Company, Inc., is requesting City Council approval to work at night 
with in the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. on the Old 2243 Roadway Improvements 
Project on July 29 and 30 (Friday and Saturday) and August 5 and 6 (Friday and 
Saturday) of 2016.   The purpose of this night work is to install a 9’ x 5’ box culvert 
across the north side of Bagdad Road at the intersection of Bagdad Road and Old 2243 
West in order to minimize adverse impacts to traffic flow.   

Cash Construction Company, Inc., will communicate with the properties neighboring the 
construction site and take all reasonable precautions to reduce late night disturbances.  
The City will also post a notice on its website regarding the dates and times of the 
nighttime operation. 

Origination:  Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 

Financial Consideration:  Not Applicable 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval for Cash Construction Company, Inc., to 
work at night with in the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. on the Old 2243 Roadway 
Improvements Project on July 29 and 30 (Friday and Saturday) and August 5 and 6 
(Friday and Saturday) of 2016 in order to install a 9’ x 5’ box culvert across the north 
side of the intersection of Bagdad Road and Old 2243 West.   

Attachments:   Email Request from Cash Construction Company, Inc., and Location 
Map (Plan Sheet) 

Prepared by:   Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 







AGENDA ITEM # 13 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Council Agenda Subject:  Consideration of Amendment One to Task Order KFA-30 in 
the amount of $99,134.00 for the Kauffman Loop Elevated Storage Tank Project  

Background:  Initially, Task Order KFA-30 provided for the design, bidding, and 
construction phase professional services  for  a new 1.25 MG (bid alternates for 1.0 MG 
and 1.5 MG tanks will be provided) elevated storage tank (EST) on Kauffman Loop at 
CR 267 on the west side of Ronald Reagan Boulevard in northeast Leander.  
Compensation for that work in Task Order KFA-30 is a combination of a lump sum 
amount of $49,914.00 and time and materials not to exceed $68,010.00 without 
authorization by the City of Leander totaling $117,924.00.   

Task Order KFA-30 specifically did not include the following items of work as quoted 
from KFA-30: 
1. Electrical Design - Design for onsite electrical and SCADA controls for the EST
will be added as a supplemental service at a future date. 
2. Special Inspections & Testing for EST - Special inspections and testing of the
EST will be performed by others; including welding and painting of the new EST. 
3. Property/Easement Metes and Bounds - It is assumed that the property will be
dedicated to the City of Leander by the property owner and no easements or 
property descriptions will be required. 

Amendment One to Task Order KFA-30 (Amendment) adds above Items 1 and 2 to the 
scope of services.  In addition, the Amendment also provides for the unusually high costs 
incurred by the consultant for coordination with the City Attorney’s office on the most 
complex, detailed, right-of-entry agreement we have ever negotiated, the cost of cedar 
tree removal for geotechnical (borings) access, landscaping, and the design of a small 
detention facility associated with elevated storage tank flushing and/or draining activities, 
as detailed in attached Scope of Services.  The compensation for these additional, 
required design phase and construction services is on a time and materials basis not to 
exceed $99,134.00 without City authorization.  The engineering contract cost for this 



project now consists of the lump sum amount of $49,914.00 and time and materials not to 
exceed $167,144.00 for a total of $217,058.00, as noted in the attached Amendment. 

Origination:  Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 

Financial Consideration:  $99,134.00 from Water Impact Fee Fund, GL# TBD 
- 
Recommendation:  Staff requests authorization for the City Manager to negotiate and 
execute Amendment One to Task Order KFA-30. 

Attachments:  Scope of Services and Amendment One to Task Order KFA-30 

Prepared by:  Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 



SCOPE OF SERVICES 
KAUFFMAN ELEVATED STORAGE TANK 

7/12/2016 Page 1 of 2 

The Kauffman Elevated Storage Tank (EST) project will include the design and 
construction of a new 1.25 MG (estimated) EST off of Kauffman Loop in northeast 
Leander.  The tank will be constructed on a 4 acre site that is being dedicated as 
part of the Wedemeyer Tract development for a new fire station and elevated tank. 
The project will include the design of approximately 1,500 linear feet of 24-inch 
diameter water main to the tank site along Kauffman Loop, tank appurtenances, 
driveway, fencing, and other site improvements.  The layout of the tank site will take 
into consideration the construction of a future fire station, but no design of the fire 
station is included.   

Additional services outside of the original scope of services are required.  These 
include electrical engineering, tank inspection and testing, and some other 
miscellaneous services described below.  This effort will be performed as “Time and 
Materials” tasks.   

PHASE I - DESIGN AND BID PHASE (TIME & MATERIALS TASKS) 

1. Property Owner Coordination & Sub Management – Additional services related to
obtaining rights-of-entry and executing documents with the property owner,
review of property acquisition documents, and management of the additional
subconsultant effort below.

2. Plan Modifications – As the site drains toward private property and not to right-of-
way, a small detention pond design is required in case of tank overflows or
otherwise discharging water from the tank.  The detention pond is not required
for storm water runoff.  Landscape plans have also been added to the project.
Chloramine injection is also being added to the project to boost disinfection at the
tank site.

3. Geotechnical Engineering Services (Fugro) – Additional services required for
tree/brush removal required for access to the tank site with the drill rig.

4. Tank Paint System (Boswell) – Paint system selection and design to be
performed by Boswell’s Consulting Services.

5. Electrical Engineering (JRSA) – Electrical engineering design to bring power to
the site and design onsite lighting, etc. for the elevated storage tank.

PHASE II – BID & CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES (TIME & MATERIALS) 

1. Additional services during the bid phase will include:

a. Tank Inspection & Testing (Boswell) – Testing and inspection per the
attached scope of services to include soils/foundation testing, reinforcing
steel inspection, concrete inspection and testing, HMAC testing and
inspection, welding inspection, and steel tank painting inspection and



SCOPE OF SERVICES 
KAUFFMAN ELEVATED STORAGE TANK 

7/12/2016 Page 2 of 2 

testing.  Testing and inspection services will be performed as-needed, the 
hours indicated on the attached proposal are estimates of the expected 
effort, but are subject to change depending on schedule and prosecution 
of the work by the Contractor.   

b. Electrical Engineering (JRSA) – Construction phase services as required
for electrical engineering items, including submittal review, responding to
Contractor questions, etc.



KFA MANPOWER/BUDGET ESTIMATE - TIME AND MATERIALS TASKS
KAUFFMAN LOOP ELEVATED STORAGE TANK - ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

7/12/2016
Kauffman EST - Manpower - Add1 2 of 2

Principal
Project 

Manager Engineer EIT
CADD 

Technician Clerical Total Labor Total Labor
Sub-

Consultant Expenses Total
Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Cost Cost Cost Cost

Phase I - Preliminary & Design Phase
1 Property Owner Coord & Sub Management 8 4 8 4 24 $2,853 $2,853
2 Plan Modifications 12 16 20 16 64 $7,117 $7,117
3 Geotechnical Investigation (Fugro) 0 $0 $4,422 $4,422
4 Tank Paint System (Boswell) 0 $0 $4,000 $4,000
5 Electrical Engineering (JRSA) 0 $0 $10,000 $10,000

Subtotal Phase II 0 20 20 28 16 4 88 $9,970 $18,422 $0 $28,392
Phase II - Bid & Construction Phase

1 Construction Phase Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 $0 $70,742 $0 $70,742
a Tank Inspection & Testing (Boswell) 0 $0 $68,242 $68,242
b Electrical Engineering (JRSA) 0 $0 $2,500 $2,500

Subtotal Phase II 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 $0 $70,742 $0 $70,742
T & M Project Totals 0 20 20 28 16 4 88 $9,970 $89,164 $0 $99,134

Task



JRSA Engineering 
CONSULTING ELECTRICAL ENGINEERS 

6101 W Courtyard Dr, Building 1, Suite 200  Austin, Texas 78730 
V 512.452.8789 

December 28, 2015 

K. Friese & Associates 
1120 South Capital of Texas Highway 
The Setting II, Suite 100 
Austin, Texas  78746 

Attn. Dale Murphy, P.E. 

Re: Proposal for Engineering Services 
City of Leander- Kaufman Loop EST 
Instrumentation & Electrical Design 

Dear Mr. Murphy: 

JRSA proposes to furnish the Design & Bid Phase engineering services required to complete the electrical 
& instrumentation design for above stated project. Our fee will be a lump sum amount of $10,000.00. In 
addition to providing one, electronic/pdf set of plans and specifications necessary to bid the project, our 
services include the following: 

Design & Bid Phase: 
• Coordinating electrical service to the site.
• Preliminary site visit to assess design requirements.
• Providing power, instrumentation, and lighting design for the elevated storage tank.
• Providing power, instrumentation, and lighting design for the chemical feed system.
• Providing a cost estimate for the electrical and instrumentation systems.
• Coordinating a Radio Path Study.
• Designing a SCADA system for the site, and providing interconnection for the City of Leander

overall SCADA system.
• Responding to contractor questions.
• Preparing addendum items, as required.
• Attending the pre-bid meeting.

JRSA can also provide Construction & Administration related services at an hourly rate, not to exceed 
$2,500.00. Our hourly rates are as follows: 

• Engineer -  $130 per hour
• Designer -  $100 per hour
• Clerical - $70 per hour.

Construction & Administration Phase services will include the following: 

• Responding to RFI’s.
• Attending the Pre-Construction Conference.
• Site visits (up to 2) to monitor construction progress.
• Reviewing Submittals & O&M manuals.

JRSA Proposal for Engineering Services- Kaufman Loop Page 1 of 2 



JRSA Engineering 
CONSULTING ELECTRICAL ENGINEERS 

6101 W Courtyard Dr, Building 1, Suite 200  Austin, Texas 78730 
V 512.452.8789 

• Performing a final inspection.
• Attending the start-up.
• Preparing conformed drawings.

Design & Bid Phase services will be billed on a percent completion basis. Construction & Administrative 
Phase services will be billed on a monthly basis. All payments will be due within 90 days from invoice 
date. 

Please note that any changes made to the scope of the project, as noted in this proposal, or additional 
requirements to our current insurance coverage, may result in an increase in our fee. 

Thank you for your consideration. If you agree with the terms of this proposal please sign in the allocated 
space below and return a copy to us. We appreciate this opportunity and look forward to working with 
you. 

Yours truly, Accepted by: _____________________   

JRSA Engineering For: K. Friese & Assocaties 

Elizabeth Segner-Zarate, P.E. 
President 

JRSA Proposal for Engineering Services- Kaufman Loop Page 2 of 2 



1

CLIENT SERVICE IS NUMBER 1

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

May 5, 2016

Mr. Dale Murphy, P.E.
K Friese + Associates
1120 South Capital of Texas Highway
City View 2, Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78746

Subject: Consulting, and Construction Materials Inspection and Testing of the New
1.25 MG EST in Leander, Texas

Dear Mr. Murphy:

Boswell’s Consulting Testing Services (BCTS) is pleased to submit this proposal for Consulting,
and Construction Materials Inspection and Testing of the New 1.25 MG EST in Leander,
Texas. The purpose of this proposal is to present our scope of work for the project, associated
unit fees for our services.

We have prepared this proposal based on our experience with similar tank construction projects.

Plans, specifications and a contractor schedule for construction and painting were not available
for us to base our quantities for inspection, testing, engineering and project management time on.
Therefore, the overall cost for our services may be more than proposed depending on the needs
and demands of the project and, contractor schedules and sequence of work.

Proposed Estimated Fee
At this time, we estimate a preliminary budget of $72,242 to be billed on a time-and-materials
basis. We have attached a Proposed Fee Schedule / Estimate indicating our budget breakdown
and unit costs. Our estimate does not include costs for re-inspections or re-test for contractor non-
compliant work, contractor delays overtime worked hours, stand-by time or site visits that are
cancelled upon arrival or while in route to the project.

Scope of Services
We understand the project includes the construction of a 1.25 MG elevated water tank located in
Leander, Texas. Our services for this project will include project management, field observation
and testing, and laboratory testing during the site and tank construction, and tank painting phases.
The purpose of our services is to document substantial compliance with the construction
documents using the generally accepted industry practice for our area.

1503 Sagebrush Drive
Round Rock, Texas 78681

phone | 512-426-3380
e-mail I Robert@boswellscts.com

web I www.boswellscts.com



2

Task 1: Compaction Testing of Fill Materials, Sub-grade and Base
BCTS will provide a soil technician for call-out testing to confirm that fill materials are properly
placed and compacted. This task may include the following as requested:

 Obtain sample(s) of proposed material for laboratory evaluation.
 Observe and document subgrade conditions prior to fill/backfill placement.
 Observe and document any proof-rolling operations.
 Perform appropriate field testing to determine in-place moisture/density conditions.
 Monitor pier drilling operations (if applicable).
 Document field test locations.
 Verbally report test results to the Contractor’s Superintendent.

Task 2: Portland Cement Concrete Testing
BCTS will provide a technician to confirm that the Portland Cement Concrete (concrete) provided
at the project site is in conformance with project specifications. This task may include the following
as requested:

 Observe and document reinforcement steel placement.
 Perform field testing to document slump, air and concrete temperature, air content as

specified.
 Produce and transport specified concrete test cylinders for laboratory testing.
 Laboratory curing and compressive strength testing of test cylinders.
 Report results of field and laboratory test data.
 Verbally report test results to the Contractor’s Superintendent.

Task 3: Hot Mix Asphaltic Concrete Testing
BCTS will provide a technician to confirm that the Asphaltic Concrete (asphalt) provided at the
project site is in conformance with project specifications. This task may include the following as
requested:

 Observe and test and document asphaltic placement.
 Laboratory testing and document asphaltic test specimens.
 Report results of field and laboratory test data.
 Verbally report test results to the Contractor’s Superintendent.

Task 4: Steel Services
BCTS will provide a Certified Welding Inspector for call-out inspection and testing to confirm that
construction of the tank is in conformance with the project specifications. This task would include
the following as requested:

 Collect and review contractor welding procedures and welder certifications,
 Randomly observe fit-up and welding process for welds.
 Observe welds for conformance with AWS, API and/or AWWA standards as applicable.
 Radiographic testing of welds.
 Report results of observations and tests.
 Verbally report test results to the Contractor’s Superintendent.



3

Task 5: Paint Testing
BCTS will provide a paint inspector to confirm that surface preparation and painting of the tank is
in conformance with project specifications. This task may include the following as requested:

 Verification of paint manufacturer’s product.
 Random observation of proper surface preparation.
 Random observation of coating application process.
 Random measurement of applied coating thickness.
 Observe contractor confirmation of coating integrity using Holiday testing.
 Report results of observations and tests.
 Verbally report test results to the Contractor’s Superintendent.

Task 6: Project Management and Report Preparation
BCTS will provide general oversight, coordination with field technicians, and report reviews. If
requested by the Client, the Project Manager will be available to assist with consultation and
resolution of problems should they occur.

Scheduling and Communications
We request that our dispatch office (512-426-3380) be contacted at least 48 hours in advance of
any necessary observations and tests. In order for us to accomplish our scope of services, we
request to be provided with two sets of the project plans, specifications and builders drawings
prior to the start of the project.

Authorization
Please indicate your approval of our proposal by signing the attached BCTS Terms and
Conditions and by issuing us a work order for the services we have listed in our proposal.

Attachments

Proposed Not to Exceed Fee Schedule.

BCTS Terms and Conditions.

We appreciate the opportunity to provide you with this proposal, and look forward to working
with you on your project. If you have any questions, please contact us at (512) 426-3380.

Sincerely,

Boswell’s Consulting Testing Services

__________________________

Robert Boswell

CEO/Principal Professional



Service Description

Estimated

Quantity Unit Price

Estimated

Total Amount

Laboratory Testing

Moisture Density Relationships TEX-113-E 4 ea. 202.00$ 808.00$

Atterberg Limits Tests 4 ea. 64.00$ 256.00$

Grain Size Analyses 4 ea. 98.00$ 392.00$

Technician Time 6 hrs. 52.00$ 312.00$

Trip Charge 1 ea. 60.00$ 60.00$
Subtotal 1,828.00$

Field Testing

Nuclear Gauge 30 ea. 35.00$ 1,050.00$

Technician Time 120 hrs. 52.00$ 6,240.00$

Trip Charge 30 ea. 60.00$ 1,800.00$
Subtotal 9,090.00$

Project Management

Project Manager 2 hrs. 100.00$ 200.00$

Principal Engineer 2 hrs. 150.00$ 300.00$
Subtotal 500.00$

SOILS TANK / FOUNDATION Total 11,418.00$

REINFORCING STEEL / TANK PEDESTAL

Field Testing

Technician Time 92 hrs. 52.00$ 4,784.00$

Trip Charge 23 ea. 60.00$ 1,380.00$
Subtotal 6,164.00$

Project Management

Project Manager 2 hrs. 100.00$ 200.00$

Principal Engineer 2 hrs. 150.00$ 300.00$
Subtotal 500.00$

REINFORCING STEEL / TANK PEDESTAL Total 6,664.00$

CONCRETE PLACEMENT / TANK PEDESTAL
Field Testing

Technician Time 92 hrs. 52.00$ 4,784.00$

Trip Charge 23 ea. 60.00$ 1,380.00$
Subtotal 6,164.00$

Leander New 1.25 MG Elevated Tank
5/4/2016

SOILS / TANK FOUNDATION

BCTS Proposed Cost Estimate
K Freese

1503 Sagebrush Drive
Round Rock, Texas 78681

phone | 512-426-3380
e-mail I Robert@boswellscts.com

web I www.boswellscts.comCLIENT SERVICE IS NUMBER 1

1



Service Description

Estimated

Quantity Unit Price

Estimated

Total Amount

Laboratory Testing

Concrete Cylinder Compressive Strength Tests 200 ea. 18.00$ 3,600.00$

Technician Time 46 hrs. 52.00$ 2,392.00$

Trip Charge 23 ea. 60.00$ 1,380.00$
Subtotal 3,772.00$

Project Management

Project Manager 2 hrs. 100.00$ 200.00$

Principal Engineer 2 hrs. 150.00$ 300.00$
Subtotal 500.00$

CONCRETE PLACEMENT / TANK PEDESTAL Total 10,436.00$

SUBGRADE AND HMAC / ACCESS ROAD

Subgrade Laboratory Testing

Moisture Density Relationships D698 2 ea. 173.00$ 346.00$

Atterberg Limits Tests 2 ea. 64.00$ 128.00$

Grain Size Analyses 2 ea. 98.00$ 196.00$

Technician Time 6 hrs. 52.00$ 312.00$

Trip Charge 1 ea. 60.00$ 60.00$
Subtotal 1,042.00$

Subgrade Field Testing

Nuclear Gauge 4 ea. 35.00$ 140.00$

Technician Time 16 hrs. 52.00$ 832.00$

Trip Charge 4 ea. 60.00$ 240.00$
Subtotal 1,212.00$

HMAC Field Testing

Bag Sample Pickup Technician Time 8 hrs. 75.00$ 600.00$

Field Cores 4 ea. 70.00$ 280.00$

Trip Charge 2 ea. 60.00$ 120.00$
Subtotal 400.00$

HMAC Laboratory Testing

Specimen Molding/Bulk Density & Stability 6 ea. 325.00$ 1,950.00$

Theoretical Specific Gravity (Rice) 2 ea. 75.00$ 150.00$

Extraction Gradation Asphalt Content 2 ea. 325.00$ 650.00$
Subtotal 2,750.00$

Project Management

Project Manager 4 hrs. 100.00$ 400.00$

Principal Engineer 4 hrs. 150.00$ 600.00$
Subtotal 1,000.00$

SUBGRADE AND HMAC / ACCESS ROAD Total 6,404.00$

STEEL TANK PAINTING SPECIFICATIONS

Write Paint Specifications for Steel Tank

Consultant Time 40 ea. 100.00$ 4,000.00$
Subtotal 4,000.00$

2



Service Description

Estimated

Quantity Unit Price

Estimated

Total Amount

Field Inspection and Testing

Welding Inspection 144 ea. 70.00$ 10,080.00$

Trip Charge 24 ea. 60.00$ 1,440.00$

X-ray Testing 1 ea. 4,000.00$ 4,000.00$
Subtotal 15,520.00$

Project Management

Project Manager 8 hrs. 100.00$ 800.00$
Subtotal 800.00$

STEEL TANK CONSTRUCTION Total 16,320.00$

Field Inspection and Testing

Paint Inspection 180 ea. 80.00$ 14,400.00$

Trip Charge 30 ea. 60.00$ 1,800.00$
Subtotal 16,200.00$

Project Management

Project Manager 8 hrs. 100.00$ 800.00$
Subtotal 800.00$

STEEL TANK PAINTING Total 17,000.00$

72,242.00$Project Total

STEEL TANK CONSTRUCTION

STEEL TANK PAINTING

3



TASK ORDER AMENDMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

TASK ORDER AMENDMENT NO. 1 FOR TASK ORDER KFA-30 

This will constitute authorization by the City of Leander, Texas (Owner), for K Friese & Associates, Inc., 
Austin, Texas (Engineer), to proceed with the following described engineering services. 

KAUFFMAN ELEVATED STORAGE TANK 

A. AMENDMENT DESCRIPTION 

The original scope of the project included the design of a 1.25 million gallon Elevated Storage Tank 
(EST) in northeast Leander.  Additional services are requested to include tank inspection and testing 
during construction, electrical engineering for design and construction phases, and addition of a 
permanent choloramine booster station to the design.  

B. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

KFA will provide design services as described in the attached “Scope of Services.”  

C. DELIVERABLES 

KFA will provide deliverables as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

D.  BASIS OF COMPENSATION 

The total compensation for these additional services for the Kauffman Elevated Storage Tank shall be on 
a time and materials basis not to exceed $99,134.00 without prior authorization from the Owner.  A 
Manpower/Budget Estimate is attached.  This brings the total authorization under this Task Order to 
$217,058.00.  The City shall make payments to the Engineer for performing the engineering services 
described on a monthly billing basis in accordance with monthly statements submitted by the Engineer 
and approved by the City.  Final payment shall be due upon completion of the services described. 

E. TIME FOR COMPLETION 

The Engineer will work expeditiously to complete the services described herein.  Design phase services 
are anticipated to be completed within 2 months, bid and construction phase services will be 
approximately a year.     

AMEND. NO. 1 TO TASK ORDER KFA-30 Page 1 of 2 7/13/2016 



KFA will begin work as soon as authorized and as services are requested.  Design and construction phase 
services are anticipated to be completed within 18 months after notice to proceed. 

APPROVED: ACCEPTED: 

CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS K FRIESE & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By  ______________________________ By  ______________________________ 
Karen A. Friese, P.E. 

Title  _____________________________ President 

Attest  ____________________ Attest  ____________________ 

Date    ____________________ Date    ____________________ 

AMEND. NO. 1 TO TASK ORDER KFA-30 Page 2 of 2 7/13/2016 



AGENDA ITEM # 14 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Subject: Consider Award of Employee Health Benefit Contracts for the 2016-2017 Plan Year 

Background 

On May 23rd, 2016, eighteen (18) vendors submitted bids for the various benefit lines.  

Evaluation of the proposals received was conducted with the assistance of Gallagher Benefit 
Services.  Evaluation and negotiations considered the plan costs, budget tolerance, Affordable 
Care Act (ACA) compliance and affordability guidelines and benefit packages proposed.   

Wellness Initiative 

The Wellness Initiative continues yearly.  All employees are encouraged to attend the on-site 
health screening provided by Catapult.  Employees that choose not to attend are assessed a 
wellness fee of $40 per month. 

Recommendation Summary 

Health Insurance 

United Health Care submitted the most advantageous proposal that was more competitive than 
the City’s existing provider, Blue Cross Blue Shield.  The Blue Cross Blue Shield renewal proposal 
represented a rate increase of 17%.  The United Health Care proposal offers a 4% rate increase 
with minimal disruption to in-network providers and the prescription drug benefit. UHC offered 
$5 PEPM credit as a line item on the monthly medical bill if we bundled medical and dental. 
This credit applies for 24 months. 

Dental Insurance 

Guardian, the City’s current provider, offered a 15% renewal rate increase.  The United Health 
Care proposal offers a larger number of in-network providers, coverage that is comparable to 



the City’s current offering and a 5% rate decrease.  United Health Care is also offering a 24-
month rate guarantee. 

Voluntary Vision 

United Health Care, in bundling this benefit with the health and dental proposals, has offered 
the most competitive package and a 36-month rate guarantee.  This is a new benefit to 
employees. This voluntary benefit’s premium is paid 100% by the employee. 

Voluntary Life Insurance and AD&D, Voluntary Short Term Disability and Long Term Disability  

Dearborn National is our current short and long term provider. Humana is our current provider 
for Basic and Voluntary Life products. Dearborn has provided the most competitive package by 
bundling all three of these benefits; and is offering the City employees a “true” open 
enrollment, meaning, no Evidence of Insurability (EOI- medical history document) this year. 
These voluntary benefit premiums are paid 100% by the employee with an exception of Basic 
Life, which the City pays 100% for a $15,000 policy for each employee. 

Accident Insurance and Cancer Insurance 

Allstate, the City’s current provider, has provided comparable plans and pricing at almost no 
rate increase. These voluntary benefit premiums are paid 100% by the employee. 

Employee Assistance Program 

Alliance Work Partners, current provide, has maintained same plan with a slight increase from 
$2.02 PEPM to $2.06 PEPM.  

Flexible Spending 

BMA, the City’s current administrator for employee Flexible Spending and Dependent Care 
Spending, has maintained the same plan with no cost increases. Currently, the fees are $6.50 
PEPM for Flex and $1.00 PEPM for POP, with an annual/renewal fee of $250.00. Flex is based on 
the number of employees enrolled in Flex per month; POP is based upon the number of 
employees that have pretax medical or dental premium deductions.  

Per IRS regulations, for an employer to pre-tax premiums, it must have a formal pre-tax plan in 
place (POP (Premium Only Plan)). Our administrator provides this service by providing the legal 
plan document, and resources for questions.  

Health Savings Account 

A+ Credit Union administers employee HSA accounts. Employees establish a membership with 
the credit union. Membership requires a total of $15.00 to initiate an account. This fee has a 



$10.00 deposit into the employee’s saving account and a $5.00 one time,  non-refundable 
membership fee.   

Financial Consideration: 

The largest expense to the City lies in providing the Medical, Dental and Basic Life and AD&D 
insurance policies.  Utilizing the plans and bundles outlined herein with United Health Care and 
Dearborn National, the City will realize a total annual cost of $1,957,350.  This represents a 3% 
increase over last year of $65,282.  

The Health Savings Account expense is approximately $9750.00 annually. For each employee 
that selects the HDHP (Low Plan), the City contributes $750.00 to each employee’s HSA account 
as of 10/1 or in the case of new hires throughout the year, the $750.00 is prorated based upon 
the number of pay periods remaining in the plan year. Currently we have 13 employees that 
have elected the “Low Plan”.    

EAP: The annual cost as of 10/1/2016 plan year will be approximately $560.00; 10/1/15 plan 
year was approximately $560.00.  

Flexible Spending: The approximate annual cost for Flex $5460.00 + POP $2568.00 + $250.00 = 
$8,278.00. 

Recommendation: Staff respectfully recommends that the Council authorize the City Manager 
to enter into a 12-month agreement with each provider outlined herein with four (4) 12-month 
renewal options.  Please note, that United Health Care is offering a 24-month rate guarantee on 
the Dental Insurance and a 36-month rate guarantee on Vision Insurance.  The City 
recommends exercising those rate guarantee options. 

Attachments: 

- Medical Overview 
- Dental Overview 
- Dental Care Levels 
- Voluntary Vision Overview 
- Basic Life & AD&D Overview 
- Voluntary Life & AD&D Overview 
- Voluntary Short Term Disability Overview 
- Voluntary Long Term Disability Overview 
- Accident & Cancer Overview 
- Total Cost Overview 

Prepared by: Cindy Hignite, Human Resources Director 
Joy Simonton, City Purchasing Agent 























AGENDA ITEM # 15 

Executive Summary 

July, 21, 2016 

Subject: Consider Increase in City contribution and cost spread for Employee Health Benefits 

Background: 

In 2016, SHRM (Society for Human Resource Management) conducted an Employee Job 
Satisfaction survey. “Benefits” was the third most important job satisfaction contributor below 
“Respectful treatment of all employees” which came in first and “compensation pay” ranking 
second. Benefits have been in the top five contributors to job satisfaction since 2002. 

Included in the SHRM survey, the report stated “It is undeniable that compensation/pay, 
benefits and job security all shape the degree to which employees are satisfied; however, it is 
also noteworthy to mention that the extent of their importance fluctuates as a result of 
external factors such as changing economic conditions.  

Alleviating financial burdens may have a positive impact on employees’ ability to focus and thus 
improve the quality of their work. 

While the rates we obtained from our Employee Health Benefits bids this year were 
competitive, the City’s goal is to find the right mix of employee benefits that satisfy the 
personal and financial needs of the current and future workforce, given the high cost of health 
care increasing the city’s contribution towards benefits costs is the right thing to do for our 
employees, and it improves our position in the market for attracting and retaining top talent. 

Below is additional confirmation data to support a recommendation for the City to increase 
their contribution % for medical and dental.   

Central Texas Benchmark: This study was conducted by our benefits consultants, Gallagher 
Benefits Services, and illustrates various public sector medical plan comparisons within the 
Central Texas region. While the actual organizations’ names are not disclosed, it does highlight 
the differences in the plans. Our city is the 6th block down. By comparison, we rank on the more 
expensive side for “deductibles”, “Out of Pocket Max”, “Co-pays”, and “Employer Family 
Contributions” factors.   



Case Studies: The City’s recruiting efforts are becoming more problematic for quality candidates 
accepting positions due to our high cost of premiums for dependents, and medical factors as 
described above.  Also during employee orientation, the Human Resources department is often 
challenged by new hires as to “why” our medical is not competitive. Attached are just some 
excerpts of conversations between HR and new hires. As you read each of the case studies, you 
will notice that our employee base is becoming much savvier in weighing the pros and cons to 
work for the City by determining their medical costs in comparison to their salaries.  

Medical & Pharmacy Loss Ratio: As you review the Medical & Pharmacy Loss Ratio chart, over 
the last 12 months, our current medical provider received $1,677,725 in premiums and paid out 
$1,578,994 in claims, which means the provider paid out almost the same amount as they 
received in.  

As you look out on the horizon for the upcoming year(s), the outlook will probably not improve 
due to the medical conditions of the high claimants, which will be ongoing. 

Recommendation Summary: 

Staff recommends: 

In years past, the City has contributed 30% of dependent coverage premiums for medical and 
dental. However, with our Medical claims ratios being extremely high, and the City’s goal to 
attract and retain quality employees, it is recommended for the City to begin contributing at a 
rate of 40% versus 30%, for both medical and dental. 

40% City Supplement Medical 
Mid City EE Biwkly Low HSA City EE Biwkly 
EO 517.04 0.00 0.00 EO 406.79 0.00 0.00 
ES 802.46 428.12 214.06 ES 697.50 270.68 135.34 
EC 719.74 304.04 152.02 EC 632.41 173.06 86.53 
EF 934.82 626.68 313.34 EF 801.64 426.89 213.45 

City Medical Contribution at 40% would be approximately $ 1,533,797.90 

40% City Supplement Dental 
DHMO City EE Biwkly Indem. City EE Biwkly 

EO 9.45 0.00 0.00 EO 9.45 19.12 9.56 
ES 12.05 3.90 1.95 ES 28.58 28.70 14.35 
EC 15.342 8.84 4.42 EC 32.93 35.21 17.61 
EF 16.994 11.32 5.66 EF 44.41 52.45 26.23 

City Dental Contribution at 40% would be approximately $ 46,762.49 



30% City Supplement Medical 
Mid City EE Biwkly Low HSA City EE Biwkly 
EO 517.04 0.00 0.00 EO 406.79 0.00 0.00 
ES 731.10 499.48 249.74 ES 652.38 315.80 157.90 
EC 669.06 354.72 177.36 EC 603.57 201.90 100.95 
EF 830.38 731.12 365.56 EF 730.49 498.04 249.02 

City Medical Contribution at 30% would be approximately $ 1,475,873.37 

30% City Supplement Dental 
DHMO City EE Biwkly Indem. City EE Biwkly 

EO 9.45 0.00 0 EO 9.45 19.12 9.56 
ES 11.40 4.55 2.28 ES 23.80 33.48 16.74 
EC 13.87 10.31 5.16 EC 27.06 41.08 20.54 
EF 15.11 13.20 6.60 EF 35.67 61.19 30.59 

City Dental Contribution at 30% would be approximately $ 40,997.02 

Financial Consideration: 

City Combined Cost for Medical and Dental @ 40% is $1,580,560.39 

City Combined Cost for Medical and Dental @ 30% is $ 1,516875.39 

Difference is $ 63, 685.00.  

Attachments: 

• Central Texas Benchmark Study
• Case Studies
• Medical & Pharmacy Loss Ratio

Prepared by: Cindy Hignite, Human Resources Director 



Prepared by: Gallagher Benefit Services, Inc., Austin TX

Quasi-Gov't 203 POS $250 $500 90% 60% $1,750 $3,500 100% 90%

HMO $0 $0 Copays $3,500 $7,000 $25 $45 95% 50%

PPO $500 $1,500 80% 60% $25 $35 100% 50%

City 75 PPO1 $3,000 $6,000 70% 50% $6,000 $12,000 $30 $60 100% 60%

213 High PPO $3,000 $6,000 100% 50% $1,000 $2,000 $30 $50 87% 74%

254 Low PPO (HSA)2 $3,000 $6,000 90% 50% $1,000 $2,000 98% 84%

City 85 HMO $2,600 $5,000 80% $6,350 $12,700 80% 80% 100% 50%

190 Mid PPO $3,000 $9,000 80% 60% $5,600 $10,200 $40 $50 100% 53%

12 Low PPO (HSA)4 $3,000 $6,000 80% 60% $6,350 $12,700 100% 57%

City 134 POS $1,500 $3,000 80% 50% $5,000 $10,000 $30 $50 100% 45%

PPO $0 $0 80% 5 60% $25 $40 100% 73%

HMO $0 $0 80% 5 $25 $40 100% 73%

212 High HMO $750 $1,500 90% $2,000 $4,000 $25 $40 90% 0%

158 Low HMO $2,500 $5,000 80% $2,000 $4,000 $30 $40 100% 0%

80%
City

State
$2,000 per person

$2,000 per person

City

$2,500 per covered 
person

Group Plans

OOP Max

Indiv

90%
City

Family

$20

City

Deductible Co-Insurance Co-payment

Primary 
Care

Specialist 
CareGroup  Size

Employer Contribution

Indiv Family In Ntwk. Out of 
Ntwk. Employee Family



Prepared by: Gallagher Benefit Services, Inc., Austin TX

117 High Plan $500 $1,000 90% n/a $3,750 $7,500 81% 35%

831 Mid Plan $1,000 $2,000 80% n/a $3,750 $7,500 100% 43%

66 Base Plan $1,250 $2,500 80% n/a $3,750 $7,500 100% 45%

EPO (HMO) $300 $750 100% n/a $3,500 $7,000 $35 $50 85% 66%

PPO $500 $1,250 90% 70% $3,500 $7,000 $30 $45 95% 80%

Co-Insured EPO (HMO) $700 $1,750 80% n/a $3,500 $7,000 $25 $40 100% 85%

720 Aetna ACO Seton $1,750 $3,500 80% n/a $5,500 $11,000 $30 $45 93% 80%

480 Aetna Choice POS $1,750 $3,500 80% 60% $5,500 $11,000 $30 $45 64% 60%

80 Core PPO $500 $1,000 80% 50% $3,000 $6,000 $30 $40 95% 84%

148 Buy UP PPO $300 $600 90% 60% $1,500 $3,000 90% 82%

AVERAGE $1,319 $2,806 74% 57% $3,242 $6,442 $25 $30 95% 59%

1 Employer reimburses remaining deductible/coinsurance once employee pays first $750 of deductible.  Employer reimburses employee for $10 per copay.
2 Employer contributes $1,000 per year into each employee's Health Savings Account.
3 Employer contributes $1800 per year into each employee's Health Savings Account.
4 Employer contributes $750 per year into each employee's Health Savings Account.
5 Inpatient hospital additional $150 copay per day to $750 max.  Copay max is $2,250 per person per year.
6 Employees will pay 50% more if employee/spouse use tobacco.
7 Employees will pay approximately 3% more if they do not complete biometric screening.

Public Transit 7

$25

County 6

County  

$30County

$30

$20



July 2016 | City of Leander | 512-528-2708 

Case Studies:   
City of Leander 
Medical Benefits 
Cost Comparisons 
Case Study #1 

 

“While the offered 

rate of xx an hour is 

generous as a base 

rate compared to 

my current base 

rate, I would 

experience a net 

pay decrease with 

the extra health 

insurance costs.”  

2016 New Hire: The City of Leander made a candidate a competitive salary & benefits 
offer. The potential employee was pleased with offer but wanted to do research on our 
medical benefits. We provided a benefits book, with premiums, plan design, etc. 
Following was the response received from the candidate: 

As you know, I asked my wife xxx to run the numbers regarding insurance costs (both the 
difference in premiums and what we would have spent over the last plan year had our 
family been participants in either of the Leander insurance plans), and the differences are 
fairly significant.  Since both the city and UT System use BCBSTX PPO, she was able to use 
the allowable amount from "in network" EOBs to see exactly what the cost difference 
would be in a plan year.  Using the "mid-plan" (the closest plan to what I currently have 
and the less expensive of the two when xxx ran the numbers), I would have experienced 
an approximate $4850 direct cost increase in premiums and out of pocket expenses if I 
had been on the "mid plan" in PY15.  While the offered rate of xx an hour is generous as a 
base rate compared to my current base rate, I would experience a net pay decrease with 
the extra health insurance costs.  While I am excited about this position, it would be 
extremely difficult for me to accept such a cut in net pay.  I would like you to consider a 
starting rate of xx that would help mitigate the extra medical expense cost I would 
experience by switching employers. 

We made a revised offer letter with a higher salary to reflect our increased medical costs 
and he accepted. We’re very happy the candidate was willing to be up front with us so 
that we could address his needs. He has become a valued team member; it would have 
been a shame to lose him. 



Case Study #2 
  

 

Case Study #3 
 

2 

she accepted. However, her health care 
premiums (employee plus child 
coverage) were approximately double 
her previous rates.  Increased medical 
premiums consumed the entire raise, 
and when she factored in Leander’s 
higher deductibles (for birth of baby and 
child with tubes), she took a pay cut to 
come to Leander. 

2015 New Hire: 

This employee came from another 
municipal government in the area (City 
of Georgetown). She lived in Leander 
and so commutability and working for 
her community were big factors in her 
consideration to change employers. She 
has an MBA and directly related 
experience in Incode, so she was the 
perfect fit candidate. We offered her a 
~5% increase to come to the city, which 

Benchmarking Data: 

Deductibles/
Out of Pocket Maximums 
& Co-Insurance  

(Current Plan Year) 

City of Leander PPO Plan 
Deductible : 
$3,000 individual/$9,000 family 
Out of Pocket Maximum: 
$5,600 individual/$10,200 family 
Co-Insurance: 
80% after deductible 

City of Georgetown PPO Plan 
Deductible : 
$3,000 individual/$6,000 family 
Out of Pocket Maximum: 
$4,000 individual/$8,000 family 
Co-Insurance: 
100% after deductible 

City of Cedar Park HNO Plan 
Deductible : 
$2500 individual/$5000 family 
Out of Pocket Maximum: 
$4500 individual/$9000 family 
Coinsurance: 
 80% after deductible 

City of Leander City of Georgetown  City of Cedar Park 
Employee + Child Cost Employee + Child Cost Employee + Child Cost 
$339.18/month $137.00/month $279.46/month 

2015 New Hire:  

Skilled labor is in shortage in the Austin area. We were lucky to find a skilled utilities 
employee in late 2015. He had multiple children whom he had covered under medical 
insurance at his previous job in the private sector, which was affordable ($300/mo). Due 
to City of Leander premiums and his salary, he could not afford to cover the whole family. 
(Annual salary $32,500. Family coverage under mid plan $8389 annual. 25.8% of his new 
hire annual income.) Thankfully, they qualified under the Medicare/Medicaid health 
coverage plan so he was able to obtain low cost medical coverage for his family. 

He had the necessary utilities licenses and proved himself rapidly. Just three months later, 
he was promoted to Crew Leader. His new annual salary ($36,108) disqualified his oldest 
child from receiving Medicaid/Medicare coverage. However, the additional funds he 
received were not enough to actually add his family under the city’s health plan. His 
oldest child is eligible for CHIPPRA health coverage through the state of Texas currently, 
but his wife remains uninsured. 

Case Study #4 
2015 New Hire:  

A police officer was hired in November 2015 and quit in December 2015, after just 3 
weeks of employment, all spent in training (at a raw cost of ~$3,000 plus benefits + cost 
of recruitment/ background checks/new hire). Employee claimed he could not financially 
support his family and was shocked at the cost of medical coverage. He stated in his exit 
interview that due to costs, we should post benefits online for potential new employees. 
(His medical costs alone for employee plus family were $8389/annually; total benefits 
costs $9564/annually) With a family of 5 at an annual income of $52,000 - $9500 
premium costs - ~$3000 TMRS = $39,500 before taxes. Benefits premiums (excluding co-
pays, deductibles, and co-insurance) accounted for over 19% of his income. For many 
other lower-paid employees, that % is much higher.  



Case Study #5 

3 

The City of Leander recently hired two new police officers to 
begin work on July 25, 2016. This highly qualified officer 
(master’s degree, many years of PD experience) is relocating 
to Austin, Texas, area and already experiencing the housing 
market sticker shock. He and his family will be living with the 
in-laws while they look for affordable housing. When learning 
of our medical insurance costs for family coverage (about 
$350/per pay period for family coverage), below was his 
response: 

 “Wow, I know it’s expensive, but 
didn’t expect it to be that bad. Sorry, 
we’ll make it work. We’re just used 

to paying about $80 every other pay, 
so this scale is quite a shock…” 

City of Leander 

200 W. Willis 
Leander, TX 78641 

Find us on the Web: 
https://www.leandertx.gov/hr 

Human Resources: 
 Cindy Hignite,  Dir. of Human Resources,  

chignite@leandertx.gov, ext. 2711, 
512.528.2711 

Tina Ritter, Human Resources Manager, 
tritter@leandertx.gov, ext. 2708, 

512.528.2708 





AGENDA ITEM # 16 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Council Agenda Subject:  Resolution Authorizing Amendment to the City of Leander Personnel 
Policy. 

Background: 

Currently the City contributes 30% towards the retiree & their dependents’ premiums. As the 
City strives to improve its contribution amounts for its current and future employees, 
adjustments must be made to the retiree programs now so adequate resources can be 
dedicated to its current workforce. This change would eliminate any City retiree premium 
contributions.  

The changes to the Section 10.05 Insurance of the personnel policy manual will state that 
retirees and their dependents are eligible for the City group medical policy until the employee 
becomes Medicare Eligible. Upon reaching that eligibility, the retiree and dependents are no 
longer eligible for the City’s group medical policy. Also, the City will no longer make any 
premium contributions towards a retiree’s total premium.  

Origination:  Cindy Hignite, HR Director 

Financial Consideration:  Estimated impact:  At this time, there are no retirees. Currently the 
City would contribute 30% to the retirees and their dependents. It is recommended that a 
revision be approved for the City to no longer make any contributions to the premiums. 
Without this change, the costs would include dollars paid by the City for their portion of 
premium contributions, and potential increased medical and pharmacy claims, which will 
impact the City’s Loss Ratio as a whole.  

Recommendation:  Approval 

Attachments:  
-  Resolution 

Prepared by:  Cindy Hignite, HR Director 



Resolution ________________________ 

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE CITY OF LEANDER PERSONNEL POLICY 

WHEREAS, Article 9.03.003 of the Code of Ordinances states that modifications and 
amendments to the City’s personnel policies shall be approved by the City Council by 
resolution, and; 

WHEREAS, the City Manager has recommended certain amendments to the current Personnel 
Policy now in effect, and; 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds these changes to be beneficial. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 
THAT: 

Section 10: The following section in the City of Leander Personnel Policy is hereby amended. 

Article 10.  Benefits 

Section 10.05.  Insurance.  Life, health, and dental insurance are provided to all regular full-
time employees through a group insurance policy.  Life, health, and dental insurance are not 
provided to temporary, seasonal, or part-time employees.  This insurance is provided by the 
City for the employee at no cost to the employee.  At the employee's option and expense, 
dependent insurance coverage is also available.  The City may contribute a percentage of the 
supplemental dependent coverage for health and/or dental insurance as provided for in the 
City’s operating budget.  In addition to any benefits provided by State Law, Retirees may 
continue their health benefits with certain limitations to retirees and their dependents that 
were covered under the health plan at the time of retirement.  

The City will contribute a percentage, not to exceed 30%, to the retiree’s total premium, as 
provided for in the City’s operating budget not supplement the retiree’s total premium. The 
coverage for the retiree and dependents may continue until the retiree reaches Medicare 
eligibility. At that point, the retiree and dependents are no longer eligible for City group 
coverage and may continue coverage through Medicare or through the Consolidated Omnibus 
Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) in accordance with federal and state laws.  Coverage may be 
continued with certain limitations upon termination other than retirement provided the 
premiums are paid entirely by the employee.  These limitations are consistent with the 
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA). 



Section 2.  Effective Immediately. This resolution shall be effective immediately from 
and after its passage. 

Section 3.  Open Meetings.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the 
meeting at which this Resolution is passed was open to the public as required and that public 
notice of the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open 
Meetings Act, Chapt. 551, Tex. Gov't. Code. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 21st day of July, 2016 

Attest: THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 

______________________________  _________________________________ 

Debbie Haile, City Secretary  Christopher Fielder, Mayor 



AGENDA ITEM # 17 

Executive Summary 

July 21, 2016 

Council Agenda Subject:  Water Use and Supply Update 

Background:  As of June 30, 2016, Combined Water Storage in both Lakes Travis and 
Buchanan increased to 1,971,055 (98% Full) compared to 2,038,873 Acre-feet (over 
100% Full) at the end of May.  The Combined Storage on June 30, 2015 was 1,416,960 
Acre-feet.  The attached Table and Graph compare recent water use in June 2016 to June 
2015.   

Origination:  Patrick A. Womack, P.E. Public Works Director 

Financial Consideration:  None 

Recommendation:   None 

Attachments: City of Leander Water Use Table & Graph 

Prepared by:  Patrick A. Womack, P.E. Public Works Director 



2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

M
IL

L
IO

N
S

 O
F

 G
A

L
L

O
N

S
 

DAY 

CITY OF LEANDER WATER USE 

JUNE 2016

JUNE 2015



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.2

(m
ill

io
n

a
c
re

-f
e
e
t)

Lakes Buchanan and Travis
Total Combined Storage Projections

Lakes Buchanan and Travis full at 2.01 million acre-feet (a-f)

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

Jun 2015 Sep 2015 Dec 2015 Mar 2016 Jun 2016 Sep 2016 Dec 2016

V
o

lu
m

e

Note: One acre-foot equals 325,851 gallons.

FUTUREPAST

Date: June 1, 2016

Forecast - Median Conditions (50th percentile)

Forecast - Dry Conditions (90th percentile)

Actual Lake Storage

Forecast - Wet Conditions (25th percentile)

Forecast - Extreme Dry Conditions (99th percentile)

M
a

rc
h

1

J
u

ly
1



0.0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.2

May 2015 Aug 2015 Nov 2015 Feb 2016 May 2016 Aug 2016 Nov 2016

Vo
lu

m
e

(m
illi

on
 a

cr
e-

fe
et

)

Lakes Buchanan and Travis
Total Combined Storage Projections *

Note: One acre-foot equals 325,851 gallons.

Lakes Buchanan and Travis full at 2.01 million acre-feet (a-f)

FUTUREPAST

Date: May 1, 2016

Forecast - Median Conditions (50th percentile)
Forecast - Dry Conditions (90th percentile)

Actual Lake Storage
Forecast - Wet Conditions (25th percentile)

Forecast - Extreme Dry Conditions (99th percentile)

M
ar

ch
1

Ju
ly

1
* Based on results from the draft stochastic model under development to reflect provisions of the  2015 Water Management Plan.

Managed maximum conservation storage is currently 1.96 million acre-feet (a-f)
due to lake level limit of 1018 ft msl for Lake Buchanan


	Agenda
	Item # 5
	Item # 6
	Item # 7
	Item # 8
	Item # 9
	Item # 10
	Item # 11
	Item # 12
	Item # 13
	Item # 14
	Item # 15
	Item # 16
	Item # 17



